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== =< L 425 4+
EE=RR4 IR HESIESR
AEEE Fieth E (k) | HEME (%) F2023%5H31H
+ irOk.Kam‘?”ngi:'m Kampong Cham 183,267 70 & MEITES 549,411,240
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BITIESR ¢ ZiER
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= 13,146 50 =
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Philippines 5,000 50 # 155 @ 24,673,285 4.53 33,075,198 6.07
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BERBMAZ | LRSEHSSRSTIEE 2,880 3 #:
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Al _ T RER=R

MBEIMRFERGLER
#ZE 2023 5 H 31 H - 4 88.85%WARTRM ( ERMK - FARFKAKRGEFTREASEE

; N . N F 2023F5H31H
A ) BAFRFEA (ERWINRER ) - Bt - KRS EBTEFARERSE 723 FHE -

s BRE %
1 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 210,557,965 38.64
2  YANG CLEMENTKC 24,673,285 4.53
3 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE.) LIMITED 22,343,854 4.10
4 MAYBANK SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 22,152,577 4.07
5  SOUTH WORLD INVESTMENTS LIMITED 18,506,621 3.40
6 DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 11,497,585 2.1
7 IFAST FINANCIAL PTE. LTD. 10,970,500 2.01
8 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 8,912,878 1.64
9 UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED 7,613,100 1.40
10 DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 5,482,414 1.01
11 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED 3,276,700 0.60
12 TIGER BROKERS (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. 3,217,600 0.59
13 TANJIN SIANG 2,700,000 0.50
14  HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 1,758,890 0.33
15 LIM & TAN SECURITIES PTE LTD 1,529,200 0.28
16 XU YONGSHENG 1,500,000 0.28
17 LIM HUI MEI OR EDWIN GOMEZ 1,500,000 0.28
18  CGS-CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. 1,488,600 0.27
19 LIJIANSHENG 1,405,200 0.26

20 OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PRIVATE LIMITED 1,324,300 0.24

art 362,398,269 66.54

AEER 2002 £ 12 A 13 BUEEETRE(TDRWANESEREXGMHM LR - 2
i TDR E178(= 22,000,000 f& -

2004 £ 5 5 - EAKRZE7EI TDR 1870 4,382,875 % -2009 4 10 B - AL N7 100,000,000
& TDR WHREEFESRXHMRS -

#HZE 2023 F5 H 31 H  A2F TDR R%THE 205,531,500 K& - IEANTBERKE
37.72% °
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vii)  fhEHEERIBERERFIE

FEERZERBRAEASHAER At - 2EEERAERERAERESHRERE - BRERFEER
SERERLNEERRETPECLGAESEEARLURENEE  MBEZERUMRMBLUER T ERPALER
SATHFIZE - B - IBEERAERR T AEE WASN NEE - ERAYUSENNRAREHEETR
2 DRBEEFERNGREER  BEETHE - AEEERYHSINEE (flNHSHNEX ) THRRETRELE
REHENGE (AINAEENBIERTS ) RESIEBEERFE -

AEER 2022 F 12 B 31 BWHERESE%5$3,910,000 55T ( 2021:$6,779,000 =7t ) - FH2REMEE 29

4. IR R AR
(BfI: X£T7T)

2022 2021
BERE
- &8 1,000,000,000 A% - A $0.05 =T 50,000 50,000
HURRA
1R1HKI12 B31 H
- EIEK 549,411,240 K& - §K$0.05 =T 27471 27471

ANEEBTEBER - TEREBRIK $0.05 ETRT - BRYUF-—RRAE - BERANTEEFELRFTTRER
B RRUZBHBARSRAZEF -
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4. BARERER (&) 5. RENE - BERR
(BfI: E=&Fm)
R
HhegaR e
2022 2021 KEE BEMBHEER  HtiRe WARE HEMR EHRE HRIE a5t
i 80T I E&TT BRETR Ex v
A
181 Q 3,000 2,112 - - 2021 £1 A1 H 24,304 38,267 3,100 4418 1,337 - 71,426
S AR B 1#5% 221 2,700 427 236 277 10,233 14,004
- 1,500,000 % - =P&$0.166 =5t B9 _ (513) (5) _ (36) _ (554)
- 3,000,000 #& - =/%$0.704 =T 1,500 249 3,000 2,112 BEHHE 502 (20) (500) 18 - - -
12831H 4,500 2,361 3,000 2,112 RETHEER 212 46 (9) 18 20 - 287
2021 % 128 31BE
2022 1 A1 H 25,239 40,480 3,013 4,690 1,598 10,233 85,253
5. RERERFE XM 185 132 6,549 187 91 332 10,814 18,105
B9 (51) (3,819) (44) - (29) - (3,943)
a) RERER ENE 13,207 5,295 30 134 57 (18,723) -
POE (o17) 511) (661) (44) (34) = (@227
BRHACIAEEE IS ERAKWHIRRR -
FEBHESARMARERR S RMBHLRER e e 2022412 H31 B 37,550 47,994 2,525 4,871 1,924 2,324 97,188
(BfI:E8FmT)
REtrEE:
AEH 2021 £1 A1 H 12,791 30,796 1,669 4,010 661 49,927
2022 2021 HBEERSI S 1,279 1,770 284 38 196 - 3,567
BD (25) (478) (5) - (32) - (540)
REBREAEE : REHEEY (41) (39) 120 145 4 - 189
AAD] 53,332 68,230 2021 % 128 31HE
FRE 67,092 84,061 2022 #£1 A1 B 14,004 32,049 2,068 4,193 829 - 53,143
EEFRIVITE 836 1,593 401 148 199 - 3,177
120,424 152,291 B9 (51) (3,819) (44) - (14) - (3,928)
BHE 299 (299) - - - - -
mEREY (338) (300) (365) (25) (22) - (1,050)
b) ERMEEEY 2022 £12 H31 B 14,750 29,224 2,060 4,316 992 - 51,342
2REREFAEYHALTHREEINFLAIRMBAT M RE (HINAESRERERZ INAEUERAR) & IREE(E:
IS AL ZIREER - 2021 £12 B31 H 11,235 8,431 945 497 769 10,233 32,110
(Bf: E=EFw) 2022412 H31 B 22,800 18,770 465 555 932 2,324 45,846
AEE
2022 2021
181H 2,397 3,232
B2 ERIEM B R RRE I EY (3,132) (835)
128318 (735) 2,397

o) Hfth¥EfE
ARER2014FHTHRURG FRIEEABROBIRATMTOMIFETIRE - ISRABBFEEZA
nEERS  DINBEERERERR F ZEMERFRE -
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5. XBE- - BEKRRE (#)

EET G

ANE 2022 12 A 31 BEAEE - MERRBET TRENS - ARSREFENENS - BEEEEN
NYWEEREGRECERREERI ZAETFPBMBRERS RSN - AEEEAEEMERE - UTR

REENEERENAEETSEEENGIEME

WA RE
HinERE
AR R

*DUETE I AR IRIT S - Bt DR RO LR R -

AR EEREENEZRR

EERELSFDE  BMEARBETIEIDZMEANRESRERINEZRROT

a) FEHBEERN

2022

3.0% - 8.0%
1.0% - 3.0%
9.6% — 18.2%

RSB ENRKIBEEEERERRE  BSEERABERRRMMRER - WRMR B BEARMERNE

mgE& -
b) WARREER
BRPWARRRGREEEREHHNREETEURMZ FIIRRERME -

o HimgRE

RRA MR R GIKIBORRNERNE  BABRRRESELBMEMER I RIITIOERE -

d) MAETEE

MATREGREEEREENSIREETEVRRZEE - WREEREIGEERYUBRRRKRESRZER -

ERESERESEEEMITRERE  GRRESEEEURERRAE  UWESMETIOERRAE (WACC) Fr
S - WACC BN EERBEREEME  BEZHAGERZREEHREZFPEHN - MREZMARGE

BEAEEBEEZMNSERRE - ReELEMRERBARAENbetal FMAA - It
ZHIBERHEMS -

BRER o 2 QU AT

betal 7 ikig S F AR

WMRBWA R EMEIGIERETERRAITIRREME TR - BRI REARESRET 2 -

WARRE
HinERE
AR R
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2022

0% —7.0%
0% - 0.7%
10.4% — 19.0%

2022 Annual Report

6. TEE  BERRE (E)
(Bf1:E2Fm)
ART HaRaR A
BENMRHIER WA HEMR H#EIE ait

2%
2021 %1818 2,457 3,484 10 50 - 6,001
b 1 54 — — 100 155
2021% 128 31BHK 2,458 3,538 10 50 100 6,156
2022 1B 1H
b - 28 14 25 34 101
5% - - 134 - (134) -
2022 £12 A31 H 2,458 3,566 158 75 - 6,257
REtrEE: _
2021 £#1 A1 H 2,450 3,444 7 50 5,951
BEERSI I

FERIIZIF . s ) B ) ”
2021 £ 128 31HR
2022 % 1818 2,454 3,459 9 50 - 5,972
EEERIZITE 4 40 43 4 91
2022 £12 B31 H 2,458 3,499 52 54 - 6,063
IREEE:
2021 £12 A31 H 4 79 1 - 100 184
2022 £12 A31 H - 67 106 21 - 194

it

EREE

#HE 2022124310 - tREEES $4,900,0005= 73 ( 20214 : $5,500,00057T ) Z A BE - BB K&H AU

EHRERIB - e

EATHE - BEREE

518 -

2022%F - AEEDI$180,000= % HE T AIREER$15,000= T ABE - BEMRE - Wik5$165,000E7TH

EANERESERPEM

WAET (%2

BMIEE20 ) -
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7. RBRERREHE 8. HHEE
(BfI:Z2FmT)
(EBfr:%=2F7w) *EHE
KeEE 2022 2021
2022 2021 A
1A1H 9,652 7,828
B R 1,674 2,280
1818 R 12 A31 H 5,465 5,465 it - (17
B (793) (439)
RETIE : 12 A31 H 10,533 9,652
1H1H 2,737 2,626
EEERSTE 111 111
12 A31 H 2,848 2,737 RO:
1A1H 5,200 3,470
12 B 31 BFRAEE 2,617 2,728 EEEHHEEN 1,988 2,136
i - (17)
=% (771) (389)
Bk
FEWA (M 29) 613 613 128331 H 6,417 5,200
e
REWRBE (M 24) (1) (111 12 B 31 BFIEEREE 4,116 4,452
ERREE (12) (12)
HIERIBLE 9) (9)
MERER (11) (13)
fRIR (3) 4)
9. REFAT
467 464
REFAEER
(BfI:Z2FmT)
AEBBREMAEEMNIEEFENoO. 7 corners of Argonaut Highway, Efficiency Avenue and Duty street, ARTF)
within Subic Bay Gateway Park, Subic Bay Freeport Zone, Olongapo City, Zambales - U BEEE R BH 2022 2021
RAEZERYRENRY) - AEEREUADELRER ZRG - TREZNZHEE  BEAYRE - BEANES REMBRE - UBRAAR 28,369 28,369
BEEREE - BHEEBER (17) (16)
28,352 28,353

REUTEEE

HE2022FM2021F124310 - RAMABEGUARRIRRFITER R RIERE - AEEZREUREE
HEEARYRERERERBUGEMNEEAMHEE - AAFERTNEABIBNFBEERMBREM T
33-

REAUARBEZBARBEEGUKEETE - WS ZGHEEMEESRBNARNEEBRBENMERE - R
BHEBEER - 2022FKEEPHERANL123% (202145 : 9.9% ) ITRERK "FAPNRRKNE" FHERERNE
ERE  SREEEEAEN - 8E2022F12831H - REREUFHENESNHERR - HAnBEER
$3,774,000%7T (2021:$4,285,000%7T) - WEEAAEEGESHRNE  ZAREEGCBE=SK (HARE
EHEREEERENRERAKEGTEHABRHRINOMERIM ) -
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9. REFRT(M)

9. REFAS (&
RETAS () (@) AEE#HZE12 A3l BAFAZFAERMANT -

(@) AEE#HZEI12 831 BRFBZFASRPANT :

Bl R &%
BT R FREERE TEEEED ZFRTEH AT ZEREEE AABRERE
FATEE TEEEED ZFRTEH AT ZHEREEE ARERERE 2022 2021 2022 2021
2022 2021 2022 2021 % % E2Fn EF2Tn
% % Eaw EEFT
ENTEERE BBFATMERS
Universal Weavers T staE 1000 1000 5.8630 5 8630 MNERERASEE EERHES SR REME hE NRHAME 100.0 100.0 - -
) ’ ’ PRASI(EM) © B EEM
Corporation (UWC) (@
MR BAIR HERHEHHR PEARLME 51.10 51.10 - -
Contex Corporation HERBERHEAR - BA FERE 98.89) 98.89) 1,854 1,854 AT 0
o Eéiﬁiﬁ* T WEBEGEERE  EERNEHER PEARMAE 1000 100.0 - -
T [RASO
EEETBRHBIRAT  B3E - B - HEREEE = 100.00 100.0M 7,5690) 7,5690) Resilient Medical Pte.  4ERMHEERE A EEE R N 66.70) 70.6(M - -
MTQ)® FREN R IR (BRI MR AR S Ltd. RMPL)© BERizER
RMKH Glove Pte. Ltd.  AERHEE AR EEHR K 66.70) 70.60) - -
Medtex Corporation @) 253& & S5E 8 4L 417 RAIT FERE 100.0 100.0 4740 4740 (RMKH Glove) @ BECRESD
REAM AR E @
RMKH Glove FEEERHE RIEEE 66.7() 70.60) - -
Medtecs (Cambodia) BUSBEREM RIRB RS RIFE 100.0 100.0 2,0380 2,0380 (Cambodia) Co., Ltd.
Corporation Limited (RMKH Cambodia) ©
(MCCL)©
Medtecs (Asia Pacific)  §5845 SETR R EME 4 % 100.0 100.0 1,24100 1,24100 MNEHBRENRARY #HE@ERR - BEREN hE ANRHAME 100.0@) 100.0@ - -
Pte. Ltd. (MAP) @ SHEER BI(EMRH) © —RUBHEAR
28,352 28,353
Medtecs Materials 4E - HEREEHEEN JERE 100.0 100.0 2,021 2,021 -_—
Technology Corporation ' £t 51425 = 4544 5057 5 @  ESycip, Gorres, Velayo & Co. (Ernst & Young Globalpt 8)&# -
(MMTC) @ RAIERERRIRHER ® HRXSMBER -
FEARAREE (© EEmst & Young (Cambodia) Ltd& 1% °
@ FEIEmst & Young LLP, Singapore&1% °
Medtecs MSEZ Corp.,  4EA#H RAGHER ESGES 100.0 O 100.0 O 3,370 3,370 © HEMEHERRE -
Ltd. (MMSEZ) © o R N
o EEAMRINBERATEEEET -
Medtecs USA B R FEE A ERE R Es) 100.0 ™ 100.0 ™ 100 100 @ HOREGHIVBERERE HEEELANAEWRABIEZ1.2% -
Corporation BRREER o EDREGEVERREGE  BERFARLAKNARKKRARBEEZ7.6% - Wik2014 FHAQTES -
Medtecs (Far Eas) AMGRREEFEREy BSREGHE 1000 1000 r ; 0 EOREGEIBRRSE  BERFARLAKNARUIRAME248.9%
Limited © zﬁg;y':' - N ’ ’ [0} @%%ﬁéﬂ%@ﬁE;ZLX#E%Q%U%I%EE% . ?ﬁ%%ﬁf@ﬁ?&ﬁZﬁ%ﬂD .
PRI RR 0 BEEFASREIRFTRSIEIERIEE%$16,000%7T
Cooper Development AT RAREER 100.0 100.0 3,8220 3,8220 o 2020FEAATESEHALMITE M AS3,370,0005THEEIKE MMSEZ (BI85 MTC NEBETFAT ) WFER

Limited (¢
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s

9

2020F A I1#T F/2E] - Medtecs USA Corporation - #& M A %$100,0007T - 1472 FASI100% KA -

MAP i 2021415188 AMIIRMPL - EAEEE - £=HATEMAPET & B WE - MUBRMPLIGE - #F 20224
12831H - MAPHE & 75 T IAE AN 4888 & 51 $9,000,00035 75 ( 20214 : $8,500,000% 75T ) - 435l $6,000,000% 75 &
$3,000,000% 7T ( 20214 : 4 BI%$6,000,000% 75 % $2,500,000%7T ) - HH RAEGKHDHEHRE - HISHBALAL
REWRALEEEZ33.3% (20214 :294%) -

RMPL 52202143816 HMIIRMKH Glove - A2 & F AT - WK A#EE%$2,000,000%7T

RMKH Glove 5 20215128 1HAIIRMKH Glove Cambodia - %2 & F /A5 - B A#AZE4$2,500,000%7T -
MMEHERAEA 2021108148 R IIMMNZHBEBEREARAS A2 EFAT BKR AR AR $500,000
fol

RE=EC 2 URSIGITRISER -
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8. HETFAT (M) 9. BRATFAT (M)
(b) BEAIFFEHESZFAT®E (d) HiBHE
DYRRFRIS AR BE5RE O 2 SR AT 2022 € 12 B 31 BEFATREET THENS - RS REGEIENS - REEEBUNTNE
2022 2021 2022 2021 SEARBCEERERR Y IEAENEMBRERSHER - HELERAREmNEE - UFRRIER
% % £2F% £2F% 8 Tt e e o e 52 5 T
EBREHAEEESEEENAEE
JizdiS) 48.9% 48.9% 367 367
RMPL REFRF) 33.3% 29.4% 2,214 2,401 e ESCES hE
AR RE 3.0% 5.0% 8.0%
(0 BEARHRRYFAIREZMBRE AL IS R 3.0% 5.0% 2.3%
TRATIFIRER 11.4% — 14.4% 12.2% — 18.2% 11.1%
BT BRI 0FASDNMBRESRIESFRS (1) SH6 - DRBERSHASEEBRNAEERH
EERETTIEY - ARt EEREENTEBSR
AEREREE EREESH T AREE TSR ANRS R E BN ERENT

(Bf:=2F7T)
e) EHBEEERN

KiE RMPL REFAH
2022 2021 2022 2021 FPHEEFGKEETERENEESR B2EECANBERESMEE - WRRRES BEANRMENRA
FERBEE - - 22,218 12,496 migR -
MENEE 750 750 3,335 10,048
WARER
SErEIaE - - @211) (2.642) f BAREE
RENEE - - (14,692) (11,736) AR EE RIS ER B YIRS EE SR Y PR E =M -
BEE 750 750 6,650 8,166
pe g 0) KiFHEE
RERIFEFIER 2 BEE 367 367 2,214 2,401 BT

agmse RREIMIERRGIKIBORRNERNE  BABRRRESELBMEMER I RIITIOERE -
GEREREE

(Bfr: =£T7T) h) METRRE

B RMPL REF A5 BETAE G REERREYNEFADREARZE - IAEERETEEBRRRRRAA SR LIEE -
s L S EREETATREZIRER -GS T AEREMIETHE 1 E BT RAAE( WACC )3 -
SEEEE  DES (8) ¥REF WACC B EERERMMAL - RRAFGRAZRESHRE 7 BNEN - TREASNGRAERHEE
p— - (716) (2,016) (335) BEZHRERAE - HFATREFERRURDERbetBF AN - libetaB T KBS EAM 2 HHEN
e TS -
BB NCI A (1) 28 - (350) (671) (8)
S RS T QAT
(Bfi: £2F7)
BRSBTS SRR TERBRIRAITRERES - HINNS TS TSNEELH -
BiE RMPL RELFAT
2022 2021 2022 2021 FEE ESGES PE
BREE - - (834) 11,680 WAR R 0% 0% — 1% 5.3%
REEE - - (8,458) (10,133) HinERE 0% 0% —0.9% 0%
ST _ _ 50 8,500 AR 11.4% - 14.4% 12.9% — 19.0% 11.5%
REROERSHM (HD) B - - (0.242) 10,047
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10. ™% (#)
10. BHE
(Bt 2eFR) o) HAIIIRAE
KrEE - N o B
2022 2021 MAMRRGRESEEEHNSREELEURR A - EREERETAEEBNRARRESFEZIER -
EREREREEEEMZINRER AIRSEEEMRERNFE  UESMEFEIERMA (WACC) i
181HKR12 B31 H 709 709

B - WACC AREERBERESENA  BREZAAGEERZREZHREZRBHRM - MABEZMARRGE
EBEEBREZNRERAAE - REELSEMWHERBRARAESIbeta@FMMA - tibetal FHIKIBESF AR
ZMSERFHEMS -

HEXEHAEEZHEZENBETINZIREELREM - (FRMBARZER

(Bf:=2F7T)
BRER o 2 QU AT

2022 2021
B 198 198 wisHPT
BB P AR 75 P 511 511
P -0 700 BRI EEALRE S ERA T RRERARATRERES - SHIARS LTS RETLE -
2022 2021
B S AR ER 7.0% - 9.0% 5.6%
HInig R 0.7% 1.7%
BeEt BN YRR AEUCEERERE Y AFSRSTREIAER SERBEERRTRELTBY N 10.8% 13.2%
PEMEEE ZBREER L KT AERBRIEIREEESEU OO SEE
AR RE IR R MATITIRER e
% % % L e
2022
e g 70100 10 06 BRUAREENLHEEE MR TERERIRATRERES - IR BETSNEESE -
BB M AR 75 BT 7.0-10.0 1.0 9.6
2022 2021
2021
BUEEIPY 8.0 8.0 12.2
B AR5 2P 8.0 8.0 8.3 WAREE 6.6% - 8.6% 4.2%
I R R 0% 3.5%
RATIT IR 12.2% 9.2%
ARG EERBEZEIERR
MBS REEE THERRNH B YRR SRR EARR - 11 EKFASER

(B : =2F7T)
a) MEEHEERN

£43
B EEA RS EEREORESE B2 EEONBRRENAEE TR B BEAREIRH 2022 2021
THEE - BT ATIER (25) 2795 8,917
BT ASIER (F25) 14.130 11601
b) WAMEE 16,925 20,518

TRERULA A S SR AR TR B ST AR BB T R B T A St -
O HIEmEE HFATZMUER (X5 ) GRBR - %8 - BROEABRA -

HFRNEZEUIRR (FRS ) BATE RMPL RREHEBZREE ZFANMIA - BEFEGRIER - LEF
RRA MR R GIKIBORRNERNE  BABRRRESELBMEMER I RIITIOERE - RT%E - BERAOERBN -

d) HESBEERR

TENRERFEEE  BAEEETEERENEA  ReELEEUEHRBEFHFIHESAREL -
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12. HftERaEE 12. #&8
(Bf1:=%F7T) (Bf1:=%FT)
KEE KR KEE KRE
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
SREREEH 3,361 1843 - - mz?;; .
R EES RS 3000 ” C B agﬁa 2,510 1,129 2,190 -
we 1,121 610 92 93 E;” .: 2;'352 zg'i’;i - 1;
GHRES 557 712 - - e o ' ’ -
i 578 622 20 20 MR REHER 972 2,679 - 1
HAR 18,536 18,001 3,027 2,365
8,617 3,787 112 113
52,141 53,821 5217 2,390
BHERERE BEIREE
ERES 2,424 1,129 1,445 -
AEECEERENME FRHANERURADEBEGSFMBENANEBERER - R 21,545 25,150 - 12
RS 777 5512 - 12
AEEEE—EBATRANBEGEEEHZE T AEMGSER  HAERNENEEEEN & EEERHEN MK EREHER 961 2,613 - 1
RE - HAR 10,687 15,256 1,859 2,365
D 36,394 49,660 3,304 2,390
AP EIREENE 36,394 49,660 3,304 2,390
EVBEEIRR - AEERE$3,000,000 ETHRBERFAR LHERES  2HER3FE  FIXRB55% - &
EMEER A EERESNRE  BRBZEEINBANBREHTSES  HENRE  HARNEEREIE . _ _
BROME 3 BEFNE - HAEAELEWMEE33 - AEBENR2022EEREBRIINEEMA%$32,316,00057T( 20214 : $64,269,000%= 7T ) ( HLRAMEE24 ) -
FERIBIEBRRBIERERLFSIREERE FEREBEREREHERAOT
i (Bf1: £6TT)
HEHEERENARSEEEREZREES  BESHPBERSERAAER - AEE VNG|
2022 2021 2022 2021
FHRES
1818 4,161 3,002 - -
EEEER 11,748 3,000 1,913 -
GHRESGOSEEREFREZRES FRAERESHIHRARERBENERE UTRESHHEEREEE- st (158) (1,841) _ _
BREER 4 - - -
HitGESWAEER REMRIRE - @
128318 15,747 4,161 1,913 -

AR EIKMS HEARERENOEHNFHERE COVID-19 BREERFBERSBEI TR  SHEFERATRE
HgZREE  AEENKAATRN 2022 FHRIRSIGEEERE%R$11,748,000 =7t#$1,913,000 7T - b5 -
REMEEF$101,000 ETZBHMBBEFHEEFRER (2021 F :$0=7T) -
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12,  FEUTIRRR _
(Efl: X2F) 13, HitmBEE
(Bf1:=£F7T)
AEE ARE
2022 2021 2022 2021 rEE EYNG
FEIRRR 2022 2021 2022 2021
B 31,473 38,896 28,608 25,785 B 2018 6.195 1027 2,031
BIRHE 2,253 2,232 - - SEINET 846 1,420 568 762
S5 R A 426 1,454 - - STy 165 o2 8 23
34,152 42,582 28,608 25,785 WA 944 970 - -
BTSRRIk (3,794) (235) (2,738) - HitiRiEs 107 414 107 8
e 1,376 4,061 801 3,998
FEWIRAREE 30,358 42,347 25,870 25,785 W EBIETERS Aiak (254) (50) (254) (50)
mn:ReRAERE REHEFR(EE
16) 35,281 58,290 3,366 15,711 6,102 13,072 2277 7,672
EftREIE A 15) 6,102 13,072 2277 7,672
PEUTIEER- PR\ (132 11) - . 16,925 20,518 A R R S R R R — NPT RS ) - 20226 - B BRI RN RIS FoAKE - &
EfIERBEEME 12) 8,617 3,787 112 113 SN o o o
W AR 15) (846) (1,420) (568) (762) EEEEPH$1,500,000E T2 BNER (20214 : $0%7T ) -
FEULRR AR (P EE 15) (944) (970) - -
BNERBRAME 15) (2,664) (6,145) (773 (2:881) L1t R 4 O S0 R LAt LS B e A BROE
SRERREIEE 12) (3,361) (1,843) - -
BEREHIFBES(NEE 12) (1,678) (1,322) (92) (93) i . Y
S (HIEE 12) (578) (622) (20) 20) HithREBE S EETEE 12 EARKEZ TEFRES ROBRERES
REBEERAY SREESH 70,287 105,174 47,097 66,043 HE12 A 31 Hib - DOMSEHAZ AthRBAESIRAOT -

BUIERGBRS - BEER 1 £4 ER2H - REQREBEME - BMURBRSEERS -

HE 12 A31 B1E - DUMESHEZ BUIRRSIRA T -

rEE ARE
2022 2021 2022 2021
JERBERR 339 576 - -
AR 51 263 - -
e 2,333 1,930 - -
FERRfEFRIIBIER( "ECLs" )
F BBt ERIIRRER TR EARBBLREEE AT
(Bf1:%=£F7T)
KEE AAT
2022 2021 2022 2021
1818 235 220 - -
EFEEEMA 3,591 19 2,738 -
sk} (23) _ _ _
REER 9) ) - -
128331H 3,794 235 2,738 -

£ 2022 F - REBNA QT BIGERSIF A EME%$3,591,000 £575/1$2,738,000 =7t - HbE=E

HBUGRIEARBEE BT E S PUWREE N 2 BIRRX -
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A% AAT
2022 2021 2022 2021
AR 1,248 274 - -
FEREWR 303 599 38 333
HaH 709 1,734 - -
AN s 9 314 - -
14. RERVNERSRIZBBEERAGEZSUEE
(EfI:%=2Fm)
AEE AT
2022 2021 2022 2021
BEERS 2,815 43 2,771 1
RIFER 9,262 48,972 595 15,710
EEER 23,204 9,275 - -
35,281 58,290 3,366 15,711
o BER AR 3EBARLE 1 EMUA
ZERBHERAEEZEMEE
(B2EBERZER) (17,159) (9,275) - -
18,122 49,015 3,366 15,711

REERARSRTHFHERBROTEHZBAEAEFS -
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16. BRERNERESRZBHERFIEEZSHNEE (F)

REEWRBHERAGE 2 SRIEEMRTEH$833,0003%7T ( 20214 : $777,000%7T ) - BR|ERIBTER
BRERGHERBEZERR - WERBHENAEEZSHEERNBLARITREBIEE - ##E 2022 F
12 A 31 B - AEEREREREHRERTER$53,000,000%7T - ELEEFGUEEREEERAHELE -
HERED1.75% - 5.25% (2021 #:0.08% - 3.6%) °

HE12 31 HIE - PUMESHRE ZIRERNERSIIRMT ¢

TEH ARE
2022 2021 2022 2021
FREERR 4,866 3,485 43 44
e 3,451 3,351 2,770 -
HNR S 683 15,444 134 7,124
AR 685 692 - -
BRT 7 52 1 52

REEMAR DU EHERPEESIFSUAS BIZ$453,0005 75 ( 20214 : $33,000%7T ) F1$26,0005=7T
(2021 : $4,000%7T ) -

17. BMRREEMRESRE

AEH AAT
2022 2021 2022 2021

FERTIE R 1,815 4,572 199 600
HitnmEars .

E e 2,660 1,427 553 857

1,972 1,766 24 25

MRS REMRBEESE 6,447 7,765 776 1,482

m:AEaE (N5 29) 3,910 6,779 316 476

REAER (MEE 18) 15,643 9,306 - -

N AT R R (191) (1,156) (19) (163)

BIEERAZERBESE 25,809 22,694 1,073 1,795

BAIRRGRIEE 28 - BR—FAXN -

HittE N REEENBASERENE SEMRIE -

#HE12 A31 HLE - PUMESHREZ BN IRRREMRE R EIIRAT

A%E LG

2022 2021 2022 2021
e 1,178 2,341 - -
AE# 1,515 1,034 - -
FRERE 1,065 1372 78 357
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18.  KEHEAfERR
(BfI: X=2F7T)

KEE
g
BARFIR(E) Bl 2022 2021
MEBER
- EIER 2.04% 2023 978 3,889
- EBfR 1.80% 2023 14,665 5,417
SR RIS RRER 15,643 9,306

REDH ~ BB KRR B 7 IR E B % Bl % $4,900,000375/1$833,00055 75( 20214 : 43 54$5,500,000
J5H1$777,000% 70 ) ( A2 EMEE6TI16 ) - (EARER ZIEIREIAE S BIR 258314, 6650005570 ( 20214
$5,417,000%73 ) -

RPERGEAEEZERESRNEE  BEANRME  EURBIRA2E6ER - MRS - XEEE
120233 B R HAEEAREE$15,000,000= T ZRITER -

RESEBRH ZRBERHRIRAOT :

JES (L
2021% 12831 H
/2022% 1818 FRe&EmR= Hith 2022 % 12H31H
REER 9,306 6,337 - 15,643
HERE 6,779 (5,855) 2,986 3,910
FEETFIR 19 (423) 404 -
st 16,104 59 3,390 19,553
FFIRSEIE
2020 12 B31H
/2021 F1HB1H FR&ERE Hith 2021 % 12H31H
REER
- RE 1,250 (1,250) - -
- JERE 228 (228) - -
FRHERfE R 31,603 (22,297) - 9,306
HESE 3,544 (849) 4,084 6,779
FEET RIS 24 (408) 403 19
st 36,649 (25,032) 4,487 16,104
"Ht BIEIERE 2 REPETMERELBMES B RS A ENIIE KRR -
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19.  EEWA
18. EHftgA—FE
WA RS (EBfiI: ££F7T)
(Ef : ££F7T) . £AT)
FEE mis BERE EHRE et 2022 2021 2022 2021
SNSRI (B 5K) 830 25 (159) 42
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 ESTON 213 46 601 _
T E S BAMmEEE) 165 58 (430) 461
ip2 9610 37,642 - - - - 9610 37642 LN e 630 698 - -
TRIE 11,513 50,233 14312 14,971 6251 11,247 32,076 76451 E"ﬁ@%ﬂﬁg I 8 - 78 -
B 14343 30062 - - - - 14343 30062 SIRA-ERARARLS 42 704 3 704
S 214 - - - - - 214 - Rt 503 233 28 2
35680 117937 14312 14971 6251 11,247 56243 144,155 2,461 1,764 121 1,233
BHWA U N -
S A 35680  117.937 B B B _ 35680 117937 HitOS @2 - BRE  SEES  BEWANMEMEBEZERA -
BRI ARFS UL A - - 14312 14971 - - 14312 14971 s BTEA
S5 REHIIA - - - - 6251 11247 6,251 11,247 - Rl (B 2T
35680 117937 14312 14971 6251 11247 56243 144,155 FISETTT
KEE AT
2022 2021 2022 2021
BB ERNRE ABEFA
HoES R e
REERMLES 35680 117,937 - - 5638 10634 41318 128571 Ziiﬁu%@u&ﬁm JR— e I e o
BEES RS IE S 2 5) - - 14312 14971 613 613 14925 15584 AERRRATRIACEIRARE : .
35680 117937 14312 14971 6251 11247 56243 144155 26,805 32,701 4,237 3,562
HZE2022F 12831 BAH REMEFFITH Contex Corporation BESHSWASEE%R$612,501E5T (20214 : ANSBROSESEMS  EH2BWE 280) -
$612,5012£7%) - 2 RMEE29 -
(EBfI: £2F7T)
BE 2022 4 12 A 31 B, REEEMEMFESESHOKALSEBBUAL 36% (2021 £:30%) « KEE AAT
2022 2021 2022 2021
ANDEEZEHWABSWT : AEER
(EfI:=2F7T) HEHA 17,282 24,851 29 67
EEER 7,188 6,305 3,292 3,072
i HEER 2,335 1,545 916 423
g 2022 2021
= 26,805 32,701 4,237 3,562
EE IS
b= 7,329 17,714 Hi8 TEAES MTC ZREREE - QS TRASISEIE 2005 £ 7 B 1 BT - WREERRE -
LAME 3,273 51,286 Tt ETREEER TSHESE, ARZERSEE - BPRIEAZBRS 5T REERAZEG 2
S 214 - TFER - $EAZEAZET  AATSALEZETERSERE  AEEREBIESRAFEES 2 -
10,816 69,000
BHWA BRSEE
B 10,816 69,000
ST—— ERSHEERRASHEEERFEEIXERAZET - BN GEERA—BRFHENEELALRES
::E) 73 HY 03 [6)] el o e N Ny SE o e .
AR5 10,816 60,000 EEHE - BEREWEREBEY  MREERE ZIEF$EA SFRS() 1-19 ZHEESAER

BRI ZEREME - SEEE Republic Act 7641 & Retirement Pay Law - 58838 R EM 3% 2 B IKEF)
AOPOERREZAIRT - BRARRT AR ERAESE - BREBWGEN ZER - MZALRRERIERE
REBZEME -
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21. BIEN(4)

HE 2022F12A31H 2 EBARE T EISM VB IBETM - BIEEEIMK SFRS(1) 1-19 WA EMBEM
FEMRE -

EREFNERRIIRBEERERN TR

A%E ARE

2022 2021 2022 2021
HIBRE A 74 % 18 23
Bl=¥a%:N 49 41 11 10
BNEERER 123 136 29 33

HE 20227 FEERANTDERERIFE TR ZEFHRASEED AR $811,000%7T ( 20214%F:

$1,075,000%7% ) & $167,0003%7T( 20214: $240,0003%7T ) - AEE SR EBNERBBMIRBRE S 2518 -

REBZREBNEBREZINOT :
(B : =2F7T)

RRBZESRAEAE

KEE A AT

2022 2021 2022 2021
1818 1,075 1,221 240 276
EHRBEMA 74 95 18 23
FEMA 49 41 1 10
S ZEF (35) (28) (29) (15)
mEREY (89) (60) (17) (16)
BEEFRTE (263) (194) (56) (38)
125318 811 1,075 167 240
HE 12 B3l HIEERESEBANZFEBEERRES

KEE P /NS
2022 2021 2022 2021

WIRE 7.02% — 7.10% 4.91% — 4.98% 7.10% 4.98%
HFEMREE 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%

BREEELBEB/EMOT:
(Bf:=2F7T)

AEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
FEBRZREENEE 811 1,075 1,221 927 585
HEAERERREE Y BEY (233) (221) 267 133 (150)
HEaECREE (30) 27 (119) 110 (26)
NG|
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
FEBRYREENEE 167 240 276 225 133
AEEERERRETH ZREY (55) (45) 42 53 (33)
AIEEEERRE - 7 (29) 17 (30)
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21. EBI#M (%)
2022 £12 B 31 HEABRESHREINMOT :

EERNEBTEY

KEE P /NS
B (R ) B (D)
(56 BUERE E5 EZ&Fw
FIRE +0.5% (45) (11)
0.5% 41 11
RIRFFEIL +2% 209 49
2% (161) (38)

M EHRMDITEARBREBEERAMREBR GBS HOENEEBNBEBE ZEE - RN EREHR
BRIEE - ARREPAARMRRAE - SRS T IEANREERMNEBNEREE - ARRRNELR
AR EIBI A -

HE 2022412 B 31 Bt - RARKEREEEMNGERBOT :
(BfI: =£T7T)

REHE KATF

KK 12 BRAA (REEZREBHE) 37 -
—FMUEERF 101 29
AFEMUEE+F 631 64
TEMEETRSF 1,604 368
THEMEE"+F 1,636 510
THEME 3,674 1,337

7,683 2,308

RUBREPRERE 2 FIOEERFFEIRBHBS 185 F(2021 F : 19 F) -

20, EBBA
(Ef: E2F7T)
KEE AT
2022 2021 2022 2021

FIBIBA:

- EHER 453 33 26 4

- mEEESRE 165 - -

- MR RARE 2 - 2 _

- BBA - - 765 112
TR RIS BB B IR 263 - - -
MHBWAEE 905 33 815 116
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21. BBER
(BfI: E$F7T)
REE AAF
2022 2021 2022 2021

MNEEMA

- EFERABAER 423 398 208 10

- HEEE (WEE29) 396 455 36 33
=iulup 27 #N 132 38 4 3
MIBERSS 951 891 248 46
HithFHRAES  ROTERFEE BSHAE - WHRREMABRAMAAK -
22. RATER (1)
RADEF (18 ) HBETIIEE :

(BfI: E&Fm)
AEE AAE
2022 2021 2022 2021

HERA R RHE
HERA 20,568 61,269 5,111 41,665
BIEGFERBIEL (M 13) 11,748 3,000 1,913 -
ASBER (W21

- B 16,188 23,729 14 39

- BARSER 94 117 13 25

- HithETEF) 1,000 1,005 2 3
FEER

- RBE - BERRZE (WE6) 1,868 2,239 - 1

- REMABE (MW7) 111 111 -

- HHEEEH (WEE8) 1,988 2,136 - -

- EREEEMY (MIFE29) 125 78 2 2
SXMEEER (MFE29) 219 401 - -
HEER
ASBER (W21

- B 2,206 1,435 907 418

- BARSER 7 4 4 1

- HithETEF) 122 106 5 5
BE 5,916 6,457 4,181 2,738
BEER 2,123 1,444 2,123 1,444
] 192 644 191 572
Ee ] 124 558 - -
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24, WALER (H]) (&)

EEER
AFER (W21
- HE
- WEERFIE R E th8 R 5 A
BERIEREL (M 14/15)
HEER
- REE - MERRE (MEE6)
- EREEEERE (M 29)
EXREEEM (MW 29)
wEaT IR
- EEEEED
- FATIEERD
FREET RS
- EEEEED
- FATIEE AT
NEREE
HXEAR
- KATEM™
- EREEE
- HitEERAREER

23. FRSWEAMNIE/(ER)

a) FERBERZ EZERIRE

2022 Annual Report

HE12 A 31 AAIEHRNE (2R ) 2XZ2ZAMBENT :

EHFRERER
IEREFRSIRE A:
HEER

PS4 & A (118)
BE 705

A% AAT
2022 2021 2022 2021

7,043 6,149 3,268 3,053
145 156 24 19
3,795 19 2,942 -
1,309 1,328 91 21
1,003 741 177 68
195 139 21 44

235 175 148 66
204 53 55 -

- 42 - 10

38 - 32 -

154 122 105 76

212 93 205 86

118 52 - -

496 507 370 351
(EfI:%EEFm)

KEE AAE
2022 2021 2022 2021

499 442 - -
(1,890) (34) 25 -
(1,391) 408 25 -
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25. FRSHERMNIE/(EA) (&)
b) PRSI ERMRAIBF 2%
HE 2022 £k 2021 F 12 B 31 BZFrSRER/GIE)ERENEFN/(F B RUBRAMEREAZAEANT ¢

(BfI: X£TT)

AEE NG|
2022 2021 2022 2021
RAGER (18) (30,654) 16,918 (11,602) 16,730
HHEAFE (18K ) &
(UBATERRERHE ) - - - -
FEIEE
SRR RBENTE (1,918) 180 - -
BREHERENTE (299) (165) (198) (33)
BREHEENTE 218 159 - -
SREHPRENTE 5 - - -
RElmb 22 A (48) 36 26 29
RBFVELEFFSIREEZH 346 147 186 -
REHEY 276 52 11 -
REARERIE 23 - - -
BAERNEMFTS (5) - - -
Hith 1 (1) - 4
RIIRIERIE TSR E A () (1,391) 408 25 -

[9) BEFRSHREERAR

FEBRAQTHE 12 B 31 BZREMBSHREENT :

FEE AAE
2022 2021 2022 2021
FEEtIRE _ 12 _ 12
MEREH ) 13 _ @
HESESBEREAEENS 1 8 _ 2
REFAREENE 2100 _ _ _
2,106 33 - 12

REMMTCZ #H18$1,400,0003=7T ( 20214F: $1,900,000% 70 ) MEL Z LR ERMR I ZEEMSHRE
E - HOAR2023F 22025 FMARKRBANT - GRIIARKREHNRRAMEEHNERIEMSHAEENS -

125 Safeguarding every tomorrow

2022 Annual Report

25. FRSHEINE/(EF) (&)
[9) BEFSHEERARE (8)
EIEFASIRAE

REBRAPNIZELEMBSRNEE TEGHKRBERER - H515$326,00037T ( 20214F: $147,000%7T ) &
$13,00037T ( 20214 : $03=7T ) - 20225 - EEHRNERSBE FIMILE  RIELEMESHEE 85
$65,00027F ( 20214 : $0%7T ) -

HE20226FK2021F12A310 - BEEFASRERBZERMER - RBIELEFRSHRAR - REERER
ARRZARE  AREFATDZRDEEER -

REEE2022F 52021 FOERRIMNNRBAGEEEARSHRIE -

d) Hith5I8

KATGBRUNBREZERAT - WARIZWARERNERIIABRERREHE -

EEURFERBEZ FRAERD KR  GECRKERE H=AERZESE 0 D% 2 BEREREEESR
ZARBEBER RS EOBELEREAERZRME - EX2E KAREANRERRZEERS - &
HEH2010% - &k Republic Act (RA) No. 9728 IR BEMRERE - RELREERBZAT - H¥ART - &
BEUNRFREEZ FASRAHE - IkRANo0.7916 HFSEEECNEHEE ZEEEE -

ERBEZFRE - AURRAEZED Z_THRBBAZENZ—ABE - INMEHK -
ERE MR FRRLBASRZZE -

26. SRR/ (EH)

AEAFEEASREG/ (BB REERESRER/ (5B ZERIIRNT
(B E=2F7T)

rEE
2022 2021
EETARTEBRERFHN (18 ) BUEEARREESREAF (28,596) 17,342
BRE BRE
MEFRBENEERREBUAESREF(EL : TR) : 545,286 546,911
BRER/(EBE)(EM : =9) (5.244) 3.171

BRERZEHE

EXSRAEGZAEGURETAAIEBRER ZFNRURASTHRERR ZNEFIIRBEMNSBERR
-

HESRARNGERER  BEREASEERKRRMFAN (EaBmEHIRNSBER ) BRUKEMEFS
RBENEERREN LERAEEEREMNEEEBRERSLERZAFEMETORBEINSERR
-
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26. SkaER/(B8) (&) 29. #HE
2022 £k 2021 FRZRFEEEREARBEYR - SAMFEAHRE - BEERARAEMBRRTME - LK EEELTN

FOFESERNEESBERZAEMRS -
FEERBEEH  LEMRTROZER - AEERBZOZBEA—Z0F  BURBESHHRETHEE -8
BWAZHREUGRUGREAHERE - AERRSBHERAREZERES -

27. BRI
N , . . B BE202F12H931 0 AEEREEYBENANETEEASHE - BE 202512531 Bk - A%
2022 £ 55 27 H - ERIEBE 2022 % 6 A 16 AIEZ RREMH 2 RRSHHESREER$0.0060 = B 2022 4 12 A 31 BE&FEZHBREHE - DIEERBENAR612,501 =75 (2021 £ : $612,501 =
TRERF (FEH) - RERA 2022 F7 A 13 BT - 2875$3,271,000 =73 ( 2021 % : $22,840,000 5T) - FEREALE  FRARLNRSTREESDRENIE MZERLHE 2022 12 531 AvS
S E5$63,552 T (2021 F : $59,132 £T ) - CEEESRMN  FELALSERBEARER - B3
B EERERAT - R12831 B - FEREWABS RBAERESITNOT ;
28. BEARGAZS (Efi: Z22F7)
a)  MEAZS AEE
2022 2021
BERMBREEMMEERBESN A EERERANZEARBIROT ; EIERERA-T 5 5
(B £2T57T) SEER S A R E 23 28
ARE) 28 33
2022 2021
WA
AR
#R- 45 2,962 25116 MEPEERL - BREERERARTNR Y BERSRAMDT ;
BARER: (Efi: Z22F7)
R - 723 4,610 39,886 KeEE
2022 2021
#ZE 202212 531 ALt - ALERTARRAGERSHEI  RERMENLS - HLEME 29 - . o7 015
b e BRA—FEEREMUR 3,155 3,266
b) TEEEREZHES il o pa
TEEEREFH (@EMTESNTH ) A 3,782 4,398
(B £2T7T)
AEE
2022 2021 ZEBARA
BEEER* 208 215 . N .
o 2858 2497 AEERAXNTCH L REENT IS GE  HASHES 2 E 50 £ - ZASERFRAEEER -
mEiEA s B R E IR E R 18 25 BOMIB AR R EAEE -
3084 2737 AEENEETEEA T EERN TEEERENRSE - AEEYELASHA @HES A "GEES
’ ’ ERE" LIRSS -
OFERTEENESE : 32022 F - AEEET—HRASHAEIGE  FOEMREEDIIEE - B5ISEH461,000 £ (2021
B /NC| 2,539 2,232 £ :$1,148000 =75 )
N - -
B 2022 £ - AEENE Manhattan International Corp. (MIC) 2] —f L E R 50 &£ - HpAREE
2,539 2,232 —BEBEEHES (HE28) - AEER 2022 F£4) 5158506 AR AR E S MRS ER$143,000 £
76 (2021 4 :$132,000 =5t ) A S EHEREMS$106,000 =75 ( 2021 £ - $154,000 =75 ) - HE 2022 F
“EIEFASIEBEE$3,000 2752021 : $4,000 Z7T) - 12 A 31 B - BRE S AN A 4 85$4,400,000 £75( 2021 £ : $2,700,000 277 )A1$0 255 ( 2021

% :$2,600,000 %7T ) ©
TEEBRBABZMSGEFNEESEE/ARURTHBRETLURE -

£ 2022 £/ 2021 FREMETREBAS R TRERIAEBREHREREREM -
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29. THE(#)

a) ERAEEE

(Ef1:%EEFmT)

KEE A AT
2022 2021 2022 2021

1818 8,386 5573 380 77
i 2,680 3,636 4,500 373
e (1,128) (819) (179) (70)
NS RIRTHEE (35) 4) - -
128318 9,903 8,386 4,701 380

b) HESRE

A%E A53
2022 2021 2022 2021
1R1H 6,779 3,544 476 211
i 2,680 3,636 . 373
FSIEMPHEE 23) 396 455 36 33
HERBEYR (5,855) (849) (155) (141)
8% (90) ) (41) -
128318 3,910 6,779 316 476
HERE - RE 575 988 129 139
HERE - FFRE 3,335 5,791 187 337

Hith:BRGIINERR - HERENEIMBE AFRMEE 32 -

o) TESHEKREH

A% A53
2022 2021 2022 2021
EREEEITE (W 24) 1,128 819 179 70
REAEHSEA (W3 23) 396 455 3 33
AMREEERE EREERA (W 29) 414 540 21 a4
MRENIBEREER 1,938 1,814 236 147

EMBRGHE SENEE SERPNEEEEERE WREMLR$6,269,000 =75 2021 £:$1,389,000
ESTD I
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30. HEAE
SBEE

2021118128 - AATEE—REENHHFMEERTHEERI822,000E7 - 12022418208 - ASIEE
2R - EERAEMATSAEMRIE - K20225108258 - ATBEBRZHHHR - AER$966,000
55T - BIMO$144,0005 T HHIRE 20226512831 B B E R RFRER - BKEIEERREY - LEAR
ERHEEEOHIRRTER -

31, £EIMER

REENL

REEXREERZABNEMEGZ AR 2 ERNRBAEE  TE2HPIBIREBAREENPIRSE - RENR
SEARBMER - HEEPIDBIRBREERRRE 2 MERAENEE - RERMPIRRIBREH SR M
RREMEm R IRTS Z R EEEAL -

EEPIRER

HSEBEPIREREREEN - QERARR MEAFMAOSE - BEEMFHR - #R - ALRE - BE
E¥  KRERBRAT BLBEEEVIEHERUETEEREBNZAABRERKHS  HOMNERER -
BIRRBAPIRHARARREERB TR OEBI 2B -

KHREMEPIEEZSBHE MEDTECS M8 BEREY FER - ZEREMD IR 2 FRE - AEERRT)
RELERE  HEHMMRE 2 ERMAMMNEN - NRE - 8% - [FRERMES -

= BIE

FEEZMER D BHERBAEEREZPIEN - HETIBELAGMKRE PHAEM 2t &RISHE -
SEBERRBEIE

BEMZE2EER AENRRSEUVEERRBZAMRUKREELARSBZIER - A B YRR T REER

B2EE FASNER  BEMSMEERSHE RBERREMAMER - BAMZKBA - EANSEERES
BPEZBERS - ELAPIEBERSBNERS HFRRETLUPEH -
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31, SEEMER (4F) 31, SEMMER (F)
(a) SEIZPIFM (a) SEEIEPPIEM ()

(BfI: X£TT)

HE 2022 5K 2021 F12 B31 H - AEEHFIEANRA - EELERREMEN - EE - @EREME
PISHRATT P - 20 mesn  BREE GREEM A%
(Bf1:%=£F7T) =R = AT =
2022 EEUWA
, s JEBIRA 117,937 14,971 11,247 144,155
EER B R EAM ES BN 56,641 - - 56,641
EREA WAEE 174,578 14,971 11,247 200,796
FEBARA 35,680 14,312 6,251 56,243 ey (56,641) - - (56,641)
N 26,757 - - 26,757 117,937 14,971 11,247 144,155
WAEE 62,437 14,312 6,251 83,000
poikc) (26,757) - - (26,757) .
35,680 2312 551 56243 EEER 14,683 413 2,680 17,776
MEER (891)
EXyE 4t
BERER (30,739) 403 (272) (30,608) RS A -
MEER (951) Frisf & A (408)
. -
ABIA 905 AHFH 16,510
Fisffla= 1,391 B —
AEEE (29.263) mEE 196,393 15,047 4134 215,574
mafs 27,376 234 57 27,667
aEE 162,732 16,295 3,022 182,049
e 29,399 274 61 29,734 RaPII&n:
BAZH 12,328 1,766 - 14,094
IR 4,386 2,136 111 6,633
B EFIEE - EiRcatei=ES 3,000 - - 3,000
BEAZH 16,354 1,751 - 18,105 HREUIERTERERARIEER 10 9 - 19
e K 3,757 2,536 111 6,404 HitJFRE&Z - 5588 450 - - 450
HIEFEES 10,984 - 764 11,748
R FEUL IR A 78 HA 1S FR 18 8 R ELAthIAT
BEE 3,795 - - 3,795
HinJFReT H- 558 327 - ~ 327
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31, £EEPIEM (4) 31, £EEPIEM (4)
(b) HERIER (b) HERIZER (4)
(EfI:%EEFm)
HZE 2022 FR 2021 £12 B31 B - AEEHAAZRNBATMEALZ L - BESHAMNTRAT : 2021
_ 6= A& BOM AEE
(EfI:%EEFm) A
2022 JERIBA 37,642 76,451 30,062 144,155
b= LmXitE BOM JEOM AEE %A - 56,641 - 56,641
s A WA 37,642 133,092 30,062 200,796
JERIBA 9,610 32,076 14,343 214 56,243 tigs - (56,641) - (56,641)
AN - 26,757 " _ 26,757 37,642 76,451 30,062 144,155
AR 9,610 58,833 14,343 214 83,000
lag - _ (26,757) - - (26,757) BELR 4,642 9,427 3,707 17,776
9,610 32,076 14,343 214 56,243
M ER (891)
BEER (5,230)  (17,456)  (7,806) (116) (30,608) BATSIIA 33
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mEE 353 180,622 1,074 - 182,049 RAMmE - 27,667 - 27,667
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BAZH - 14,004 - 14,004
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32. MBRREREBRRER
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a)  FIRER

NEEBRGEAERRARTFAZEMIE  AmSHREHERERARBRENRRESRENE ZRR

FEEZARRREIERBEHER - AEENBRIBBERBEEAEMIBNERZEHES - ENREEZ
ME . BRAEMESMRRRSE -

HEEEERREERFZIRGT -

133 Safeguarding every tomorrow 134



+ Mgirm Medtecs International Corporation Limited 2022 Annual Report

32. MBRBEEBEBRERERK (4E) 32. MBRBEEEREREEK (4E)

a)  FURERR (4]) b)  REMERER (48)

BEAEENEEARBENMEENAEE M B REMT - MBBRIAET - ASHEMEE 18 - HERKRAL  FAEBRAQAIRBESHOMESEZEHMEEASHBBEZIBRBERNT: B ) _
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FEE

TRGEAEERARTDENXERAN - FARP SR TEREEE
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sEHRME = (15,643) (9,3086) - - RITIREFMARSE:
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FERIER R E R e 2 6,256 6,256 - - - 6,256
AEEAAATLRBE 1 E BB SRMTE - o
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BEHFRERNEERFE ) URREFZE - 5715 2022 F£19$15,000 =T ( 2021 4F : $24,000 =75 ) - AR ENEEEB)FH 44,478 26,764 17,794 1183 (10,660) 35,081

REFEIBES JiizE i 3= R EAEFERANT Eax o
FRERERHEES - WREHRRYEARMEAR AT RS 1 R - BRI RN ERCSE)

2 GREEESRE
3 3 FRUBAZEIRR
b)  mEEEIR " %

REERARGAEENANTAESARBUERBENER AR - FEBRAQTEE ZRBMRBREERRE
THEERSHABEREZ A - - EEERUARSE AEEEEREERTHBSEERRZRERA
ERSEEEKE  DREREAEXEEI FE - AEAZENGARRTEREESERZSEMRER
- BNV EETK - RIBBREMIRTERE - 82 2022 F 12 B 31 H1E - A&EX 100% ( 2021 £ :
100% ) RESHBE—FARZIH -
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32. MBRBEEBEBRERERK (4E)
32. MBRBEEBRERERK (4E)

b)  RENMERER (48)

b)  REMERER (48)

(BfI:=2Fm) (BN £2T7T)
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5T %8
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16,925 16,925 _ _ _ 16,925 FEUTIRSR (B3R ) 42,347 20,795 21,552 - — 42,347
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RIFREMARE: RIFREMARSE:
T IR EL At B 757 757 - - - 757 STHR{E =R 9,306 _ 9,306 _ _ 9,306
mEaE 316 = 138 227 611 976 R R E MR B 1 ° 6,609 6,609 - - - 6609
AFRERAES 1,073 757 138 227 611 1,733 HEaE 6,779 - 909 2,554 11,702 15,165
o . ATREMAEEE 22,694 6,609 10,215 2554 11,702 31,080
ATREWAE (RE) FE 46,024 42,257 3,945 227) (611) 45,364
RIFREREE (BE) 3
L BRI AR N B 58 S 82,480 63,201 25,149 (2,554) _(11,702) 74,004
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L BRENR . ERRRERAERCIR)
2 BRHREZENRER
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32. MBRBEEBEBRERERK (4E) 32. MBRREEBRREE (4)
b)  RENMERER (48) o EXER

FEERFEARBMEENRSER ARG UAERZERSBNINEERBLUSMIEREE 2GS E
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AR
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mat
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FANIK S
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d) ERRR
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FEENERGERSFRERENBARE - TRBS/NMEERERRARER ZEX - AEEERARITEEBRIFE
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32, MBAREEEERIE (M) 32, MBAREEEERIE (M)
d) EREE(E) d) EREE (E)
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Corpo rate P rofi Ie The Group is dedicated to safeguarding the health and safety of people worldwide.

Medtecs International Corporation Limited (the
“Company’” or “Medtecs”) is a leading supplier and
distributor of personal protective equipment (“PPE”)
and provider of logistics services to healthcare
institutions with over 30 years of experience in the
manufacturing of PPE and workwear. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
commenced operations in 1989 and has since
established a strong presence in the United States,
Europe and Asia Pacific. The Group has offices and
facilities spanning across Asia including Singapore,
Taiwan, the Philippines, the People’s Republic of
China (“China”), Cambodia and the United States of
America. The Company was listed on the Singapore
Dealing and Automated Quotation System
(SESDAQ) of the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) on 6 October 1999 and Headquarters — Taipei, Taiwan
transitioned to sponsor-supervised regime on

Catalist with R & T Corporate Services Pte. Ltd. as its continuing sponsor on 26 February
2010. The Group’s Taiwan Depository Receipts (“TDR”) have been listed on the Taiwan
Stock Exchange (“TWSE”) since 13 December 2002.

Medtecs (Taiwan) Corporation

The Group’s main lines of business include manufacturing, trading and distribution, and
providing integrated hospital services. As a manufacturer of a wide range of PPE, workwear ) ) )

. . . L . Medtecs (Cambodia) Corporation Limited Hangzhou Jincheng Medical Supplies
apparels and protective coverings for hospitals and manufacturing industries, the Group Manufacture Co., Ltd.
maintains diversified manufacturing facilities and production lines in the Philippines,
Cambodia, Taiwan and China and the United States to reduce supply chain disruptions.
For our trading and distribution business, the Group has logistics and warehousing centers
in Canada, Europe, Japan and the United States and is working with Amazon, DHL and
other e-commerce and logistics services providers to optimise our distribution efficiency. As
a hospital services provider, the Group provides hospitals in Taiwan and the Philippines with
integrated services which include rental and laundry of linens, management of laundry
facilities, hospital automation, as well as procurement solutions for the hospital’'s PPE and RMKH Glove (Cambodia) Co., Ltd.
medical devices needs. In Taiwan, the Group is currently the dominant total solutions
provider for such hospital services, with a customer base of 19 hospitals.

The Group has also successfully expanded its hospital service in the Philippines, covering
31 hospitals.
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Corporate Milestones
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Corporate Structure
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The Company and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022
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Chairman’s Message

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present to you the operational and
financial results of the Group for the financial year
ended 31 December (“FY”) 2022, as well as the
Group’s 2023 outlook.

In FY2022, which marked the third year of the
COVID-19 pandemic, the world began to adapt to
living with the virus. However, the ongoing Russo-
Ukrainian War has increased geopolitical risks, while
countries around the world are tightening monetary
policies due to restructured global supply chains and
inflation. These factors have led to elevated
operational risks and costs to the Group.

In FY2022, the prolonged inventory correction cycle from our customers, a decline in
average selling price, and increased costs in the construction of the glove factory adversely
affected the Group’s overall financial performance. After assessing the industry environment,
customer feedback and overall balance sheet position, the Company decided to recognise
provisions for inventory loss and expected credit loss on receivables. While this decision
had a negative impact on the Group’s near-term profitability, it was made with an aim to
strengthening the Group’s future operations.

Looking ahead to 2023, the Group remains dedicated to adopting strategies to
implementing cost-saving measures and pursuing new revenue streams. With a focus on
enhancing operational efficiency, our newly-inaugurated glove factory in Cambodia has
begun mass production. The Group expects growth in earnings generated by this new
addition to our product portfolio in the years to come. In addition, the Company is evaluating
the benefits of solar power and energy storage services to align with global sustainability
trends. We will provide further information on our plans as they develop and seek the
necessary approvals from shareholders at the appropriate juncture.

On 14 April 2023, the Company applied to the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited (“SGX-ST”) for a two-month extension on its reporting deadlines for FY2022,
seeking to hold its annual general meeting (“AGM”) by 30 June 2023 and to issue its annual
report by 15 June 2023. The extension application was submitted due to anticipated delays
in the completion of the Company's audit by the auditors. The delay stemmed from the
implementation of a new Enterprise Resource Planning (‘ERP”) system in the Philippines,
additional reconciliation procedures, and the setup of a new glove factory in Cambodia. On
25 April 2023, the SGX-ST informed the Company it had no objection to the Company’s
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application for an extension of time to hold its AGM by 30 June 2023 with regard to
compliance with Rule 707(1) of the Catalist Rules

The Year FY2022 In Review

Decline in Revenue Due to Recognised Loss

In FY2022, the Group faced headwinds as global demand for personal protective equipment
(“PPE”) declined amongst our customer base due to prior stockpiling. The Original Product
Manufacturing division, the Group’s main source of revenue, saw a steep decline of nearly
70% in full-year revenue compared to the previous year. This decline, coupled with the
significant costs incurred in the construction of the new glove factory, our one-time inventory
provision and accounts receivable to offset the loss of price decline, resulted in a significant
decline of 61% from the previous year, generating a total revenue of US$56.24 million.
These factors have combined to generate an after-tax net loss of US$29.26 million for the
year.

Balance Sheet Remains Stable

We faced a challenging business environment in FY2022 due to the decline in global
demand and average selling price (“ASP”) of PPE, as well as lower orders from our existing
clients from oversupply in their inventories. We adopted a conservative approach and
recognised an inventory provision amounting to US$11.7 million in preparation against
possible loss from market price decline. While the approach is not favourable for near-term
profitability, it can minimise adverse impact inventory obsolescence in future. Moreover, with
the construction of the glove factory now completed, such large capital expenditure is not
expected in 2023.

FY2022 saw the Group utilising cash of US$30.92 million for its operating, investing, and
financing activities. Nonetheless, the Group’s cash position remained robust at US$18.12
million at the end of FY2022, with a low financial leverage ratio of only 10%. Looking ahead,
the Group is committed to implementing measures to increase revenue and reduce costs,
which is expected to drive improved financial performance.

Mass Production of the Glove Factory

On 30 September 2022, the Group’s subsidiary, RMKH Glove (Cambodia) Co., Ltd,
completed construction of a medical-grade nitrile glove factory in Manhattan Special
Economic Zone in Cambodia and commenced mass production on the same day.

Looking back on the first half of FY2021, the site of the factory was initially an overgrown
land. The Group encountered various challenges during the construction due to the
pandemic and disruptions in the supply chain. Our colleagues worked hard to overcome the
obstacles, and today, we celebrate the successful completion of the factory, which marks a
significant milestone in the Group’s future growth.
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At the opening ceremony, | expressed my gratitude to HE. Dr. Hun Manet (Deputy
Commander in Chief of Royal Cambodian Armed Forces and Commander in Chief of the
Cambodian Army), High Representative of the Cambodian Prime Minster, Samdech Techo
Hun Sen, and other high-ranking officials from the government of Cambodia for their support
and assistance in the mass production of RMKH’s glove factory. The factory is the first of
its kind to manufacture medical-grade nitrile gloves in Cambodia, as well as the Group’s
largest investment project to date. We are proud to be able to fulfil both local and overseas
health and medical needs.

The Group has long been recognised as the go-to provider of head-to-toe personal
protection for the public and health care professionals. The addition of the glove factory not
only increases the Group’s production capacity but also expands the Medtecs’ product
offering. This marks the start of the Group’s future expansion strategy to become the first
multi-national group purchasing organisation in Asia, highlighting the Group’s strategic
planning in the face of global supply chain restructuring.

Outlook for 2023

Capitalising on the China Plus One Strategy

Looking ahead to 2023, while the disruptions caused by the pandemic are gradually coming
to an end, the global supply chain has been permanently reshaped. Customers, particularly
those in Europe and the United States, now seek supplier diversification driven by the China
Plus One strategy. With our deep roots in the Philippines and Cambodia, our geographical
advantages are more significant than ever amid the restructuring of the global supply chain.
Our glove factory was a crucial strategic response to this trend. By forming an alliance with
European and American partners, we have built a state-of-the-art nitrile glove factory
outside of China, which will not only expand our product portfolio, but will also further
strengthen our key position in the supply chain.

Continuing to Strengthen E-Commerce Business

As a leading provider of PPE, we have long established a strong reputation for delivering
high-quality Original Equipment Manufacturing (“OEM”) service to our customers. Our
market penetration of own-brand PPE and related protective solutions in the global market
has expanded through e-commerce platforms like Amazon. In FY2022, our E-commerce
business grew by over 50% and we are proud to have been ranked amongst the Best
Sellers in Taiwan on Amazon. We believe that in FY2023, E-commerce will remain a key
growth area for the Group.

Expanding Product Mix

As market demands continue to evolve, we have taken steps to diversify our product
portfolio to include in-demand healthcare items like anti-viral disinfectants, wipes, home
healthcare products such as acne patches, hydrocolloid bandages and dressings, as well
as medical devices with Al capabilities. These initiatives reflect our commitment to
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supporting customer health and enhancing our business resilience by tapping into emerging
market trends and reducing dependence on a single product category.

Enhancing Supply Chain Management

The Company acknowledges the challenges posed by the decline in global demand of PPE
and lower orders from existing clients. In response, we are proactively enhancing our supply
chain management to ensure we can respond quickly to changes in demand. We are
improving our forecasting and demand planning, optimizing inventory levels, and
establishing close partnerships with suppliers and distributors. Through better inventory
management we will reduce the risk of overstocking or stock shortages, enabling us to be
more responsive to customer needs and position ourselves for growth in the future.

Renewable Energy as Sustainable Growth Strategy

To keep pace with global sustainability trends, the Company has set its sights on exploring
the potential benefits of solar power and energy storage services. As part of the effort, we
are currently exploring the possibility of installing solar panels in our existing factories and
pursuing renewable energy opportunities in collaboration with strategic partners in
Cambodia and the Philippines.

Acknowledgement

Since our establishment 34 years ago, the Group has weathered numerous challenges. We
are grateful to our dedicated employees, customers, and shareholders for their unwavering
trust and support, which have allowed us to keep moving forward. We are fully aware that
achieving corporate sustainability is no easy task. Only by giving consideration to both
experience and change can we pass the test of the times. We ask for your ongoing support,
understanding, and trust in our vision. Together, we will continue to navigate the ever-
changing business landscape and emerge even stronger. Thank you for believing in
Medtecs.

o

Clement, Yang Ker-Cheng
Chairman
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Financial Highlights

Revenues declined in FY2022 following decline in global demand and non-recurring

orders from FY2021

Historical Revenue
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FY2022 noted decline in profits and margins from lower demand and decline in

market prices

Historical Profits and Margins
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= Significant decrease in profit margins in 2022 was due to the decline in global demand and
market prices of personal protective equipment and facemasks, resulting for the Group to
recognise provision for inventory losses amounting to US$11.7 million.

= The Group continued with its marketing efforts to increase its online e-commerce presence
to engage more customers with existing and new products such as home healthcare items.
This allowed the Group to expand its reach and maintain its leverage on its online operations

like Amazon US.

Financial Position

Balance Sheet Highlights

CSs) 1bor22 31Dt
Cash and cash equivalents 18.1 49.0
Inventories 36.4 497
- Inventory days 223 177
Account Receivables 304 423
- AR days 197 107
Account Payables 6.4 7.8
- AP days 39 28
Key Ratios

Debt / Equity (x) 0.2x 0.1x
Net Debt / Equity (x) n.m. n.m.

Capex level — To complete construction
of new glove factory

(Us$'m) m Capex
200
10.0
0.0 o -
FY2019 FY2020 FY2021 FY2022
(US$000) FY2022 FY2021

Cashflow from operating activities (4,053) 30,104

Cashflow from investing activities (23,901) (15,389)
Cashflow from financing activities (2,961) (47,484)
Net cash outflow (30,915) (32,769)
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Financial Review

Business Overview

The Group’s revenue decreased by 61.0% to US$56.2 million in FY2022 from US$144.2
million in FY2021 due to (1) lower sales arising from a decline in global demand and ASP
of PPE and facemasks and (2) lower orders from our existing clients from oversupply in
their inventories and non-recurring orders from FY2021. Such global trends and a decrease
in recorded COVID-19 cases and easing of COVID-19 prevention measures in most
countries has significantly affected the buying habits of most of our key customers, which
has in turn affected our revenues and margins. To mitigate the impact, the Group continued
with its marketing effort to increase its online e-commerce presence with the hope to engage
more customers with existing and new products such as home healthcare items. We remain
committed to delivering high-quality products and expanding our reach through e-commerce
platforms like Amazon. Net profit decreased significantly by 277.2% to US$29.3 million net
loss in FY2022 from US$16.5 million net profit in FY2021, due to lower demand for the
Group's PPE and lowered margins as well as an increase in inventory provisions in FY2022.

The Group revenues declined by 61% to US$56.2 million and generated a net loss of
US$29.3 million on drop in global demand of PPEs and provisions from inventory

Revenue

Revenue from the Original Product Manufacturing (“OPM”) division decreased by 69.7% to
US$35.7 million in FY2022 from US$117.9 million in FY2021 due to lower sales of PPEs
and facemasks arising from a decline in global demand.

Revenues from Hospital Services division decreased slightly by 4.4% to US$14.3 million in
FY2022 from US$15.0 million in FY2021 due to decreased linen consumption in Taiwan and
Philippines. Revenues from Distribution and Others decreased by 44.4% to US$6.3 million
in FY2022 from US$11.2 million in FY2021 due also to lower demand in Taiwan.

Profitability

The Group’s gross profit decreased significantly by 107.9% to US$3.3 million gross loss in
FY2022 from US$42.0 million gross profit in FY2021 arising from lower sales demand and
recognition of provision for inventory losses amounting to US$11.7 million following the
decline in ASPs of PPEs and facemasks in the global market. This led to a decrease in the
Group’s gross profit margins to a negative 5.9% in FY2022 from a positive 29.2% in FY2021.
Without the provision for inventory losses, the Group’s gross profit would be approximately
US$8.4 million with gross margins of 15.0% in FY2022.
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Gross profit from the OPM division decreased significantly by 115.6% to US$5.6 million
gross loss in FY2022 from US$35.9 million gross profit in FY2021 due to lower sales and
inventory losses from low global market prices of products and inventory provisions in
FY2022. This also resulted in the gross profit margins of the OPM division to decline by
151.5% to negative 15.7% in FY2022 from positive 30.5% in FY2021.

Hospital Services division gross profit decreased by 8.3% to US$1.8 million in FY2022 from
US$1.9 million in FY2021 arising from lower linen consumption in Taiwan and Philippine
hospitals.

Gross profit from Trading, Distribution and Others division decreased by 88.3% to
US$487,000 in FY2022 from US$4.1 million in FY2021 due also to lower sales and
inventory losses from lower ASPs.

Other operating income net increased by 39.5% to US$2.5 million in FY2022 from US$1.8
million in FY2021 from foreign exchange gains and scrap sales.

Distribution, selling and administrative expenses increased by 14.3% to US$29.7 million in
FY2022 from US$26.0 million in FY2021 from expected credit losses on receivables derived
from aging and higher marketing and depreciation costs.

Financial expenses increased by 6.7% to US$1.0 million in FY2022 from US$0.9 million in
FY2021 due to higher bank borrowings.

Income tax expenses decreased by 440.9% to US$1.4 million income tax benefit in FY2022
from US$0.4 million income tax expense in FY2021 arising from future taxable deductions
of the Group.

Net profit decreased significantly by 277.2% to US$29.3 million net loss in FY2022 from
US$16.5 million net profit in FY2021 due to lower sales and margins for PPE and facemasks
and provisions for inventory losses and expected credit losses on receivables derived from
aging.

Cash Flow and Statements of Financial Position

Total assets of the Group decreased by US$33.6 million to US$182.0 million in FY2022 from
US$215.6 million in FY2021 due primarily to decrease in cash from payments of cash
dividends, purchase of treasury shares, and construction costs from the glove factory in
Cambodia. Inventories also decreased to US$36.4 million in FY2022 from US$49.7 million
in FY2021 as a result of the provision for inventory losses. Trade receivables decreased to
US$30.4 million in FY2022 from US$42.3 million in FY2021 mostly from collections from
customers and provision for expected credit losses. Property, plant and equipment
increased to US$45.8 million in FY2022 from US$32.1 million in FY2021 as a result of the
completion of the glove production facility constructed in Cambodia.
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The Group had an operating cash outflow of US$4.1 million in FY2022 as compared to
operating cash flows of US$30.1 million generated in FY2021, attributable to the new
operation loss for the period and commitment of cash towards fixed deposits. Cash outflow
for investing activities increased to US$23.9 million in FY2022 from US$15.4 million in
FY2021, mainly attributable to the additional cost incurred from construction of the glove
factory in Cambodia and bonds amounting to US$3.0 million acquired by the Group in
Cambodia and increase in quoted equity investments in Taiwan. Cash outflow from
financing activities of US$3.0 million came from payments of cash dividends, interest and
lease liabilities and purchase of treasury shares, partially offset by new bank borrowings.

15 Snl'r_:gl..-url:l."un ey Iomomow

2027 Annual Report

Business Outlook and Prospects

Looking ahead to 2023, the world is returning to a state of normalcy post COVID-19.
However, the pandemic has highlighted the importance of healthcare products and the
crucial role companies like Medtecs play in disease prevention and safeguarding global
health. As a leading provider of PPE, we have expanded our market penetration of own-
brand PPE and related protective solutions in the global market through e-commerce
platforms like Amazon. E-commerce will remain a key growth area of the Group as we
expand product offering and our reach from Asia, USA to new markets such as Singapore
through E-commerce.

The Company's subsidiary, Resilient Medical Pte. Ltd., has recently inaugurated its
technologically-advanced nitrile glove factory in Cambodia in Q42022. Commencement of
operations at the factory has further diversified our product portfolio and will strengthen our
position as a key player in pandemic and disease prevention. The nitrile glove factory
complements our current production capacity in Cambodia, Philippines and China as we
pursue more stockpiling business for government projects worldwide.

To broaden our customer base, the Group has expanded into business-to-consumer (“B2C”)
services and is leveraging the increased consumer awareness for its Medtecs and CoverU
brands. We plan to seek collaboration and franchising opportunities for our enhanced
portfolio of products through our extensive network of retail partners.

As the world adapts to living with COVID-19, the Group is focused on pursuing growth
opportunities to future-proof our market position. To meet changing needs of the market, we
have started to diversify our product portfolio to include in-demand healthcare items like
anti-viral disinfectants, wipes, home healthcare products such as acne patches,
hydrocolloid bandages and dressings, as well as medical devices with Al capabilities. These
initiatives aim to support customer health and enhance our business resilience by tapping
into emerging market trends and reducing dependence on a single product category.

The Company recognises the challenges posed by the decline in global demand and ASP
of PPE, coupled with lower orders from existing clients due to oversupply in their inventories
and non-recurring orders from FY2021. In response, we are enhancing our supply chain
management to ensure we can respond quickly to changes in demand. We are improving
our forecasting and demand planning, optimizing inventory levels, and working more closely
with suppliers and distributors. By enhancing our supply chain management, we hope to
manage our inventory better and reduce the risk of overstocking or stock shortages. This
will enable us to be more responsive to customer needs and position us for growth in the
future.
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Meanwhile, to keep pace with sustainability trends, subject to listing rules and shareholders'
approval, the Company is exploring the possibility of foraying into the renewable energy
market to develop another growth driver. This may include investing in renewable energy
together with external strategic partners to meet the requests from our clients for more green
manufacturing in the future. We intend to focus on evaluating the merits of solar power and
energy storage services, including installation of solar panels in our existing factories. More
information on our future plans will be provided to, and requisite approvals will be obtained
from, shareholders at the appropriate juncture if and when these proposals materialise.

Despite the challenging business environment, we remain confident in our ability to navigate
these conditions and deliver long-term value for our shareholders.

Manufacturing

Manufacturing remains the dominant segment in the Group in terms of revenue and profitability.

Post COVID-19, the manufacturing operations look to benefit from the expanded product
base with the completion of the nitrile glove factory in Cambodia through its subsidiary,
Resilient Medical Pte. Ltd. The Group is also entering strategic partnership and alliances
with suppliers to enhance its supply chain management to ensure flexibility on changing
demands in our product lines.

The Group will also leverage on the heightened awareness of our healthcare and safety
products globally. We have also invested in branding and marketing initiatives to develop
and promoted the “Medtecs” and “CoverU” brands for both facemasks and PPEs and will
leverage on the brand. We have boosted our E-commerce sites like Amazon and retail
chains to make our products more accessible globally.

We have tapped the business-to-business and B2C business models to channel the growth
in our operations and are working to expand our presence in more e-commerce platforms.
We are working on having long-term PPE and facemask stockpiling arrangement with
governments and hospital groups to provide stability in demand and be the lead partner in
abating infectious diseases globally.
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Hospital Services

Our Hospital Services division provides us with a stable source of income. We are looking
to strengthen our market presence and grow our market share in both Philippines and
Taiwan with more hospitals outsourcing trend for non-core hospital operations over the
region. We are also undertaking cost-reduction procedures to optimise margins on this
segment.

Trading and Distribution and Others

Our trading and distribution business is critical to the Group not only as a stand-alone profit
center but also provides auxiliary support to our other divisions. The Group aims to be one-
stop total solutions healthcare provider and the heightened awareness on the healthcare
industry has boosted this division.
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Research and Development

In 2022, Medtecs continued to innovate and invest in research and development to create
better healthcare solutions. In the fourth quarter of 2022, we started to manufacture nitrile
gloves in our fully automated glove factory in Cambodia. Nitrile gloves are known for
exceptional durability, tear-resistance, and longevity, and are a suitable alternative for
individuals with latex allergies. They are ideal for use in medical examination and food
processing settings.

Another new product is Coverall Light, which offers basic chemical protection and is
designed for enhanced breathability and comfort, and a great addition to our existing PPE
collection.

We also launched a range of products aimed at providing enhanced levels of comfort and
protection for various occupational settings, such as scrub suits, alcohol wipes, acne
patches and hydrocolloid dressings. Our OMO acne patches boast greater application
convenience compared to conventional products on the market, while also reducing the risk
of cross contamination with its unique peel-and-stick design and individual packaging.

We continue to prioritise the acquisition of product certifications, including two US FDA
510(k) clearances, EU Medical Device Regulation (MDR), and EU Personal Protective
Equipment Regulation (“PPER”) certifications. Our IL-4036 isolation gown is one of 4
products in the world to have attained AAMI Level 4 certification in the United States. We
plan to complete registration for these products under the newly implemented, more
stringent EU MDR in 2023 to ensure continued market access in Europe and the United
States.

Looking ahead to 2023, we anticipate launching 3D masks with the least pressure
differential and protective clothing suitable for use in cleanroom environments. Our research
and development efforts will continue to be directed towards product differentiation with a
focus on enhancing the valve of our brand and producs
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Corporate Social Responsibility

The world has been working to overcome the pandemic for the past three years. In line with
our vision to better the world’s health for everyone, everywhere, Medtecs has been donating
PPE and medical supplies worldwide, with recipients ranging from frontline workers, school
children to the elderly and other vulnerable communities who needed us the most. At the
same time, we are fully committed to the three pillars of sustainability - Environmental,
Social, and Governance (“ESG”) - and recognises the importance of integrating these
values into our business practices. To further our commitment, we have been organizing
lectures, training sessions and activities for our employees to deepen their knowledge and
understanding of ESG issues. We strive to be a responsible corporate citizen and make a
positive impact on the world through our business practices and community involvement.

Taiwan

In July 2022 we officially launched our Medical Supply Donation Program. This program
allows any organisation in need of medical supplies to apply for essential medical supplies
through our official website. The Taipei Medical University Mountain Social Medical Service
Team, for example, has used the program to send Medtecs supplies to remote areas to
support those affected by the pandemic. We continued to donate masks and other PPE
items to various government units, public welfare groups, and non-profits. For example, we
donated anti-viral spray, flight suits, and health kits to the Chinese Olympic Committee, Tug-
of-War Sports Association, Taiwan Jiu-Jitsu Association, and Marathon Association to help
protect the athletes’ health when they traveled for competitions.
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To further our commitment to community engagement, we have implemented a paid classes in August 2022. Provision of at least 10 Medtecs face masks per student were
volunteer leave policy for our employees in Taiwan, allowing them to use their paid time off included in the Happy Eskwela pack.

to volunteer at qualified non-governmental organisations (“NGOs”) or non-profit
organisations. On December 16, 2022, we partnered with “Taiwan Organic Lifestyle and
Environmental Education Promotion Association” to organise a company-wide mountain
clean-up. Throughout the year, the Taipei office collaborated with various NGOs to provide
lectures on topics such as environmental conservation, climate change, and healthy and
sustainable eating in order to foster a stronger understanding of sustainable practices
among our staff.

Mask donation to St. Theresa Opportunity Center

Philippines

Through its various initiatives, Medtecs Philippines demonstrated the Group’s commitment
to bettering the health and well-being of the community we operate in. To help reach wider
recipients, Medtecs Philippines collaborated with the Alagang Kapatid Foundation, Inc.
(“AKFI") twice in 2022. Via the “Protecsyonan ang Kalusugan” program, a cash donation of
Php96,000, which was raised from proceeds of Medtecs face masks sales, as well Medtecs
face masks went to different AKFI beneficiaries in the country. Following the success of the
“Protecsyonan ang Kalusugan” program, Medtecs and AKFI teamed up through the “Happy Happy Eskwela Project with Alagang Kapatid Foundation to donate school supplies and other
Eskwela” project to serve more than 500 students from remote communities by providing essentials to students from remote communities in the Philippines

them with school supplies and other essentials to prepare for the reopening of face-to-face
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In 2022, Medtecs Philippines
introduced the Selfless Contribution of
Protective Equipment to Society
(“SCOPES”) program, which s
designed to institutionalise the
Company's donation of PPEs and
medical supplies. Since its launch in
October, the program has had a total of
13 beneficiaries, mostly public school
students who received our kids face
masks. This was especially timely as
the government ordered the full
implementation of face-to-face classes
for public schools.

SCOPES program - Cecilio Apostol Elementary School

SCOPES program — San Jose Elementary School

In December, Medtecs Philippines’ employees from both the Makati office and Bataan
factory shared their time and talent to prepare special holiday gift packs made from recycled
shoe boxes. These upcycled shoeboxes contained Medtecs’ kids face masks and chocolate
treats as part of SCOPES’ “Christmas is Caring... for the Children and the Environment”
initiative. These gift packs were distributed to 200 children from the Special Program on
Relevant Engagement and Advocacy for the Displaced and the SOS Children’s Village —
Bataan.
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Overall, through SCOPES, Medtecs Philippines
donated 1,860 boxes of facemasks worth 446,400
Philippine pesos.

Cambodia

In Cambodia, we continued efforts to support the local community in 2022 through various
initiatives. In furtherance of our belief in the transformative power of education and in
empowering the local community, we teamed up with the Ministry of Education and
UNESCO to provide literacy training to 43 students from Kompong Cham province, with two
teachers sponsored by Medtecs Group and a total of 480 hours of lessons conducted at our
Kampong Cham factory in March 2022. On June 1, 2022, in celebration of Children’s Day,
we donated notes, pens and pencils and other school supplies to the students of Hun
Sen Primary School, benefiting roughly 400 children. We also donated cash as well as face
masks to those in need. These donations were well received and greatly appreciated by the
recipients, including the Ministry of Land Management, Urban Planning & Construction, the
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Profile of the Board of Directors

Mr Clement Yang Ker-Cheng

Chairman - Executive Director
(Appointed as Director in 1997, and re-elected in 2021)

Mr Clement Yang Ker-Cheng is the Chairman of the Company. He oversees the overall
management, strategic planning, product development and marketing of the Group. He was
the Chief Executive Officer of the Group’s operations since 1990 until 2 May 2018 when Mr
William Yang Weiyuan took over as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. Mr Clement
Yang is a member of the Nominating Committee. Under his leadership, the Medtecs Group
has grown into an integrated healthcare services provider and original product manufacturer
of a wide range of medical consumables for large multinational healthcare distributors,
pharmaceutical companies and hospital groups around the globe.

Prior to founding the Medtecs Group, Mr Clement Yang served as senior vice-president of
the Fu-l Industrial Group of companies, and the chief executive officer of Shentex
Corporation. From 1986 to 1989, he was director of Taiwan Cotton Weavers Association.
Mr Clement Yang was president of the Taiwanese Business Association of Subic Bay and
now serves as Chairman of the Cambodia and Philippines committees of the Chinese-
Philippine Business Council as well as the Founding Chairman of the Confederation of
Philippine Manufacturers of PPE.

Mr Clement Yang has more than forty years of experience in the textile manufacturing
industry, with majority of those years devoted to the development of medical consumables
for the healthcare industry.

Mr William Yang Weiyuan

Deputy Chairman - Executive Director - Chief Executive Officer
(Appointed as Director in 2013 and subject to re-election in 2023)

Mr William Yang Weiyuan was appointed as an Executive Director on 2 September 2013.
Mr William Yang was appointed as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, in place of Mr
Clement Yang, on 2 May 2018 and was subsequently appointed as the Company's Deputy
Chairman on 26 February 2021.

Mr William Yang graduated from New York Institute of Technology with a degree in Electrical
and Computer Engineering in 2005. He is the General Manager of the Company’s wholly-
owned subsidiaries, namely Medtecs (Taiwan) Corporation since 1 July 2010 and Hangzhou
Jincheng Medical Supplies Manufacture Co., Ltd. since 2008. As General Manager of two
subsidiaries, he takes an active role in the marketing, production, human resources and
finance departments.
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Mr William Yang has over 15 years of experience in the textile industry, with majority of
those years devoted to developments of medical textile products, personal protective
equipment, and hospital service for the healthcare industry.

Mr Lim Tai Toon

Lead Independent Director - Audit Committee Chairman
(Appointed as Director in 2010 and subject to re-election in 2023)

Mr Lim Tai Toon was appointed as an Independent Director of the Company on 29 October
2010 and Chairman of the Audit Committee and Lead Independent Director on 4 May 2012.
He is also a member of the Nominating and Remuneration Committees.

Mr Lim spent the earlier part of his career with the Singapore Armed Forces before
embarking on a broad and varied financial and business career. Since 1994, Mr Lim had
worked in a number of SGX listed companies; as financial advisor of REA Ltd (formerly
known as Superior Fastening Ltd), as executive director of Eastgate Technology Limited
(2006 to 2009), managing director of Vashion Group Limited (formerly known as Startech
Electronics Limited) from 2003 to 2006 and vice-president (corporate affairs) of Ipco
International Limited (1995 to 1996). Between those years, Mr Lim also founded a software
development company and was based in China as Country chief executive officer for an
Asian company from 1996 to 2000. In addition, Mr Lim served as adjunct lecturer with
Loughborough University for 17 years till 2020 and was a council member of BGST.

Currently, Mr Lim is a co-founder of a group of missional companies with focus on social
impact and the General Manager of Student Castle Property Management Service (UK)
with Cuscaden Peak Investment. He is also an independent director and AC Chairman of
Medinex Ltd Since 2018.

Mr Lim holds a Master of Business (Information Technology) from Curtin University of
Technology (Australia), Master of Business Administration from Henly Management College
(United Kingdom) and Bachelor of Accountancy from National University of Singapore
(Singapore). He is a Fellow Chartered Accountant of The Institute of Singapore Chartered
Accountants.

Ms Carol Yang Xiao-Qing
Independent Director - Nominating Committee Chairman
(Appointed as Director in 2005 and re-elected in 2022)

Ms Carol Yang Xiao-Qing was appointed as an Independent Director of the Company on 1
May 2005 and Chairman of the Nominating Committee on 14 August 2012. She is a member
of the Audit and Remuneration Committees.

Ms Yang is Vice President and China Chief Representative of Give2Asia. She is the co-
founder of Galaxaco China Group LLC., which is an International Investment Advisory and
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Development Firm. Ms Yang has been working to support international corporations F i n a n c i al C al e n d a r

investing in China. Ms Yang has extensive experience in inbound investments, international
business developments, and state regulatory matters. She has been engaged in hands-on
project development in China and has served as senior advisor to multinational companies.
Ms Yang was once employed as a foreign expert by the State Council of China. For three B
years in a row from 2007 to 2009, Ms Yang received the award for Best Foreign Investment L FY 31 December 2022
Advisor from the City of Guangzhou. Ms Yang joined Give2Asia in 2018. In 2020, she led
the China team to actively support China's efforts to respond to the COVID-19 outbreak and
completed donations worth more than 10 million U.S Dollars.

Announcement of Full Year Results
28 February 2023

Ms Yang holds a Bachelor of Arts in Journalism from Jinan University, People’s Republic of
China. She also attended Stanford University on a Communications Fellowship in 1985.
Subsequently, Ms Yang received her Master of Arts in Communications Management & On 30 June 2023 (with an extension of time to hold AGM granted from the
Investor Relations from Simmons College in Massachusetts. SGX-ST)

Annual General Meeting

Dr Nieh Chien-Chung

Independent Director - Remuneration Committee Chairman
(Appointed as Director on 8 August 2019 and re-elected in 2022)

] FY 31 December 2023

Dr Nieh Chien-Chung was appointed as an Independent Director of the Company on 8 Announcement of Half Year Results

August 2019 and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee on 8 August 2019. He is a Middle of August 2023
member of the Audit and Nominating Committees.

Announcement of Full Year Results
Dr Nieh is currently a professor of Tamkang University and National Taipei University. He

was also formerly a professor in National Cheng-Chi University. Dr Nieh holds an MBA in Last week of February 2024
Finance in Baruch College, New York, USA. He also holds an MSc in Industrial Engineering,
an MA in Economics and a PhD in Economics in Rutgers University, New Jersey, USA.
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Report on Corporate Governance

Medtecs is committed to achieving and maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance within the Group by embracing the tenets of good governance, including
accountability, transparency and sustainability, which will engender investor confidence and
achieve long-term sustainable business performance. Good corporate governance
establishes and maintains an appropriate culture, values and ethical standards of conduct
at all levels of the Company, which helps to enhance long-term shareholder value whilst
taking into account the interests of other stakeholders.

The Company has published its Sustainability Report as a standalone report on 31 May
2023, in line with the requirements on sustainability reporting prescribed by the SGX-ST.

This report describes the corporate governance framework and practices of the Company
that were in place during FY2022 with specific reference made to the principles and
provisions of the revised Code of Corporate Governance (the “2018 Code”) issued in
August 2018, which forms part of the continuing obligations of the Company under the listing
rules of the SGX-ST.

This Report should be read as a whole, instead of being read separately under the different
principles of the 2018 Code.

The Company has complied in all material aspects with the principles and provisions of the
2018 Code. When there are variations from the provisions under the 2018 Code, we have
provided our explanations in relation to the Company’s practices as to how our practices
are consistent with the aim and philosophy of the principles in question, when appropriate.

(A) BOARD MATTERS

Board's Conduct of its Affairs
Principle 1: The company is headed by an effective Board which is collectively responsible and works
with Management for the long-term success of the company.

Role of the Board of Directors (the "Board")

The Board has the dual role of setting strategic direction, and of setting the company’s
approach to governance. This includes establishing an appropriate culture, values and
ethical standards of conduct at all levels of the Company. The role of the Board is broader
than that of providing oversight as a well-constituted Board would foster more complete
discussions, leading to better decisions and enhanced business performance. The Board
also sets the tone for the Group in respect of ethics, values and desired organisation culture,
and ensure proper accountability within the Group. The Board is responsible for the overall
corporate governance of the Company.
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The Board assumes responsibility for stewardship of the Group and is primarily responsible
for the protection and enhancement of long-term value and returns for the shareholders.
Through the Board's supervision of the management of the business and affairs of the
Group, the Board is able to set the appropriate and desired organisational culture and
ensures proper accountability within the Company. The Board is also responsible for
providing corporate direction, monitoring managerial performance and reviewing financial
results of the Group. In addition, the Board is directly responsible for decision making in
respect of the following matters:

a. approve the business strategies including significant acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries or assets and liabilities;

b. approve the annual budgets, major funding proposals, significant capital expenditures
and investment and divestment proposals;

c. approve the release of the Group’s half year and full year financial results and interested
person transactions;

d. oversee the processes for risk management, financial reporting and compliance, and
evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls, as may be recommended
by the Audit Committee ("AC");

e. review the performance of management, approve the nomination to the Board and
appointment of key management personnel ("KMP"), as may be recommended by the
Nominating Committee ("NC");

f. review and endorse the framework of remuneration for the Board and KMP, as may be
recommended by the Remuneration Committee ("RC");

g. corporate policies in keeping with good corporate governance and business practice;
and

h. consider sustainability issues, e.g. environmental, social and governance factors, as
part of the strategic formulation.

The Board provides shareholders with a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Group’s performance, position and prospects on a half-yearly basis.

The Directors are fiduciaries who act objectively in the best interests of the company and
hold Management accountable for performance. The Directors are of the view that they
have objectively discharged their duties and responsibilities at all times as fiduciaries in the
interest of the Company for FY2022. Directors are entitled to request from Management
and should be provided with additional information as needed to make informed decisions.
The Directors further understand that they must avoid situations in which their own personal
or business interests directly or indirectly conflict or potentially conflict with the interest of
the Group. Where a Director has a conflict or potential conflict of interest in relation to any
matter, he will immediately declare his interest at the meeting of the Directors or send a
written notice to the Chairman and/or Company Secretary, setting out the details of his
interest and the conflict and recuse himself from any discussions on the matter and abstain
from participating in any Board decision.
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Other matters which specifically require the full Board's decision are those involving, inter
alia:

e conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a Director;

e material acquisitions and disposals of assets;

e corporate or financial restructuring and share issuances;

e dividends and other returns to shareholders;

e matters which require the Board's approval as specified under the Company’s interested
person transactions policy; and

o the appointment and removal of the company secretary.

The Board will oversee the Group’s sustainability reporting framework by monitoring the
environment, social and governance issues that impact the Group’s sustainability of its
business.

Board Committees

To assist the Board in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board has established Board
committees, namely the AC, the NC and the RC (collectively, the "Board Committees"),
each of which functions within clearly defined terms of reference and operating procedures
which are reviewed on a regular basis. Each Board Committee is formed by clear written
terms of reference, setting out the composition, duties, authority and accountabilities of
each committee, which have also been detailed in this report on pages 40 to 58.

Board Meetings and Attendance

The Board meets on a quarterly basis and whenever necessary for the discharge of their
duties. Dates of the Board meetings are normally set by the Directors well in advance.
Telephonic attendance and conference audio-visual communication at Board and Board
Committee meetings are allowed under the Company’s Bye-Laws. Decisions of the Board
and Board Committees may also be obtained through circular resolutions. The Board with
the concurrence of the NC is of the view that the Directors have actively participated in
Board and committee meetings, and that each Director has dedicated sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group for FY2022, regardless of their other board
representations.

The number of meetings held by the Board and Board Committees and attendance thereat
during the past financial year are as follows:

DIRECTORS AGM SGM BOARD AC RC NC

No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of

Meetings Attended Meetings Attended Meetings Attended Meetings Attended Meetings Attended Meetings Attended
Kerehe e 1 1 1 1 4 4 - - = = 4 4
e 1 1 1 1 4 4 - - - - 4 4
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Lim Tai Toon 1 1 1 1 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
oy 1 1 1 1 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
ety 1 1 1 1 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Induction and Training of Directors

The Board will constantly examine its size and, with a view to determining the impact of its
number upon effectiveness, decide on what it considers an appropriate size for the Board.
The composition of the Board will be reviewed on an annual basis by the NC to ensure that
the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and experience.

The NC ensures that new Directors are aware of their duties and obligations and is tasked
with deliberating whether a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his/her
duties as a Director. At the time of their appointment, Directors are provided with formal
letters setting out their duties and obligations. Newly appointed Directors will be interviewed
by the Sponsor and be given briefings by the Executive Chairman and/or the Chief
Executive Officer (“CEO”) and/or management of the Company on the business activities
of the Group and its strategic directions and corporate governance practices.

The Board recognises that it is important that all Directors remain updated with the business
and legal developments so as to be able to serve effectively on, and contribute to, the Board.
All Directors have many years of corporate experience and are familiar with their duties and
responsibilities as Directors (including their respective roles as executive, non-executive
and independent directors). In addition, the Directors understand the Group's business and
are provided with opportunities to develop and maintain their skills and knowledge as
Directors at the expense of the Company, including visits to the Group’s operational facilities
and to meet with management in order to gain a better understanding of the Group’s
business operations.

The Directors are provided with continuing briefings and updates in areas such as Directors’
duties and responsibilities, corporate governance, changes in financial reporting standards
and issues which have a direct impact on financial statements, so as to enable them to
properly discharge their duties as Board or Board Committee members. The scope of such
continuous briefings and updates includes overview of industry trends and developments,
governance practices and developing trends, and changes in trends in governance
practices and regulatory requirements pertaining to the business.

On 15 December 2021, the SGX-ST announced that all directors of listed issuers are to
undergo a one-time training on sustainability from 1 January 2022. The Directors had
attended the Environmental, Social and Governance Essentials course conducted by the
Singapore Institute of Directors on 31 May 2022.
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Access to Information

To assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities, the management provides the Board with
a management report containing complete, adequate and timely information prior to the
Board meetings. The management welcomes Directors to seek explanations or
clarifications from and/or convene informal discussions with the management on any aspect
of the Group’s operations or business. Necessary arrangements will be made for informal
discussions or explanations as and when required.

All Directors have separate and independent access to the management, the Company
Secretary and external advisers (where necessary) at all times, at the Company’s expense.
The Company Secretary attends all Board meetings and ensures that Board procedures
and all other rules and regulations applicable to the Company are complied with. The
appointment and removal of the Company Secretary are subject to the Board’s approval.

Changes to regulations are closely monitored by management and for changes which have
an important bearing on the Company or the Directors’ disclosure obligations. The Directors
are briefed during Board meetings.

The Directors and the chairmen of the respective committees, whether as a group or
individually are able to seek independent professional advice as and when necessary, in
furtherance of their duties at the Company's expense. The appointment of such professional
advisor is subject to approval by the Board.

Board Composition and Balance
Principle 2: The Board has an appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and
background in its composition to enable it to make decisions in the best interests of the company.

The Board consists of five (5) Directors, of whom three (3) are independent. The list of
Directors is as follows:

Executive Directors
Clement Yang Ker-Cheng  (Chairman, Executive Director)
William Yang Weiyuan (Deputy Chairman, Executive Director and CEO)

Independent Directors

Lim Tai Toon (Lead Independent Director)
Carol Yang Xiao-Qing (Independent Director)
Dr Nieh Chien-Chung (Independent Director)

The size and composition of the Board and the Board committees are reviewed from time
to time by the NC to ensure that they are of an appropriate size and comprise Directors who
as a group provide the appropriate balance and mix of skills, knowledge, experience and
other aspects of diversity such as gender and age so as to foster effective discussions and
decision making. The NC is of the view that the current Board size of five (5) Directors, of
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whom three (3) are Independent Directors, is appropriate and effective for the time being,
taking into account the nature and scope of the Company's operations.

The current Board comprises persons with diverse expertise and experience in accounting,
business and management, finance and risk management who as a group provide core
competencies necessary to meet the Company's requirements. The Directors' objective
judgment on corporate affairs and collective experience and knowledge are invaluable to
the Group and allows for the useful exchange of ideas and views.

While the Board is of the view that the present combination of skills, talents, experience and
diversity of its directors serves the needs and plans of the Company, as detailed above, the
Board acknowledges that improvements to Board diversity are an ongoing process and the
Board is fully committed to continue to ensure that the Board has an appropriate level of
independence and diversity of thought and background in its composition to enable it to
make decisions in the best interests of the Company. Pursuant to provision 2.4 of the 2018
Code, the Board has also adopted the Board Diversity Policy in 2020. Under the Board
Diversity Policy, the NC will, in reviewing the Board’s composition, rotation and retirement
of Directors and succession planning, consider a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, nationalities, ethnicity, cultural background, educational background,
experience, skills, knowledge, independence and length of service. These differences will
be considered in determining the optimum composition of the Board and when possible,
should be balanced appropriately.

By 2027, the Company aims to have a minimum representation of 40% women directors on
the board. This target reflects the Group's recognition of the importance of gender diversity
in leadership positions and the value it brings in driving innovation and decision-making. To
achieve diversity on the board, the Group will undertake the following initiatives:

a. Broaden the candidate pool: The Company will expand the search and recruitment
process to attract a diverse range of candidates for board positions. This will involve
actively seeking candidates from different backgrounds, including those with diverse
gender, age, nationalities, cultural background, educational background, experience,
skills, and knowledge.

b. Review the board appointment criteria: The Company will conduct a thorough review of
its board appointment criteria to ensure they are inclusive and unbiased. This includes
examining the qualifications, experiences, and skills required for board positions to
identify any potential barriers that may disproportionately affect women. By adopting
more inclusive criteria, the Company will be better positioned to attract a wider range of
candidates and create a more gender-diverse Board.

By adhering to the Board Diversity Policy and actively working towards achieving the
established targets, the Company is committed to creating a diverse and inclusive Board
that reflects the broader stakeholder base and supports the Company's long-term success.
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Independence of Directors

The NC reviews the independence of each Director on an annual basis based on the 2018
Code's definition of what constitutes an independent director. Each Director is required to
declare their relationships with the Company, its related corporations, its substantial
shareholders or its officers (if any) which may affect his/her independence through the
completion and submission of a ‘Confirmation of Independence’ form. Such relationships
include business relationships which the Director, his/her immediate family member, or an
organisation in which the Director and/or his/her immediate family member is a director,
substantial shareholder, partner (with 5% or more stake) or executive officer has with the
Company or any of its related corporations and the director’s direct association with a
substantial shareholder of the company, in the current and immediate past financial year.
The said form, which is drawn up based on the definitions and guidelines set forth in
Principle 2 of the 2018 Code and the Guidebook for Audit Committees in Singapore (Third
Edition) issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore, the Accounting and Corporate
Regulatory Authority and the Singapore Exchange in August 2018, requires each Director
to assess whether he/she considers himself/herself independent despite not having any
relationships identified in the 2018 Code.

The NC is of the view that the three (3) independent directors (who represent more than
half of the Board) are independent under Rule 406(3)(d)) of the Listing Manual Section B:
Rules of Catalist of the SGX-ST (the “Rules of Catalist”), and that there is a strong and
independent element on the Board which is able to exercise objective judgment on
corporate matters independently, in particular, from management, and that no individual or
small group of individuals dominate the Board's decision-making process.

Effective from 11 January 2023 and pursuant to Rule 406(3)(d)(iv) of the Rules of Catalist,
a director will not be independent if he has been a director for an aggregate period of more
than 9 years (whether before or after listing). Such director will continue to be considered
independent between 11 January 2023 and until the conclusion of the issuer's annual
general meeting for financial year ending on or after 31 December 2023 (the "Transitional
Period").

In respect of Ms. Carol Yang Xiao-Qing and Mr Lim Tai Toon, who have served on the Board
for more than nine years from the date of their first appointment on 1 May 2005 and 29
October 2010 respectively, the NC has reviewed (with Ms. Carol Yang Xiao-Qing and Mr
Lim Tai Toon abstaining in relation to their respective assessments) based on, amongst
others, their attendance and contributions at meetings of the Board and Board Committees
and confirmed that Ms. Carol Yang Xiao-Qing and Mr Lim Tai Toon may continue to be
considered independent during the Transitional Period.

Taking into account the views of the NC, the Board concurs that Ms Carol Yang Xiao-Qing
and Mr Lim Tai Toon continue to demonstrate strong independence in character and
judgment in the discharge of their responsibilities as the Directors of the Company. Ms Carol
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Yang Xiao-Qing and Mr Lim Tai Toon have continued to express their individual viewpoints,
debated issues and objectively scrutinised and challenged the management. Ms Carol Yang
Xiao-Qing and Mr Lim Tai Toon have sought clarification and amplification as they deemed
required, including through direct access to the Group's employees. The Board as a whole
has also considered and determined that Ms. Carol Yang Xiao-Qing and Mr Lim Tai Toon
have, over time, developed significant insights into the Group's business and operations
and provided valuable contributions to the Board through their integrity, objectivity and
professionalism notwithstanding their years of service. Further, having gained in-depth
understanding of the business and operating environment of the Group, Ms Carol Yang
Xiao-Qing and Mr Lim Tai Toon provide the Company with much needed experience and
knowledge of the industry. Based on the declaration of independence from Ms Carol Yang
Xiao-Qing and Mr Lim Tai Toon, they have no association with the management that could
compromise their independence. The NC and the Board have concluded that Ms. Carol
Yang Xiao-Qing and Mr Lim Tai Toon continue to be considered as independent directors
during the Transitional Period. Ms Carol Yang Xiao-Qing and Mr Lim Tai Toon have
abstained from participating in the deliberation and decision on their independence.

The Board, after taking into account the NC’s views, is satisfied that Ms Carol Yang Xiao-
Qing, Mr Lim Tai Toon and Dr Nieh Chien-Chung remain as independent directors as there
are no relationships or circumstances which could interfere, or could reasonably be
perceived to interfere with the exercise of independent business judgment of each
independent director.

Mr Lim Tai Toon is resident in Singapore. Hence, the Company is in compliance with the
Rules of Catalist which requires that there should at least be one (1) independent director
who is residing in Singapore.

The Non-Executive Directors ("NEDs") and/or the independent directors ("IDs") participate
actively in Board and Board Committees meetings. With their professional expertise,
experience and knowledge, they provide constructive advice and guidance for effective
discharge by the Board of its principal functions over the Group's strategies, businesses
and other affairs. The NEDs and/or IDs also constructively challenge and aid the
development of directions on strategy as well as review the performance of the
management in achieving agreed goals and objectives. In addition, they also monitor the
reporting of the Group's performance. To facilitate a more effective check on the
management, the NEDs and/or IDs meet and discuss on the Group's affairs without the
presence of the management where necessary, and the chairman of such meetings
provides feedback to the Board and/or Chairman as appropriate.

Chairman and CEO
Principle 3: There is a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and

Management, and no one individual has unfettered powers of decision-making.
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The Group’s Chairman is Mr Clement Yang Ker-Cheng, who was also the CEO of the
Company until 2 May 2018, and who plays an instrumental role in developing the business
of the Group and has also provided the Group with strong leadership vision.

As part of the Group’s management succession plan, Mr William Yang Weiyuan, son of the
Chairman, Mr. Clement Yang Ker-Cheng, was appointed as the CEO of the Company with
effect from 2 May 2018 and subsequently as the Deputy Chairman on 26 February 2021 to
comply with the requirement under Bye-Law 126 of the Company's Bye-Laws that a Deputy
Chairman be appointed. Mr. William Yang Weiyuan is mainly responsible for the day-to-day
operations of the Group.

Given the centrality of the Board to good corporate governance, it is fundamental that the
Chairman sets the right tone. The Chairman, in consultation with Management, sets the
agenda for Board meetings and ensures that meetings are held when necessary, and during
such meetings encourages a full and frank exchange of views from all Directors so that
debates benefit from the full diversity of views.

The CEO is responsible for the management of the overall business and development of
the Group. The CEO together with senior Management execute plans which are in line with
the strategic decisions and goals set out by the Board and ensures that the remaining
Directors are kept updated and informed of the Group’s business operations and financial
position.

Both the Chairman and the CEO exercise control over the quality, quantity and timelines of
information flow between the Board and the management. They ensure that Board meetings
are held when necessary and set the Board meeting agenda in consultation with the
Directors. The Chairman and the CEO review the Board papers before they are presented
to the Board, and they ensure that Board members are provided with complete, adequate
and timely information. Management staff who prepared the papers, or who can provide
additional insight into the matters to be discussed, are invited to present the papers or
participate in the Board meeting at the relevant time. The Chairman and the CEO are
responsible for ensuring effective communication with shareholders and the Company's
compliance with the 2018 Code.

To ensure an appropriate balance of power and authority, increased accountability and
greater capacity of the Board for independent decision making, Mr Lim Tai Toon was
appointed as Lead Independent Director of the Company with effect from 4 May 2012.
Shareholders with concerns may contact him directly, when contact through the normal
channels via the Chairman, the CEO or the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) has failed to
provide satisfactory resolution, or when such contact is inappropriate. All the Independent
Directors, including the Lead Independent Director, meet annually without the presence of
other Executive and Non-Independent Directors to discuss matters of significance which
are then reported to the Chairman and the CEO accordingly.
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All the Board committees are chaired by the Independent Directors. The Board is of the
view that there are sufficient safeguards and checks to ensure that the process of decision
making by the Board is independent and based on collective decisions without any
individual or group of individuals exercising any considerable concentration of power or
influence.

Board Membership
Principle 4: The Board has a formal and transparent process for the appointment and reappointment

of directors, taking into account the need for progressive renewal of the Board.

The NC comprises the following five (5) members:

Carol Yang Xiao-Qing (Chairman)
Lim Tai Toon

Dr Nieh Chien-Chung

Clement Yang Ker-Cheng
William Yang Weiyuan

The existing NC comprises five (5) Directors, of which two (2) are Executive Directors and
three (3) are Non-Executive Independent Directors. The Lead Independent Director is also
a member of the NC. In addition, the NC is cognisant of and ensures that (i) each member
of the NC abstains from voting on any resolutions if there is any conflict of interest and/or
prior relationship (ii) rigorous interviews are conducted with incoming/re-appointed Directors
to ensure they are aware of their obligations as a Director and/or and (iii) it progressively
reviews the criteria for candidacy. In view of the above, the Board is of the view that there
is a sufficiently formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of
the Directors.

The NC, which has written terms of reference, is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on all Board appointments and re-appointments. The key terms of reference
of the NC are as follows:

o toidentify candidates and review all nominations for the appointment or re-appointment
of members of the Board, the managing director of the Group, and to determine the
selection criteria;

e to ensure that all Board appointees undergo an appropriate induction programme;

e to regularly review the Board structure, size and composition and make
recommendations to the Board with regard to any adjustments that are deemed
necessary;

o toidentify gaps in the mix of skills, experience and other qualities required in an effective
Board and to nominate or recommend suitable candidates to fill these gaps;

e to decide whether a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties
as a Director of the Company, particularly where the Director has multiple board
representations;
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e to review the independence of each Director annually, having regard to the
circumstances set forth in the 2018 Code;

e to decide how the Board's performance may be evaluated and propose objective
performance criteria for the Board's approval; and to evaluate the effectiveness of the
Board as a whole and assess the contribution by each individual Director, to the
effectiveness of the Board.

For the financial year under review, the NC held four (4) meetings.

When deciding on the appointment of new Directors to the Board, the NC and the Board
consider a variety of factors, including the core competencies, skills and experience that
are required on the Board and Board Committees, diversity, independence, conflicts of
interest and time commitments.

The NC is responsible for the re-appointment of Directors. In its deliberations on the re-
appointment of existing Directors, the NC takes into consideration the Directors' contribution
and performance. The assessment parameters include attendance as well as the quality of
intervention and special contribution.

Pursuant to Bye-Law 86 of the Company’s Bye-Laws, one-third (1/3) of the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation at each AGM and each Director shall retire at least once every
three (3) years. In addition, Rule 720(4) of the Rules of Catalist which came into effect on 1
January 2019 requires that all directors must submit themselves for re-nomination and re-
appointment at least once every three years. A newly appointed Director is required by Bye-
Law 85 of the Company’s Bye-Laws to hold office until the following AGM of the Company
and shall be eligible for re-election at that AGM.

In this respect, the NC has recommended that the following Directors, in pursuant of Rule
720(4) of the Rules of Catalist and Bye-Law 86 of the Company’s Bye-Laws, who are retiring
and/or up for re-election at the forthcoming AGM, be re-elected as Directors:

e  William Yang Weiyuan
e Lim Tai Toon

Each member of the NC abstains from making any recommendations and/or participating
in any deliberation of the NC and from voting on any resolution, in respect of the assessment
of his own performance or re-nomination as a Director.

The NC is satisfied that sufficient time and attention are being given by the Directors to the
affairs of the Company and Group, notwithstanding that some of the Directors have multiple
board representations. The NC is of the view that it would not be necessary to put a
maximum limit on the number of listed company board representations and other principal
commitments of each Director. In its search and nomination process for new Directors, the
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NC has, at its disposal, search companies, personal contacts and recommendations, to cast
its net as wide as possible for the right candidates.

Key information on the Directors is set out below:

Present Directorships or
Date of last Directorships  chairmanships
re- or held over the Other principal
appointment chairmanships preceding three commitments
as a Director in otherlisted  years in other
companies listed companies

Date of first Due for re-
appointment

at the AGM

Name of
Director

Position appointment as a
Director

Clement | Chairman, 19 November 1997 | 28 April 2021 | None None Universal Weavers | No
Yang Executive Corporation

Ker- Director Contex Corporation
Cheng Medtex Corporation
Medtecs (Asia
Pacific) Pte Ltd
Medtecs (Far East)
Ltd

Medtecs (Taiwan)
Corporation
Medtecs Materials
Technology
Corporation
Cooper
Development Ltd
Medtecs
(Cambodia)
Corporation

William Deputy 2 September 2013 | 28 April 2021 | None None * Med (Taiwan) i

Yang Chairman, Corporation by rotation
Weiyuan | Executive Medtecs MSEZ (Bye-Law
Director and Corp., Ltd 86)

Chief « Cooper

Exgcuﬁve Development Ltd
Officer Hangzhou Jincheng
Medical Supplies
Manufacture Co.,
Ltd

World Join
International Ltd.

Carol Independent | 1 May 2005 29 April 2022 | None None Give2Asia No
Yang Director
Xiao-
Qing

Lim Tai Lead 29 October 2010 28 April 2021 | Medinex Ltd None General Manager, Retirement
Toon Independent Student Castle by rotation
Director Property (Bye-Law
Management 86)
Service (UK) with
Cuscaden Peak
Investment
Food Studio Pvt Ltd
(Sri Lanka)
Biblical Graduate
School of Theology
(Singapore)

Dr Nieh | Independent | 8 August 2019 29 April 2022 | « Microtips None GloLiv Asset No
Chien- Director Technology Management Ltd
Chung Inc. Tamkang University
* FullTech National Taipei
Fiber Glass University
Corp.

Note:

The details of Directors’ credentials including working experience, academic and professional qualifications,
shareholding in the Company and its related corporations and directorships can be found in the Board of Directors
and Directors’ report sections of the annual report.
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The information required under Rule 720(5) of the Rules of Catalist is set out below:

Name of person

William Yang Weiyuan

Lim Tai Toon

Date Of Appointment 2 September 2013 29 October 2010
Date of last re-appointment (if 28 April 2021 28 April 2021
applicable)

Age 40 years old 62 years old
Country Of Principal Residence Taiwan Singapore

Name of person

Other Principal Commitments*
including Directorships*

*"Principal Commitments" has the
same meaning as defined in the 2018
Code.

# These fields are not applicable for
announcements of appointments
pursuant to Listing Rule 704(8) (for
the past 5 years)

William Yang Weiyuan

Medtecs (Taiwan) Corporation
Medtecs MSEZ Corp., Ltd
Cooper Development Ltd
Hangzhou Jincheng Medical
Supplies Manufacture Co., Ltd
World Join International Ltd.

2027 Annual Report

Lim Tai Toon

e General Manager, Student
Castle Property Management
Service (UK) with Cuscaden
Peak Investment

e Food Studio Pvt Ltd (Sri Lanka)

¢ Biblical Graduate School of
Theology (Singapore)

The Board's comments on this
appointment (including rationale,
selection criteria, and the search and
nomination process)

After assessing Mr William Yang's
contribution and performance, the
NC has recommended that Mr
William Yang be re-elected as
Director of the Company.

After assessing Mr Lim Tai Toon’s
contribution and performance, the
NC has recommended that Mr Lim
be re-elected as Director of the
Company.

Whether appointment is executive,
and if so, the area of responsibility

Executive.
Responsible for day-to day
operations of the Group.

Non-Executive.

Job Title (e.g. Lead ID, AC Chairman,
AC Member etc.)

Chief Executive Officer

Chairman of AC, a Member of the
NC and the RC.

Professional Qualifications

Bachelor's Degree in Electrical and
Computer Engineering from New
York Institute of Technology.

Master of Business (Information
Technology) from Curtin University
of Technology (Australia).

Master of Business Administration
from Henly Management College
(United Kingdom).

Bachelor of Accountancy from
National University of Singapore
(Singapore).

Fellow Chartered Accountant of
The Institute of Singapore
Chartered Accountants.

Disclose the following matters
concerning an appointment of director,
chief executive officer, chief financial
officer, general manager or other
officer of equivalent rank.

If the answer to any question is “yes”,
full details must be given.

(a) Whether at any time during the
last 10 years, an application or a
petition under any bankruptcy law
of any jurisdiction was filed
against him or against a
partnership of which he was a
partner at the time when he was a
partner or at any time within 2
years from the date he ceased to
be a partner?

No

No

Working experience and
occupation(s) during the past 10 years

GM of Medtecs (Taiwan)
Corporation since 2010.

CEO of the Group since 2018.

Independent director and AC
Chairman of Medinex Ltd since
2018.

Adjunct lecturer of Loughborough
University till 2020.

Shareholding interest in the listed
issuer and its subsidiaries

Deemed interest in 3,000,000
ordinary shares in the capital of the

Deemed interest in 20,000 ordinary
shares in the capital of the

(b) Whether at any time during the
last 10 years, an application or a
petition under any law of any
jurisdiction was filed against an
entity (not being a partnership) of
which he was a director or an
equivalent person or a key
executive, at the time when he
was a director or an equivalent
person or a key executive of that
entity or at any time within 2 years
from the date he ceased to be a
director or an equivalent person
or a key executive of that entity,
for the winding up or dissolution of
that entity or, where that entity is
the trustee of a business trust,
that business trust, on the ground
of insolvency?

(c) Whether there is any unsatisfied
judgment against him?

(d) Whether he has ever been
convicted of any offence, in
Singapore or elsewhere, involving
fraud or dishonesty which is
punishable with imprisonment, or
has been the subject of any
criminal proceedings (including
any pending criminal proceedings
of which he is aware) for such
purpose?

Appendix 7H) under Rule 720(1) has
been submitted to the listed issuer

Company. Company.
Any relationship (including immediate Son to Mr. Clement Yang Ker- Nil
family relationships) with any existing Cheng, Executive Chairman of the
director, existing executive officer, the | Company; and son to Ms Sherry
issuer and/or substantial shareholder Chen Su-Tien, Non-Executive
of the listed issuer or of any of its Chairman of Medtecs (Taiwan)
principal subsidiaries Corporation, a principal subsidiary

of the Company; and brother to Ms

Wan Chien Yang, general counsel

of the Company, a director of

Medtecs USA Corporation and

Medtecs MSEZ Corp Ltd

(Cambodia) and supervisor and

director of Medtecs (Taiwan)

Corporation.
Conflict of interest (including any Nil Nil
competing business)
Undertaking (in the format set out in Yes Yes

Whether he has ever been
convicted of any offence, in
Singapore or elsewhere, involving
a breach of any law or regulatory
requirement that relates to the
securities or futures industry in
Singapore or elsewhere, or has
been the subject of any criminal

(e

No

No
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Name of person

proceedings (including any
pending criminal proceedings of
which he is aware) for such
breach?

William Yang Weiyuan

Lim Tai Toon

Whether at any time during the
last 10 years, judgment has been
entered against him in any civil
proceedings in Singapore or
elsewhere involving a breach of
any law or regulatory requirement
that relates to the securities or
futures industry in Singapore or
elsewhere, or a finding of fraud,
misrepresentation or dishonesty
on his part, or he has been the
subject of any civil proceedings
(including any pending civil
proceedings of which he is aware)
involving an allegation of fraud,
misrepresentation or dishonesty
on his part?

No

(9)

Whether he has ever been
convicted in Singapore or
elsewhere of any offence in
connection with the formation or
management of any entity or
business trust?

No

(h)

Whether he has ever been
disqualified from acting as a
director or an equivalent person of
any entity (including the trustee of
a business trust), or from taking
part directly or indirectly in the
management of any entity or
business trust?

No

No

(i)

Whether he has ever been the
subject of any order, judgment or
ruling of any court, tribunal or
governmental body, permanently
or temporarily enjoining him from
engaging in any type of business
practice or activity?

No

0]

Whether he has ever, to his
knowledge, been concerned with
the management or conduct, in
Singapore or elsewhere, of the
affairs of:—

(i)  any corporation which has
been investigated for a
breach of any law or
regulatory requirement
governing corporations in
Singapore or elsewhere; or

No

(ii)  any entity (not being a
corporation) which has
been investigated for a
breach of any law or
regulatory requirement
governing such entities in
Singapore or elsewhere; or

No

(iii) any business trust which
has been investigated for a
breach of any law or
regulatory requirement
governing business trusts in
Singapore or elsewhere; or

No

No
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Name of person William Yang Weiyuan Lim Tai Toon

(iv) any entity or business trust | No No
which has been investigated
for a breach of any law or
regulatory requirement that
relates to the securities or
futures industry in Singapore
or elsewhere, in connection
with any matter occurring or
arising during that period
when he was so concerned
with the entity or business
trust?

(k) Whether he has been the subject | No No
of any current or past
investigation or disciplinary
proceedings, or has been
reprimanded or issued any
warning, by the Monetary
Authority of Singapore or any
other regulatory authority,
exchange, professional body or
government agency, whether in
Singapore or elsewhere?

Disclosure applicable to the
appointment of Director only.

Any prior experience as a director of N.A. N.A.
an issuer listed on the Exchange?

If Yes, please provide details of prior N.A. N.A.
experience.
If No, Please state if the director has N.A. N.A.

attended or will be attending training
on the roles and responsibilities of a
director of a listed issuer as
prescribed by the Exchange.

Please provide details of relevant
experience and the nominating
committee’s reasons for not requiring
the director to undergo training as
prescribed by the Exchange (if
applicable).

Board Performance
Principle 5: The Board undertakes a formal annual assessment of its effectiveness as a whole, and
that of each of its board committees and individual directors.

The NC reviews the criteria for evaluating the Board's performance and recommends to the
Board a set of objective performance criteria and process for the evaluation of the
effectiveness of the Board as a whole, each Board committee separately as well as the
contribution by the Chairman and each individual Director to the Board with a view to
enhancing effectiveness to promote long-term shareholders’ value. Based on the
recommendations of the NC, the Board has established processes for evaluating the
effectiveness of the Board as a whole and of each Board committee separately.

The performance criteria for the evaluation includes an evaluation of the size and
composition of the Board and the respective Board committees, the
Board/committee/Directors’ access to information, accountability, Board/committee
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processes, Board/committee performance in relation to discharging its principal
responsibilities, communication with management and standards of conduct of the Directors
thereto. The Chairman and the CEO would then act on the results of the performance
evaluation, and where appropriate, propose new members to be appointed to the Board or
seek the resignation of Directors, in consultation with the NC.

In the course of the year, the NC has assessed the performance of individual Directors by
preparing a questionnaire to be completed by each Director, which were then collated and
the findings were analyzed and discussed with a view to implementing certain
recommendations to further enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

The Board, with the concurrence of the NC, is of the view that the performance of the Board
as a whole is satisfactory, the Board Committees operate effectively and each Director is
contributing to the overall effectiveness of the Board. No external facilitator was used in the
evaluation process for the financial year under review.

(B) REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies
Principle 6: The Board has a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on director
and executive remuneration, and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors and key

management personnel. No director is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

The RC reviews and makes recommendations to the Board on a framework of remuneration
as well as specific remuneration packages for each Director and KMP to and considers all
aspects of remuneration including but not limited to Directors' fees, salaries, allowances,
bonuses, options, benefits-in-kind and termination terms, to ensure they are fair.

The RC comprises the following three (3) members, all of whom, including the RC Chairman
are Independent Directors:

Dr Nieh Chien-Chung (Chairman) (Appointed on 8 August 2019)
Lim Tai Toon
Carol Yang Xiao-Qing

The members of the RC have many years of corporate experience. In addition, the RC has
access to expert professional advice on remuneration matters as and when necessary.

The members of the RC carry out their duties in accordance with the terms of reference
which include, amongst others, the following:

o to review Directors' fees to ensure that they are at sufficiently competitive levels;
e to assess the benefits of implementing a new share option scheme to incentivise and
retain talent within the organisation.
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e to review and advise the Board on the terms of appointment and remuneration of its
members, CEO, KMP of the Group and all managerial staff who are related to any of
the Directors or the CEO;

o toreview the terms of the employment arrangements with management so as to develop
consistent group wide employment practices subject to regional differences;

e to review the Group’s obligations arising in the event of termination of the Executive
Directors’ and KMP’s contracts of service, to ensure that such contracts of service
contain fair and reasonable termination clauses which are not overly generous.

e torecommend to the Board in consultation with senior management and the Chairman
of the Board, any long term incentive scheme; and

e to review and approve any proposals or recommendations relating to KMPs'
remuneration.

For the financial year under review, the RC held four (4) meetings.

There being no specific necessity, the RC did not seek the service of an external
remuneration consultant in FY2022.

Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 7: The level and structure of remuneration of the Board and key management personnel
are appropriate and proportionate to the sustained performance and value creation of the company,
taking into account the strategic objectives of the company.

The Company adopts a formal procedure for the fixing of the remuneration packages of
individual Directors. No Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration. In setting
remuneration packages, the Company takes into account pay and employment conditions
within the same industry and in comparable companies, as well as the Group’s relative
performance and the performance of individual Directors.

Each of the two (2) Executive Directors has signed a service contract and the compensation
framework for the KMP and the Executive Directors comprises monthly salaries, annual
bonuses and allowances. Each Executive Director’'s annual bonus is determined with
reference to the performance and value creation taking into account the strategic objectives
of the Company. The Company’s Share Option Scheme, last renewed in 2012, has lapsed
on 29 May 2022. The Company is currently assessing the benefits of implementing a new
share option scheme to provide long-term incentive for Directors and KMP to encourage
loyalty and align the interest of the Directors and KMP with those of the shareholders. None
of the service contracts has onerous removal clauses. Each of the Chairman’s and the
CEO'’s service contracts has a fixed appointment period.

Annual review of the remuneration of Executive Directors and KMP is also carried out by
the RC to ensure that the remuneration of the Executive Directors and KMP is appropriate
to attract, retain and motivate the directors to provide good stewardship of the Company
and KMP to successfully manage the Company for the long term, and that such
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remuneration are commensurate with their performance and value-add to the Group, giving
due regard to the financial and commercial health and business needs of the Group. The
performance of the Chairman and the CEO (along with that of other KMP) is reviewed
periodically by the RC.

The NEDs have no service contracts with the Company and their terms are specified in the
Bye-Laws. NEDs are paid a basic fee for serving as a Director and an additional fee for
serving on any of the Board Committees. In determining the quantum of such fees, factors
such as frequency of meetings, time spent and responsibilities of Directors are taken into
account. Such fees are subject to the approval of the shareholders as a lump sum payment
at the AGM. The Board is of the view that the remuneration of the NEDs for FY2022 is
appropriate to the level of contribution based on the factors above.

Disclosure on Remuneration

Principle 8: The company is transparent on its remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration,
the procedure for setting remuneration, and the relationships between remuneration, performance
and value creation.

The breakdown of remuneration of the Directors, the top KMPs (who are not also Directors
or the CEO) and employees who are immediate family members of a Director/CEQO is set
out below:

Remuneration of Directors

Names of Directors Based/fixed Variable or Director’s | Total % Remuneration Bands
salary ™M % performance fee® % $$°000
related

income/bonus ® %

Executive Directors

Clement Yang Ker-Cheng 98% - 2% 100% $$500,000 and above

William Yang Weiyuan 99% - 1% 100% S$$500,000 and above

Independent Directors

Lim Tai Toon - - 100% 100% Below S$$250,000
Carol Yang Xiao-Qing - - 100% 100% Below $$250,000
Dr Nieh Chien-Chung - - 100% 100% Below $$250,000

(1) Base salary includes contractual bonus.
@) Variable payment includes performance bonus and profit sharing.
(3) Approved by shareholders of the Company as a lump sum of S$284,000 at the AGM held on 29 April 2022.
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Remuneration of Top Five Key Management Personnel who are not Directors or the CEO

Names of key Based/fixed Variable or Total % Remuneration Bands
executives salary % performance S$$°000
(who are not related
Directors) income/bonus @ %
James Lin Yi-Ching 100% - 100% Below $$250,000
Kao Vereak 100% - 100% Below S$250,000
Thomas Tu 100% - 100% Below $$250,000
Francisco Ramon Jr. 100% - 100% Below S$250,000
Duanmu Jianliang 100% - 100% Below S$250,000

(1) Base salary includes contractual bonus.

@ Variable payment includes performance bonus and profit sharing.

The 2018 Code requires companies to fully disclose the remuneration of each individual
Director and the CEO on a named basis in exact quantum. In the event of non-disclosure,
the Company is required to provide reasons for such non-disclosure and how the
Company’s practices confirm to the principle.

After much deliberation, the Board is of the view that full disclosure of the specific
remuneration of each individual Director and the CEO is not in the best interests of the
Company or its stakeholders. In arriving at this decision, the Board had taken into
consideration, inter alia, the commercial sensitivity and confidential nature of remuneration
matters, the relative size of the Group, the competitive business environment in which the
Group operates in, and the negative impact such disclosure may have on the Group in
attracting and retaining talent at the Board level on a long-term basis. The Board is of the
view that the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors and the Executive Directors
(including the Chairman and CEO), is in line with industry practice. As an alternative, the
Company has disclosed the name and remuneration of each individual Director and the
CEO within bands of S$250,000.

The aggregate of total remuneration paid to the top five KMP (who are not Directors or the
CEO) in FY2022 was S$506,000.

There was no employee who is a substantial shareholder of the Company or an immediate
family member of a Director or the CEO or a substantial shareholder and whose
remuneration exceeded S$150,000 during FY2022.

There are no termination, retirement and post-employment benefits that may be granted to
Directors and KMP (who are not Directors or the CEO) that may be granted over and above
what has been disclosed.

Approval of Shareholders
Directors’ fees for FY2022 were approved by shareholders at the AGM convened in 2022.
The remuneration framework for Executive Directors and KMP has been approved by the
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RC and endorsed by the Board. The Board considers that the remuneration framework need
not be approved by the shareholders.

(C) ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Risk Management and Internal Controls

Principle 9: The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and ensures that Management
maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls, to safeguard the interests of the
company and its shareholders.

The Board, with the assistance from the AC, is responsible for the overall governance of
risk by ensuring that the management maintains sound systems of risk management and
internal controls to safeguard shareholders' interest and the Group's assets, and for
determining the nature and extent of the significant risks which the Company is willing to
take in achieving strategic objectives and value creation.

The AC is responsible for making the necessary recommendations to the Board such that
an opinion regarding the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group can be made by the Board in the annual report of the Company
according to requirements in the Rules of Catalist and the 2018 Code.

On an annual basis, the Group's internal audit function prepares an audit plan taking into
consideration risks identified and assessed from the risk management system. This risk-
based audit plan is approved by the AC and audits are conducted to assess the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group's internal control systems in addressing financial,
operational, compliance and information technology controls, and risk management system.
In addition, material control weaknesses over financial reporting, if any, are highlighted by
the external auditors in the course of the statutory audit.

All audit findings and recommendations made by the internal and external auditors are
reported to the AC and significant findings are discussed at the AC meetings. The Group's
internal audit function follows up on all recommendations to ensure timely remediation of
audit issues and reports the status to the AC every quarter. The AC, having reviewed the
adequacy of the Group’s internal control systems, is satisfied that effective internal controls
were put in place and supported by a sound internal audit process and is of the view that
the Group’s internal audit function is independent, effective and adequately resourced.

Assurance from the CEO and the CFO

The Board has received written assurance from the CEO, CFO and key personnel who are
responsible regarding the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company'’s risk management
and internal control systems that:
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a. the financial records of the Group have been properly maintained and the financial
statements for FY2022 give a true and fair view of the Group's operations and finances;
and

b. the risk management and internal control systems in place within the Group are
adequate and effective in addressing the material risks in the Group in its current
business environment including material financial, operational, compliance and
information technology risks.

Based on the reviews conducted by the management and findings from both the internal
and external auditors throughout the financial year, as well as the assurance from the CEO
and the CFO, the Board with the concurrence of the AC, is of opinion that the Group's
internal controls in addressing financial, operational, compliance and information
technology risks as well as the Group's risk management system which the Group considers
relevant and material to its operations were adequate and effective as at 31 December 2022.

The Board notes that the systems of internal controls and risk management provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the Group will not be adversely affected by
any event that can be reasonably foreseen. Furthermore, the Board also acknowledges that
no systems of internal controls and risks management can provide absolute assurance in
this regard, or absolute assurance against the occurrence of material errors, poor judgment
in decision-making, human errors, losses, fraud or other irregularities.

Financial risks relating to the Group are set out in Note 32 to the Financial Statements of
this annual report.

Audit Committee
Principle 10: The Board has an Audit Committee ("AC") which discharges its duties objectively.

The AC comprises the following three (3) members, all of whom are Independent Directors:-

Lim Tai Toon (Chairman)
Carol Yang Xiao-Qing
Dr Nieh Chien-Chung

All members of the AC have many years of experience in senior management positions in
both financial and industrial sectors, and at least two members, namely Lim Tai Toon and
Carol Yang Xiao-Qing have recent and relevant accounting or related financial management
expertise or experience, and none of the members of the AC are former partners or directors
of the Company's existing auditing firm or auditing corporation. The Board is of the view that
the AC members, having recent and relevant accounting and related financial management
expertise or experience, are appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities.

The primary reporting line of the internal audit function is to the AC, which also oversees
the quality and integrity of the accounting, auditing, internal controls and financial practices
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of the Group as well as determines the appointment, termination and remuneration of the
head of the internal audit function. The internal audit function has full access to the
Company's documents, records, properties and personnel, including the AC.

The Audit Committee performs the following delegated functions in accordance with its
terms of reference:

e reviewing the significant financial reporting issues and judgements so as to ensure the
integrity of the financial statements of the company and any announcements relating to
the company's financial performance;

e reviews the half-yearly announcements and annual financial statements and the
auditors’ report on the annual financial statements of the Group before they are
presented to the Board, focusing on:

- significant changes in accounting policies and issues which have a direct impact on
financial statements and presentation of the financial statements;

- compliance with accounting standards, legal and the SGX-ST requirements;

- management judgments and estimates that may have a material impact on the
Group; and

- findings of the external auditors, including significant audit adjustments and any
other matters which the external auditors would like to bring to the attention of the
AC;

e reviews the audit plans and scope of audit examination of the external auditors;

e evaluates the cost effectiveness, independence and objectivity of external auditors;

e reviews the adequacy of the internal audit function (including the internal accounting
controls) and the scope and results of the internal audit procedures;

e ensures the adequacy of the co-operation given by management to the internal and
external auditors;

e evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control systems including
financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls, and risk
management of the Group by reviewing written reports from the internal and external
auditors, and the management’s responses and actions to correct any deficiencies;

e reviewing the assurance from the CEO and the CFO on the financial records and
financial statements;

e reviews interested person transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Rules
of Catalist;

e meets with the internal and external auditors, other committees, and the management
to discuss any matters that these groups believe should be discussed privately with the
AC;

e reviews legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact or a possible
impropriety on the financial statements, related compliance policies and programmes
and any reports received from regulators;

e reviews the independence, effectiveness and adequacy of the internal audit function;
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e reviews the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by external auditors;
reports actions and minutes of the AC to the Board of Directors with such
recommendations as the AC considers appropriate;

o making recommendations to the Board on: (i) the proposals to the shareholders on the
appointment and removal of external auditors; and (ii) the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditors;

e reviewing the policy and arrangements for concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting or other matters to be safely raised, independently investigated and
appropriately follows up on. The company publicly discloses, and clearly communicates
to employees, the existence of a whistle-blowing policy and procedures for raising such
concerns; and

e considers other matters as requested by the Board.

The Company has in place a whistle-blowing policy which sets out the procedures for
employees of the Group to, in confidence, make a report to the Company on misconduct or
wrongdoing relating to the Company and its officers. A whistle-blower may report his or her
concerns to his or her immediate supervisor, the HR Supervisor or HR Manager or
confidentially to the Company’s Audit Committee through a designated email address. If the
whistle-blower is not comfortable about writing in, he or she can telephone or meet the
appropriate officer in confidence at a time and location to be determined together.
Depending on the nature of the concern raised or information provided, the investigation
conducted may involve, in order of succession, the HR Department, the Country Manager,
the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee and the external auditors or internal auditor.
The investigating officer(s) will communicate the findings of the investigation(s) to the
Chairman or the Audit Committee for their necessary action. The Company ensures that the
identity of the whistle-blower is kept confidential (unless the whistle-blower chooses to
identify himself or herself) and all concerns raised and communications made by the
whistleblower are considered highly confidential.

The Company is committed to ensuring protection of the whistle-blower against detrimental
or unfair treatment. If an employee raises a genuine concern under the whistle-blowing
policy, he or she will not be at risk of losing his or her job or suffering from retribution or
harassment as a result. If the concern raised is not confirmed by the investigation, no action
will be taken against the employee provided that he or she acts in good faith. The Audit
Committee is responsible for overseeing the implementation of the whistle-blowing policy
and its terms of reference include the oversight and monitoring of whistle-blowing.

The AC also monitors proposed changes in accounting policies, standards and issues which
have a direct impact on financial statements and discusses the accounting implications of
major transactions. In addition, the AC advises the Board on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls and risk management systems, and the
contents and presentation of its reports.
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The AC is authorised to investigate any matter within its terms of reference and has full
access to the management and also full discretion to invite any Executive Director or KMP
to attend its meetings, as well as reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its function
properly. The AC has also conducted a review of interested person transactions, details of
which are set out in the Directors’ Statements.

Each member of the AC shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in respect of matters
he/she is interested in.

In the course of the financial year, the AC carried out independent reviews of the financial
statements of the Group before announcements of the Group’s half-year and full-year
results were released. In the process, the AC considered the reasonableness of estimates,
judgements and assumptions made and applied by management and any significant
matters which would have a material impact on the financial statements.

In its review of the financial statements for FY2022, the AC also reviewed together with
management, the following key audit matters (“KAMs”) reported by the external auditor.
The AC had concurred with management on the methodologies, accounting treatments and
estimates adopted, as well as the disclosures made in the financial statements, in respect
of such KAMs raised. This should be read in conjunction with the Independent Auditor’s
Report for FY2022.

KAMs How the KAMs were addressed by AC
Assessment of The AC considered and evaluated the valuation technique
inventory valuation applied by management, focusing on the key assumptions

applied in identifying the slow-moving and obsolete inventories
and assessing the amounts of allowance or write down required
based on the production plan and expected future market
demand as a result of changes in current market conditions and
the latest invoice prices.

The AC considered the findings of the external auditor, including
their assessment of the suitability of the valuation technique and
key assumptions applied in the inventory valuation.

The AC was satisfied with the inventory valuation process,
appropriateness of the valuation technique applied and key
assumptions applied for the inventory as disclosed in the
financial statements.

Allowance of expected | The AC considered and evaluated the valuation technique
credit losses (‘ECL”) | applied by management, focusing on the key assumptions
for trade receivables applied in establishing the ECL impairment model through
analysis of receivables ageing, review of historical credit loss
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experiences and consideration of data and information used by
management in determining the forward-looking adjustments
based on current economic condition.

The AC considered the findings of the external auditor, including
their assessment of the suitability of the valuation technique and
key assumptions applied in the ECL impairment assessment for
trade receivables.

The AC was satisfied with the ECL impairment process,
appropriateness of the valuation technique applied and key
assumptions applied for the trade receivables as disclosed in
the financial statements.

Impairment The AC considered and evaluated the valuation technique
assessment on applied by management, focusing on the key assumptions
property, plant and applied in the determination of the recoverable amount of these
equipment assets.

The AC considered the findings of the external auditor, including
their assessment of the suitability of the valuation methodology
and underlying key assumptions applied in determining the
recoverable amount of these assets.

The AC was satisfied with the impairment review process, the
valuation methodology applied and the assessment that no
impairment in property, plant and equipment was required.

Impairment The AC considered and evaluated the valuation technique
assessment on applied by management, focusing on the key assumptions
investments in applied in the determination of the recoverable amount of
subsidiaries. investment in subsidiaries.

The AC considered the findings of the external auditor, including
their assessment of the suitability of the valuation methodology
and underlying key assumptions applied in determining the
recoverable amount of the investment in subsidiaries.

The AC was satisfied with the impairment review process, the
valuation methodology applied and the assessment that no
impairment in investment in subsidiaries was required.

In compliance with the amendments made to the Catalist Rules 712(2) on 12 February 2021,
the Company had appointed Ernst & Young LLP (“EY Singapore”) as its auditor for FY2022
at the Company’s SGM held on 29 September 2022.
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Annually, the AC meets with the internal auditors and the external auditors separately in the
absence of the management to review the adequacy of audit arrangements, with particular
emphasis on the scope and quality of their audits, the independence and objectivity of the
external auditors and the observations of the auditors.

The AC has reviewed the independence of the external auditors through discussion with the
external auditors as well as by reviewing the non-audit services by the Company’'s
independent external auditors, as set out below and the nature and extent of such services
would prejudice independence of the external auditors. The AC has recommended to the
Board that the external auditors be re-appointed for the ensuing year subject to
shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM.

Fees paid/payable ($°000) % of total
FY2022

Audit fees - EY Singapore 235 49
Audit fees - SyCip Gorres 175 37
Velayo & Co.

Audit fees - Ernst & Young 29 6
Taiwan

Non-audit fees - SyCip 38 8

Gorres Velayo & Co. and
Ermst & Young Taiwan
(Agreed upon procedures
and transfer pricing study)

Total 477 100

The non-audit services rendered by SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co. (“SGV”) and Ernst & Young
Taiwan during FY2022 were not substantial (less than 50% of the aggregate fees
paid/payable). SGV had been the Company’s auditor since year 1999. In compliance with
the amendments made to the Catalist Rules 712(2), the Company had appointed EY
Singapore as its auditor to audit the financial statements of the Company and the Group,
with SGV participating as a component auditor. The Company confirms its compliance with
the Catalist Rules 712 and 715.

The AC and Board, having taken into consideration various factors, including the adequacy
of the resources, the audit engagements, and the experience of EY Singapore of the
professional staff who will be assigned to audit the Company’s accounts, and EY
Singapore’s audit proposal submitted to the Company, are satisfied that the appointment of
EY Singapore meets the audit requirements of the Group and will not compromise the
standard and effectiveness of the audit of the Company and the Group.
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The AC has accordingly recommended to the Board the re-appointment of EY Singapore
as the lead auditor of the Company, with SGV as the component auditor, at the forthcoming
AGM, subject to shareholders’ approval.

(D) SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT

Shareholder Rights and Conduct of General Meetings

Principle 11: The company treats all shareholders fairly and equitably in order to enable them to
exercise shareholders’ rights and have the opportunity to communicate their views on matters
affecting the company. The company gives shareholders a balanced and understandable
assessment of its performance, position and prospects.

Engagement with Shareholders

Principle 12: The company communicates regularly with its shareholders and facilitates the
participation of shareholders during general meetings and other dialogues to allow shareholders to
communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.

Engagement with Stakeholders

Principle 13: The Board adopts an inclusive approach by considering and balancing the needs and
interests of material stakeholders, as part of its overall responsibility to ensure that the best interests
of the company are served.

Shareholder rights and shareholder meetings

General meetings (including AGMs) are important forums for dialogue and interaction with
shareholders. All shareholders are treated fairly and equitably by the Company and all
shareholders will receive the notice of the general meeting and the accompanying
documents in order to enable them to exercise their rights at the relevant meeting. All
shareholders will be informed in the relevant notice or accompanying documents the rules
governing voting at such meeting.

Further, the Company welcomes the views of the shareholders on matters concerning the
Company and encourages shareholders' participation at the AGM. The chairmen of the AC,
NC and RC of the Company are present at the general meetings to answer questions from
the shareholders. The external auditors are also present to assist the Directors in
addressing any relevant queries by shareholders. All Board members had attended the
general meeting via live webcast last year, and provided their inputs on the questions
submitted by the shareholders in advance of the general meeting.

Under the Bye-Laws of the Company, shareholders can vote in person or by proxy through
the appointment of not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote on their behalf at
general meetings of shareholders. There is no limit on the number of proxies that can be
appointed by nominee companies. Voting in absentia at the general meetings by electronic
means is supported.
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Separate resolutions are proposed for substantially separate issues at the meeting, unless
the issues are interdependent and linked so as to form one significant proposal, in which
case the Company will explain the reasons for bundling the resolutions and disclose the
material implications in the notice of the general meeting. Each item of special business
included in the notice of the general meeting is accompanied, where appropriate, by an
explanation for the proposed resolution. All resolutions are voted by poll, following which
the detailed results showing, inter alia, the number of votes cast for and against each
resolution and the respective percentages will be announced.

The Company Secretary, with the assistance of his representatives, prepares minutes of
shareholders’ meetings. These minutes are available to shareholders upon request, and
such minutes which record substantial comments or queries from shareholders and
responses from the Board and the management are released via SGXNET and will be
published on the Company's corporate website as soon as practicable after such meetings
and in any case, within one (1) month from the date of the general meeting.

In line with the continuing disclosure obligations of the Company pursuant to the Rules of
Catalist, the Board's policy is that all shareholders should be informed in a comprehensive
manner and on a timely basis of all material developments that would be likely to materially
affect the price or value of the Company’s shares. The Board is of the view that the
Company has been compliant with the continuing disclosure obligations under the Rules of
Catalist in ensuring that price and/or trade sensitive information is publicly released on a
timely basis, and financial results and annual reports are announced or issued within the
period stipulated under the Rules of Catalist and applicable laws. All shareholders of the
Company receive the annual report and notice of AGM. The notice of AGM is also advertised
in the newspapers.

The Company is committed to achieving sustainable income and growth to enhance long-
term shareholder return. The Company does not have a fixed policy on the declaration of
dividends. The form, frequency and amount of future dividends declared will depend on
earnings, general financial position, results of operation, capital requirements, cash flow,
general business condition, or development plans and other factors as the Directors may,
in their absolute discretion, deem appropriate.

Engagement with shareholders

The Company believes that a high standard of disclosure is key to raising the level of
corporate governance. Apart from the SGXNET announcements released on the half and
full year results and news releases and its annual report and minutes of its general meetings,
the Company updates shareholders on its corporate developments and new initiatives
through its corporate website at http://www.medtecs.com. The Company currently does not
have an investor relations policy. However, the shareholders can contact the Company with
questions via investor.relations@medtecs.com, which has been made available on the
Company’s corporate website.
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The Company values dialogue sessions with its shareholders. The Company believes in
regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders and is committed to hearing
shareholders' views and addressing their concerns.

Engagement with stakeholders

The Company has identified material stakeholders as those who are impacted by the
Group’s business and operations as well as those who have a material impact on the
success of the Group’s business and operations. Such stakeholders include shareholders
(including institutional and individual investors), customers, employees, government and
policy-makers, local communities, suppliers, and financial institutions. The Company
considers that addressing the feedback and needs of the material stakeholders is essential
to the success of the Group's business as well as integral to achieving sustainable growth.
For more on how the Company identifies material stakeholder groups, as well as the
Company'’s strategy and key areas of focus in terms of stakeholder engagement, please
refer to the Company’s Sustainability Report for FY2022 which has been published on 31
May 2023. The Company engages its stakeholders through various channels to ensure that
the best business interests of the Group are balanced against the needs and interests of its
stakeholders.

The Group engages with their different stakeholders through their website at
http://www.medtecs.com (which provides for various communication channels to the
Company and its subsidiaries), at the Company’s annual general meeting, through

corporate publications and announcements, trade shows, charities and donations among
others. Detailed explanation on this engagement process has been provided in the
Sustainability Report published by the Company on 31 May 2023.

(E) MATERIAL CONTRACTS

There were no material contracts entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
involving the interests of the CEO, each of the Directors or controlling shareholders, which
are either still subsisting at the end of FY2022 or if not subsisting, entered into since the
end of the previous financial year ended 31 December 2021.

(F) DEALING IN SECURITIES

In line with the Rules of Catalist, the Company has adopted and implemented its own
internal compliance code on dealing in securities. This has been made known to Directors,
officers and staff of the Company and of the Group. In particular, it has been highlighted
that it is an offence to deal in the Company’s securities when the officers (Directors and
employees) are in possession of unpublished material price sensitive information in relation
to those securities. Dealings in the Company’s securities are prohibited one month prior to
the announcement of the Company’s half year and full year results. The officers are also
discouraged from dealing in the Company’s securities based on short-term considerations.
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The Company provides window periods for dealing in the Company’s securities and issues
reminders that the law on insider trading is applicable at all times.

The Board confirms that for FY2022, the Company has complied with Rule 1204(19) of the
Rules of Catalist on dealing in securities.

(G) CATALIST SPONSOR

The Company is currently under the SGX-ST Catalist sponsor-supervised regime. The
continuing sponsor of the Company is R & T Corporate Services Pte. Ltd. (the "Sponsor").
There was no non-sponsor fee paid by the Company to the Sponsor during FY2022. The
amount of fees paid to Rajah & Tann Singapore LLP, an affiliate of R & T Corporate Services
Pte. Ltd., for work done in FY2022, was approximately S$100,800.

(H) USE OF PLACEMENT PROCEEDS

The Company will make periodic announcements on the utilisation of the remaining US$1.4
million, representing 35.9% of the net proceeds of US$3.9 million from the private
placement which was completed on 15 October 2015, as and when such remaining
proceeds are materially disbursed pursuant to Rule 704(30).
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List of Properties

TENURE OF
DESCRIPTION LOCATION AREA (in sq m)
LEASE (yrs)
Land ™ Srok Kampong Siam Kampong Cham Province, 183,267 70 years
Cambodia
Factory Srok Kampong Siam Kampong Cham Province, 40,064 70 years
Building Cambodia
Land (" Manhattan Special Economic Zone, Corner Public 75,000 50 years
Road, Thanh Village, Sangkat, Bavet City, Svay
Reang Province, Kingdom of Cambodia
Factory Manhattan Special Economic Zone, Corner Public 13,146 50 years
Building Road, Thanh Village, Sangkat, Bavet City, Svay
Reang Province, Kingdom of Cambodia
Office Space Khan Toul Kork, Phnom Penh, Cambodia 960 2 years
Industrial Lot 7th Street, Phase Il Mariveles Bataan, Philippines 17,856 25 years
Industrial Lot® | SBMA, Olongapo City, Bataan, Philippines 13,124 24 years
Industrial Lot 7th Street, Phase Il Mariveles Bataan, Philippines 2,756 50 years
Industrial Lot 7th Street, Phase Il Mariveles Bataan, Philippines 4,248 50 years
Industrial Lot 7th Street, Phase | Mariveles Bataan, Philippines 2,980 5 years
Industrial Lot 7th Street, Phase Il Mariveles Bataan, Philippines 5,000 50 years
Office Space 22F, The World Centre, 330 Sen. Gil J. Puyat 742 3 years
Ave., Makati City, Philippines
Factory and Qinghe Economic Park, GaoQing County, Zibo 2,880 3 years
Office Building City, Shandong, China
Factory 202 Zhangshan Road, Renhe Town, Yuhang 19,417 20 years
Building District, Hangzhou, China
Land (" 202 Zhangshan Road, Renhe Town, Yuhang 15,333 50 years
District, Hangzhou, China

(1) The land properties are all held for manufacturing purposes and are 100% owned by the Group.

(2) This property is held for investment purposes. The property has been revalued as of valuation date, 31 December 2022,
and the value amounts to an aggregate of US$3.8 million. The aggregated value of these properties do not represent
more than 15% of the consolidated net tangible assets of the Group or contribute to more than 15% of the consolidated
pre-tax operating profit of the Group. Further information related to the investment property is disclosed in Note 6 of the

financial statements of this FY2022 annual report.
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED
AS AT 31 MAY 2023

Number of shares issued: 549,411,240

Class of shares: Ordinary shares

Voting Rights: On a show of hands, 1 vote for each member
On a poll, 1 vote for each ordinary share

No. of treasury shares: 4,500,000

Subsidiary holdings: Nil

Distributions of Shareholdings

SIZE OF NO. OF % NO. OF %
SHAREHOLDINGS SHAREHOLDERS - SHARES -
1 - 99 12 0.16 433 0.00
100 - 1,000 516 6.82 319,682 0.06
1,001 - 10,000 4,206 55.61 17,281,081 3.17
10,001 - 1,000,000 2,805 37.09 159,331,871 29.24
1,000,001 AND ABOVE 24 0.32 367,978,173 67.53
TOTAL 7,563 100.00 544,911,240 100.00

Shareholdings of Directors

AS AT 31 May 2023

Direct Interest % Deemed Interest %
Clement Yang Ker-Cheng® 24,673,285 4.53 33,075,198 6.07
William Yang Weiyuan ® - - 3,000,000 0.55
Lim Tai Toon © - - 20,000 0.004

Notes:
(a) Clement Yang Ker-Cheng is deemed to be interested in 18,506,621 shares and 14,568,577 shares held by South
World Investment Ltd. and Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd., respectively.
(b) William Yang Weiyuan is deemed to be interested in 3,000,000 shares acquired through his sub-brokerage account
maintained with a Taiwan brokerage house.

(¢) Lim Tai Toon is deemed to be interested in 20,000 shares held by his wife, Mdm Wong Lai Kwan.
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Substantial Shareholders

AS AT 31 May 2023 (based on the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Direct Interest % Deemed Interest %
Clement Yang Ker-Cheng 24,673,285 4.53 33,075,198 6.07

Percentage of Shareholdings in Public’s Hands

As at 31 May 2023, approximately 88.85% of the total number of issued shares in the capital of the
Company (excluding any treasury shares and subsidiary holdings as well as the TDRs) are held in
the hand of the public as defined in the Rules of Catalist. Accordingly, the Company has complied
with Rule 723 of the Rules of Catalist.
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TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

AS AT 31 MAY 2023

NO. OF
NO.  NAME SHARES %
1 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 210,557,965 38.64
2 YANG CLEMENT K C 24,673,285 453
3 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE.) LIMITED 22,343 854 410
4 MAYBANK SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 22.152.577 407
5 SOUTH WORLD INVESTMENTS LIMITED 18,506,621 3.40
6 DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 11,497 585 211
7 IFAST FINANCIAL PTE. LTD. 10,970,500 2.01
8 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 8,912,878 1.64
9 UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED 7,613,100 1.40
10 DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 5,482,414 1.01
11 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED 3,276,700 0.60
12 TIGER BROKERS (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. 3,217,600 0.59
13 TAN JIN SIANG 2,700,000 0.50
14 HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 1,785,890 0.33
15 LIM & TAN SECURITIES PTE LTD 1,529,200 0.28
16 XU YONGSHENG 1,500,000 0.28
17 LIM HUI MEI OR EDWIN GOMEZ 1,500,000 0.28
18 CGS-CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. 1.448.600 0.27
19 LI JIANSHENG 1,405,200 0.26
20 OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PRIVATE LIMITED 1,324.300 0.24
TOTAL 362,398,269  66.54

The Group’s TDRs were listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange on 13 December 2002. The number
of TDRs issued at that time was 22,000,000.

In May 2004, an additional 4,382,875 TDRs were issued because of a stock split. In October 2009,
an additional tranche of 100,000,000 TDRs was issued and traded on the Taiwan Stock Exchange.

As at 31 May 2023, the total number of TDRs issued by the Company is 205,531,500, representing
approximately 37.72% of the total number of shares in the capital of the Company.
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Interested Person Transactions

No general mandate has been obtained for interested person transactions pursuant to Rule
920(1) of the Rules of Catalist. The aggregate value of interested person transactions
carried out during FY2022 are as follows:

Name of interested

Nature of relationship

Aggregate value of all

Aggregate value of all

person interested person interested person
transactions during the | transactions
financial year under conducted under
review (excluding shareholders'
transactions less than mandate pursuant to
$100,000 and Rule 920 of the Rules
transactions conducted | of Catalist (excluding
under shareholders' transactions less than
mandate pursuant to $100,000) (S$'000)
Rule 920 of the Rules
of Catalist) (S$'000)
Manhattan US$'000
International Corp.
- Utility and fuel Mr Clement Yang, the
i Chairman and an 330
consumption
Executive Director of
- Rentand )
maintenance the Company, is the 149 N.A.
chairman and sole
fees
director of the
- Personnel
interested person 75
costs
- Others 372

The amount at risk to the Company of US$926,000 represented approximately 0.006% of
the audited consolidated net tangible assets of the Group for the financial year ended 31

December 2022.

The Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed the interested person transactions
above and are of the opinion that the transaction was carried out on normal commercial
terms, and is not prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority shareholders.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting ("AGM") of Medtecs International
Corporation Limited (the "Company") will be held at Orchid Ball Room, Level B1, Holiday Inn
Singapore, Orchard City Centre, 11 Cavenagh Road, Singapore 229616 on Friday, 30 June 2023 at
3.00 p.m. to consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions for

the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and the Audited Financial Statements of the
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 together with the Auditors’ Report
thereon. (Resolution 1)

To re-elect Mr William Yang Weiyuan, a Director retiring from office by rotation pursuant to
Bye-Law 86 of the Company’s Bye-Laws and being eligible for re-election. [See Explanatory
Note (i)] (Resolution 2)

To re-elect Mr Lim Tai Toon, a Director retiring from office by rotation pursuant to Bye-Law
86 of the Company’s Bye-Laws and being eligible for re-election. [See Explanatory Note (ii)]
(Resolution 3)

To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$284,000 for the financial year ending 31
December 2023, to be paid quarterly in arrears. (2022: S$284,000) (Resolution 4)

To re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s lead auditor and Messrs
SyCipGorresVelayo & Co. as the Company’s component auditor, and to authorise the
Directors of the Company to fix their remuneration. (Resolution 5)

To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual
General Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or

without modifications:

SHARE ISSUE MANDATE

7.
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"That pursuant to Rule 806 of the Catalist Rules, authority be and is hereby given to the
Directors of the Company to:

(i) allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company (whether by way of
rights, bonus or otherwise (including shares as may be required to be issued
pursuant to any Instrument (as defined below) made or granted by the
Directors while this Resolutions is in force notwithstanding that the authority
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conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force at the time of
issue of such shares); and/or

make or grant offers, agreements or options or otherwise issue convertible
securities (collectively, “Instruments”) that may or would require shares to
be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as
adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into
shares,

at any time and from time to time upon such terms and conditions, whether for cash or otherwise,
and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors may think fit for the benefit of the
Company, provided that:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution
(including shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted
pursuant to such authority) does not exceed one hundred per cent. (100%)
of the total number of issued shares excluding subsidiary holdings (as
defined in the Catalist Rules) and treasury shares of the Company (as
calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (b) below), of which the
aggregate number of shares to be offered other than on a pro-rata basis to
shareholders of the Company (including shares to be issued in pursuance
of Instruments made or granted pursuant to such authority) does not exceed
fifty per cent. (50%) of the total number of issued shares excluding
subsidiary holdings (as defined in the Catalist Rules) and treasury shares of
the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (b) below);

for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be
issued under sub-paragraph (a) above, the percentage of the total number
of issued shares excluding subsidiary holdings (as defined in the Catalist
Rules) and treasury shares shall be calculated based on the total number of
issued shares excluding treasury shares of the Company at the time of the
passing of this Resolution, after adjusting for:

(i) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any
convertible securities;

(ii) new shares arising from exercise of share options or vesting of
share awards provided the options or awards were granted in
compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Catalist Rules; and

(iii) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of
shares;

provided that adjustments in accordance with sub-paragraphs (i) and (ii)
above are only to be made in respect of new shares arising from convertible
securities, share options or share awards which were issued and
outstanding or subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution;

in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall
comply with the provisions of the Catalist Rules for the time being in force
(unless such compliance has been waived by the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”)) and the Bye-laws for the time being
of the Company; and

unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, the authority
conferred by this Resolution shall continue in force until the conclusion of
the next annual general meeting of the Company or the date by which the
next annual general meeting of the Company is required by law or by the
Bye-Laws of the Company to be held, whichever is the earlier, except that
the Directors of the Company shall be authorised to allot and issue shares
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pursuant to any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while this
Resolution was in force notwithstanding that the authority conferred by this
Resolution may have ceased to be in force at the time of issue of such
shares." [See Explanatory Note (iii)] (Resolution 6)

PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE

2027 Annual Report

(ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase, the average of the Closing Market Prices (as
defined below) of a Share over the last five Market Days on which the Shares are
transacted on the SGX-ST or, as the case may be, such securities exchange on
which the Shares are listed or quoted, immediately preceding the date of the making
of the offer pursuant to the Off-Market Purchase,

and deemed to be adjusted, in accordance with the Catalist Rules, for any corporate action

8. That: that occurs during such five Market Days period and the day of the Market Purchase or, as
the case may be, the date of the making of the offer pursuant to the Off-Market Purchase;
(a) for the purposes of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (“Bermuda Companies Act”) and
otherwise in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SGX-ST, the exercise by the "Closing Market Price" means the last dealt price for a Share transacted through the SGX-
Directors of the Company of all the powers of the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire ST's trading system as shown in any publication of the SGX-ST or other sources;
issued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company (the "Shares") not exceeding in
aggregate the Maximum Percentage (as hereafter defined), at such price(s) as may be "date of the making of the offer" means the date on which the Company announces its
determined by the Directors from time to time up to the Maximum Price (as hereafter intention to make an offer for the purchase or acquisition of Shares from Shareholders,
defined), whether by way of: stating therein the relevant terms of the equal access scheme for effecting the Off-Market
Purchase;
(i) on-market purchases through the SGX-ST's trading system, or as the case may be,
on any other stock exchange on which the Shares may for the time being be listed "Market Day" means a day on which the SGX-ST is open for trading in securities;
and quoted, through one or more duly licensed stockbrokers appointed by the
Company for the purpose ("Market Purchases"); and/or "Maximum Percentage" means that number of issued Shares representing 10.0% of the
issued Shares as at the date of the passing of this Resolution, unless the Company has, at
(ii) off-market purchases in accordance with an equal access scheme as defined in any time during the Relevant Period, effected a reduction of the share capital of the Company
Section 76C of the Singapore Companies Act 1967 of Singapore ("Off-Market in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Bermuda Companies Act, in which event
Purchases"), the total number of issued Shares of the Company shall be taken to be the total number of
issued Shares as altered by the capital reduction. Any Shares which are held as treasury
and otherwise in accordance with all other laws and regulations and rules of the SGX-ST as shares and any subsidiary holdings will be disregarded for purposes of computing the 10.0%
may for the time being be applicable, be and is hereby authorised and approved generally limit;
and unconditionally (the "Share Purchase Mandate");
"Maximum Price" in relation to a Share to be purchased or acquired, means the purchase
(b) the authority conferred on the Directors of the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase price (excluding related or ancillary expenses in respect of the purchase or acquisition such
Mandate to purchase and/or acquire Shares may be exercised by the Directors of the as brokerage, commission, applicable goods and services tax, stamp duties and clearance
Company at any time and from time to time during the period commencing from the date of fees and other related expenses (where applicable)) to be paid for a Share will be determined
the passing of this Resolution and expiring on the earliest of: by the Directors, provided that such purchase price must not exceed:
(i) the date on which the next annual general meeting of the Company is held or (0] in the case of a Market Purchase, 105.0% of the Average Closing Price of the
required by law to be held (whereupon it will lapse, unless renewed at such AGM); Shares; and
(ii) the date on which the authority conferred by the Share Purchase Mandate is revoked (if) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase pursuant to an equal access scheme, 120.0%
or varied by the Company at a general meeting (if so varied or revoked prior to the of the Average Closing Price of the Shares; and
next AGM); or
) "Relevant Period" means the period commencing from the date on which the last AGM was
(iii) the date on which the purchases and/or acquisitions of Shares by the Company held and expiring on the date the next AGM is held or is required by law to be held, whichever
pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate are carried out to the full extent mandated; is the earlier, after the date of this Resolution.
and
(c) the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts
and things (including executing such documents as may be required) as they may consider
expedient or necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated by this Resolution. By Order of the Board
[See Explanatory Note (iv)] (Resolution 7)

In this Resolution:
Abdul Jabbar Bin Karam Din

"Average Closing Price" means: Company Secretary
0) in the case of a Market Purchase, the average of the Closing Market Prices (as Singapore, 15 June 2023
defined below) of a Share over the last five Market Days on which the Shares are

transacted on the SGX-ST or, as the case may be, such securities exchange on

which the Shares are listed or quoted, immediately preceding the date of the Market

Purchase by the Company; or
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Explanatory Notes:
(b) if sent personally or by post, be lodged at the office of the Singapore Share Transfer Agent of the

(i) Mr William Yang Weiyuan, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, will remain as the Deputy Company, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd., at 1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-

Chairman and Executive Director of the Board and a member of the Nominating Committee of the 07 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632.

Company. The profile of Mr William Yang Weiyuan can be found under the sections entitled “Board of

Directors” and “Board Membership” in the report on Corporate Governance in the Annual Report for A Depositor who is a natural person need not complete the CDP Proxy Form if he/she intends to attend
the financial year ended 31 December 2022 ("Annual Report 2022"). in person.

(i) Mr Lim Tai Toon, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, will remain as an Independent Director, 5. If a shareholder wishes to appoint a proxy/proxies to attend the AGM and vote on his/her/its behalf, the
the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the shareholders’ Proxy Form must be completed and submitted to the Company by 3.00 p.m. on 28 June
Nominating Committee of the Company. The profile of Mr Lim Tai Toon can be found under the sections 2023, being not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM, in the
entitled “Board of Directors” and “Board Membership”in the report on Corporate Governance in the following manners:

Annual Report 2022. As Mr Lim Tai Toon has been a director of the Company for an aggregate period

of more than nine years (whether before or after listing), he will continue to be considered independent (a) if by electronic communication, via email to medtecs@boardroomlimited.com; or

for the purposes of Rule 406(3)(d)(iv) of the Catalist Rules until the conclusion of the Company’s next

annual general meeting for the financial year ending on or after 31 December 2023. (b) if submitted personally or by post, be lodged at the office of the Singapore Share Transfer Agent
of the Company, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd., at 1 Harbourfront Avenue,

(iii) Ordinary Resolution 6 proposed in item 7 above, if passed, is to authorise the Directors to allot and #14-07 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632.
issue shares in the capital of the Company and/or Instruments (as defined above). The aggregate
number of shares to be issued pursuant to Resolution 6 (including shares to be issued in pursuance of 6. In the case of Depositors whose names are not shown in the records of the Depository as at forty-eight
Instruments made or granted) shall not exceed one hundred per cent. (100%) of the total number of (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM as supplied by the Depository to the Company,
issued shares excluding subsidiary holdings (as defined in the Rules of Catalist) and treasury shares the Company may reject such proxy form submitted to the Company.

of the Company, with a sub-limit of fifty per cent. (50%) for shares issued other than on a pro-rata basis
(including shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this

Resolution) to shareholders. For the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may Personal data privacy:
be issued, the percentage of the total number of issued shares excluding subsidiary holdings (as
defined in the Catalist Rules) and treasury shares of the Company will be calculated based on the total By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the
number of issued shares excluding subsidiary holdings (as defined in the Catalist Rules) and treasury AGM and/or any adjournment thereof, a Depositor or a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection,
shares of the Company at the time of the passing of Resolution 6, after adjusting for (i) new shares use and disclosure of the Depositor’s or the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the
arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities; (ii) new shares arising from purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its agents) of proxies and representatives
exercise of share options or vesting of share awards provided the options or awards were granted in appointed for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the
compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Catalist Rules; and (iii) any subsequent bonus issue, attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including any adjournment thereof), and in
consolidation or subdivision of shares. The adjustments in accordance with (i) and (i) above are only order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or
to be made in respect of new shares arising from convertible securities, share options or share awards guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the Depositor or the member discloses the
which were issued and outstanding or subsisting at the time of the passing of Resolution 6. personal data of the Depositor’s or the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its
agents), the Depositor or the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s)
(iv) Ordinary Resolution 7 proposed in item 8 above, if passed, is to renew the Share Purchase Mandate to for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies)
enable the Company to purchase or acquire its issued shares. Shareholders had previously approved the and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the Depositor or the member will indemnify the
renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate at the last Annual General Meeting of the Company that was Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the
held on 29 April 2022. Please refer to the Appendix to this Notice of Annual General Meeting for more Depositor’s or the member’s breach of warranty.
details.
Notes:
. . . . . . This document has been prepared by the Company and its contents have been reviewed by the Company's
1. The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company will be held, in a wholly physical format, at sponsor, R&T Corporate Services Pte. Ltd. ("Sponsor"), for compliance with the relevant rules of the Singapore
Orchid Ball Room, Level B1, Holiday Inn Singapore, Orchard City Centre, 11 Cavenagh Road, Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("Exchange”).
Singapore 229616, on Friday, 30 June 2023 at 3.00 p.m. There will be no option for shareholders to
participate in the AGM virtually. This document has not been examined or approved by the Exchange. The Exchange assumes no responsibility
. . . X . . . for the contents of this document including the correctness of any of the statements or opinions made or reports
2. All documents (including this Notice of AGM, the Annual Report 2022, the Appendix to this Notice of contained in this document.
AGM dated 15 June 2023, and proxy forms) or information relating to the AGM are published on the
SGX we'bsne at the URL https:/www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements and  the The contact persons for the Sponsor are Ms Evelyn Wee (Telephone Number: +65 6232 0724) and Mr. Howard
Company's website at the URL https://www.medtecs.com/investor-relations/agm-and-sqm/. Printed Cheam Heng Haw (Telephone Number: +65 6232 0685), R&T Corporate Services Pte. Ltd., at 9 Straits View,
copies of (a) the CDP Proxy Form (b) this Notice of AGM and (c) a Request Form for the printed Marina One West Tower, #06-07 Singapore 018937.
copies of the Annual Report 2022 and/or the Appendix to this Notice of AGM in relation to the
proposed renewal of the share purchase mandate, will be despatched to Depositors and
shareholders.
3. Save as provided in the Bye-Laws, a member entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is entitled to
appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a member
of the Company.
4. A Depositor (who is not a natural person) whose name appears in the Depository Register and who

wishes to attend and vote at the AGM, should complete the CDP Proxy Form and submit the duly
completed CDP Proxy Form to the Company by 3.00 p.m. on 28 June 2023, being not less than forty-
eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM, in the following manners:

(a) if by electronic communication, via email to medtecs@boardroomlimited.com; or
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Directors’ Statement

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

(Amounts in United States dollars unless otherwise stated)

The directors are pleased to present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of Medtecs International Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the

H H “Gi ") and the stat t of fi ial ition, stats t of hensive i d stat t of ch:
FlnanCIaI Statements roup”) and the statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive income and statement of changes

in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2022.

1. Directors

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:

Clement Yang Ker-Cheng (Chairman)

William Yang Weiyuan (Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Carol Yang Xiao-Qing

Lim Tai Toon

Nieh Chien-Chung

Pursuant to Rule 720(4) of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) Listing Manual
Section B: Rules of Catalist (the “Rules of Catalist”). And in accordance with Bye-Law 86 of the Company’s
Bye-Laws, William Yang Weiyuan and Lim Tai Toon retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for

re-election.

2. Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures
Except as described in paragraph 6, neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the
Company a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose object is, to enable the directors
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or

any other body corporate.

3. Directors’ interests in shares or debentures
According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, the following directors, who held office at the end of
the financial year, had interests in the share capital and share options of the Company and related

corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) as stated below:

Direct interest Deemed interest
At1 At 31 At 21 At1 At 31 At 21
Name of directors January December January January December January
2022 2022 2023 2022 2022 2023

Ordinary shares of the
Company at par value of
US$0.05 each

Clement Yang Ker-Cheng 24,673,285 24,673,285 24,673,285 33,075,198 33,075,198 33,075,198
William Yang Weiyuan - - - 1,500,000 3,000,000 3,000,000
Lim Tai Toon - - - 20,000 20,000 20,000
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Clement Yang Ker-Cheng is deemed to be interested in 18,506,621 shares, and 14,568,577 shares, held
by South World Investment Ltd. and Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd., respectively.

William Yang Weiyuan is deemed to be interested in 3,000,000 Shares acquired through his sub-brokerage

account maintained with a Taiwan brokerage house.
Lim Tai Toon is deemed to be interested in 20,000 Shares held by his wife, Mdm. Wong Lai Kwan.

There was no change in any of the above-mentioned interests in the Company between the end of the

financial year and 21 January 2023.

Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests
in shares, share options, warrants or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the

beginning of the financial year or at the end of the financial year.

Other information required by the SGX-ST

Save as disclosed in the section entitled "Interested Person Transactions" in this annual report, no material
contracts to which the Company or any subsidiary is a party and which involve the interests of the Chief
Executive Officer, each director or controlling shareholder, subsisted at the end of the financial year or have
been entered into since the end of the previous financial year.

Directors' contractual benefits

Except as disclosed in the financial statements, since the end of the previous financial year, no director of
the Company has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the
Company or a related corporation with the director, or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with

a company in which the director has a substantial financial interest.

Share options

The Company’s Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”), issued on 30 April 2012, has lapsed on 29 May
2022. The Company is currently assessing the benefits of implementing a new share option scheme to
incentivise and retain talent within the organisation. The focus will be on examining the feasibility and
structure of the proposed scheme, if any. As we make progress in this endeavor, we will provide further

updates to keep all stakeholders informed.

The committee in charge of administering the Scheme, before it lapsed, consists of:
Nieh Chien-Chung (Chairman)

Carol Yang Xiao-Qing

Lim Tai Toon

As at the end of the financial year, no options to take up unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries

were granted, and no shares were issued by virtue of the exercise of options or warrant to take up unissued

shares of the Company or its subsidiaries.
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7. Audit Committee

The Audit Committee (“AC”) carried out its functions, including the following:

. Reviews the audit plans of internal and external auditors of the Company and review the internal
auditors’ evaluation of the adequacy of the Company’s system of internal accounting controls and the
assistance given by the Company’s management to the external and internal auditors;

e  Reviews the half yearly announcements and annual financial statements and the auditors’ report on
the annual financial statements of the Group before submission to the Board of Directors (“BOD”);

e Reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s material internal control systems, including
financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls, and risk management via
reviews carried out by the internal auditors;

e Meets with the external auditors, other committees and management in separate executive sessions
to discuss any matters that these groups believe should be discussed privately with the AC;

e Reviews legal and regulatory matters that they have a material impact on the financial statements,
related compliance policies and programmes and any report received from regulator;

. Reviews the independence, effectiveness and adequacy of the internal audit function;

. Reviews the cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the external auditors;

. Reviews the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the external auditors;

e Recommends to the Board of Directors the external auditors to be nominated, approves the
compensation of the external auditors and reviews the scope and results of the audit;

e  Reports actions and minutes of meetings of the AC to the BOD with such recommendations as the AC
considers appropriate; and

. Reviews interested person transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Rules of Catalist.

The AC, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditors to the Group, is satisfied
that the nature and extent of such services would not affect the independence of the external auditors. Fees
(including fees for non-audit services) paid to external auditors may be found in Note 24 of the financial

statements of the annual report. The AC has also conducted a review of interested person transactions.

The AC convened four meetings during the year. The AC has also met with internal and external auditors,

without the presence of the Company’s management, at least once a year.

Further details regarding the AC are disclosed in the Report on Corporate Governance.

Independent Auditor

The independent auditor, Ernst & Young LLP, has expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

CLEMENT YANG KER-CHENG WILLIAM YANG WEIYUAN

Director Director

14 June 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report

For the financial year ended 31 December 2022

To the Board of Directors of Medtecs International Corporation Limited
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Medtecs International Corporation Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), which comprise the statements of financial position
of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2022, the statements of comprehensive income and the
statements of changes in equity of the Group and the Company and the consolidated cash flow statement of
the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group, the statement of financial
position, statement of comprehensive income and the statement of changes in equity of the Company are
properly drawn up in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)”)
so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of
the Company as at 31 December 2022 and of the financial performances and changes in the equity of the Group
and the Company, and consolidated cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate
Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting
Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For the matters below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in
that context.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the
matter below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements.

Assessment of inventory valuation

The Group had $36,394,000 of inventories as of 31 December 2022, representing 20% of its total assets. The
Group records its inventories at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Where necessary, allowances for
inventory obsolescence are provided and write downs are made for damaged, obsolete and slow-moving
inventories to adjust the carrying amount of the inventories to their net realisable values.

Management reviews the inventory ageing report to identify slow-moving and obsolete inventories and then
estimates the amount of allowance based on the production plan and expected future market demand as a

result of changes in current market conditions and the latest invoice prices. Significant judgement and estimation

77  Saleguarding every lomosrow

2027 Annual Report

are involved in identifying the slow-moving and obsolete inventories and assessing the amounts of allowance
or write down required. Given the significant judgement involved in management’s assessment, the estimation
of the allowance for inventory obsolescence is identified as a key audit matter.

We have performed the following audit procedures, amongst others, in response to the above-mentioned key
audit matter:

- Evaluated the amount of allowance for inventory obsolescence established by reviewing the nature of the
selected inventory and discussed with management their basis for the assessment on the adequacy of
allowance for inventory obsolescence;

- Checked that the Group has provided for allowance for inventory obsolescence in accordance with the
Group policy;

- Tested the integrity of the inventory reports, on a sampling basis, in order to conclude that the inventory
reports can be relied upon for the assessment of allowance for inventory obsolescence;

- Observed and inquired management for any identified obsolete or slow-moving inventories during our
stocktake observation; and

- Performed net realisable value testing on selected inventory items, considering sale of similar inventories
subsequent to the financial year.

We also assessed the adequacy of the relevant notes disclosure. The related disclosures on the allowance for
obsolete and slow-moving inventories assessment are included in Note 2.15 and Note 13 to the financial
statements. The key sources of estimation uncertainty in relation to allowance for obsolete and slow-moving
inventories are disclosed in Note 3(b) to the financial statements.

Allowance of expected credit losses for trade receivables

The Group has $30,358,000 of trade receivables from third-party customers as of 31 December 2022,
representing 17% of its total assets. The credit worthiness of customers may be impacted by specific and/or
macro-economic conditions, resulting in overdue trade receivables or uncertainty in recoverability of contract
assets. The Group applied the simplified approach and calculated expected credit losses (‘ECL") based on
lifetime expected losses on all trade receivables.

This involves significant judgement as the ECL must reflect information about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future conditions. Given the materiality of the trade receivables and significant judgement and
estimations involved in the impairment assessment, we have identified this as key audit matter.

We have performed the following audit procedures, amongst others, in response to the above-mentioned key
audit matter:

- Obtained an understanding of the Group’s credit policies and credit assessment procedures and the
controls relating to the monitoring of trade receivables;

- Evaluated management’s assumptions used in establishing the ECL impairment model through analysis of
receivables ageing, review of historical credit loss experiences and consideration of data and information
used by management in determining the forward-looking adjustments based on current economic condition;

- Reviewed the collectability of material and long aged trade receivables by way of obtaining evidence of
receipts subsequent to the balance sheet date from the customers. For long overdue debts without
subsequent collection, we discussed with management on their assessment of the ECL for these trade
receivables. Where applicable, we reviewed customers’ payment history and correspondences between
the Group and the customers on expected settlement; and

- Obtained trade receivables confirmations for selected samples. For non-replies, we performed alternative
audit procedures by checking to supporting sales and delivery documents or checking subsequent cash
settlements by vouching to receipts in the form of bank advices or equivalent and bank statements.

We also assessed the adequacy of the relevant notes disclosure. The related disclosures on the ECL for trade
receivables and credit risk management process are included in Note 2.13, Note 14 and Note 32(d) to the
financial statements. The key sources of estimation uncertainty in relation to ECL for trade receivables are
disclosed in Note 3(b) to the financial statements.

78



+ hﬁn-_rﬁﬁ Medtecs International Corporation Limited

Impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment amounted to
$45,846,000, representing 25% of its total assets. The carrying amount of these assets are reviewed annually
by management to assess whether there are indicators of impairment and if there are such indicators, an
estimate is made for the recoverable amount of the asset concerned.

For cash generating units (“CGUs”) where there are indicators impairment, management has prepared value-
in-use computations in assessing the recoverable amounts of the property, plant and equipment. This
assessment required management to exercise significant judgement over the assumptions used in the
preparation of the forecast. The key assumptions adopted are the annual revenue growth rate, terminal growth
rate, forecasted gross margins and discount rate. The impact of COVID-19 pandemic has further elevated the
level of estimation uncertainty in making such assumptions. Given the materiality of the property, plant and
equipment, and significant judgement and estimation involved in assessing the recoverable amount of these
assets, we have identified the impairment of property, plant and equipment as a key audit matter.

We have performed the following audit procedures, amongst others, in response to the above-mentioned key
audit matter:

- Reviewed management’s assessment of indicators of impairment of property, plant and equipment and the
methodology used by management to estimate value-in-use when indicators are present;

- Assessed the reasonableness of key assumptions such as annual revenue growth rate and forecasted
gross margins used in the forecast by comparing to historical trend and the latest budgets approved by
management and other available information, after considering the status and condition of COVID-19;

- Reviewed management’s assessment on the reasonableness of the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment;

- Involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in assessing the reasonableness of the discount rate
and terminal growth rate used in the forecast; and

- Performed sensitivity analysis of the recoverable amounts to changes in the key assumptions taking into
consideration the general economic outlook arising from the status and condition of COVID-19.

We also assessed the adequacy of the relevant notes disclosure. The related disclosures are included in Note
2.11 and Note 6 to the financial statements. The key sources of estimation uncertainty in relation to impairment
of non-financial assets are disclosed in Note 3(b) to the financial statements.

Impairment assessment on investments in subsidiaries

As at 31 December 2022, the Company has investments in subsidiaries with carrying values of $28,352,000,
representing 33% of its total assets. The carrying amount of the investment in subsidiaries are reviewed annually
by management to assess whether there are indicators of impairment and if there are such indicators, an
estimate is made for the recoverable amount of the asset concerned.

For those subsidiaries where there are indicators of impairment, management has prepared cash flow forecasts
to assess the recoverable amounts of the respective subsidiaries. This assessment requires management to
make judgements over certain key inputs for the forecasts in relation to annual revenue growth rate, terminal
growth rate, forecasted gross margins and discount rate. Given the materiality of the investments in subsidiaries
and significant judgement and estimation involved in the impairment assessment, we have identified the
impairment of investments in subsidiaries as a key audit matter.

We have performed the following audit procedures, amongst others, in response to the above-mentioned key
audit matter:

- Reviewed management’'s assessment of indicators of impairment of the investments in subsidiaries and
the methodology used by management to estimate value-in-use when indicators are present;

- Assessed the reasonableness of key assumptions such as annual revenue growth rate and forecasted
gross margins used in the forecast by comparing to historical trend and the latest budget approved by
management and other available information;

- Involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in assessing the reasonableness of the discount rate
and terminal growth rate used in the forecast; and
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- Performed sensitivity analysis of the recoverable amount to changes in the key assumptions taking into
consideration the general economic outlook.

We also assessed the adequacy of the relevant notes disclosure. The related disclosures are included in Note
2.11 and Note 9 to the financial statements. The key sources of estimation uncertainty in relation to impairment
of non-financial assets are disclosed in Note 3(b) to the financial statements.

Other matters

The financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 were audited
by Messrs SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co., whose report dated 28 March 2022 expressed an unmodified opinion
on those financial statements.

Other Information

Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the information included in
the annual report but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the SFRS(l), and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient
to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or
disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the
preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal controls.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

* Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 (the
“Act”) to be kept by those subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have

been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Yong Kok Keong.

Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

14 June 2023

81 Saleguarding avery lomoeros

Statements of Financial Position

MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda)
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

(Amounts in United States dollars)

Assets

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property

Assets held for leasing
Right-of-use assets
Investment in subsidiaries
Goodwill

Deferred tax assets

Other non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories

Trade receivables
Other current assets
Due from subsidiaries
Fixed deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Note

2027 Annual Report

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

$'000 $'000 $°000 $°000
45,846 32,110 194 184
2,617 2,728 - -
4,116 4,452 - -
9,903 8,386 4,701 380
- - 28,352 28,353
709 709 - -
2,106 33 - 12
8,617 3,787 112 113
73,914 52,205 33,359 29,042
36,394 49,660 3,304 2,390
30,358 42,347 25,870 25,785
6,102 13,072 2,277 7,672
- - 16,925 20,518
17,159 9,275 - -
18,122 49,015 3,366 15,711
108,135 163,369 51,742 72,076
182,049 215,574 85,101 101,118

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda) (Incorporated in Bermuda)
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued) STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022 AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022
(Amounts in United States dollars) (Amounts in United States dollars)
Group Company Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Note $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 Note $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Equity and liabilities Equity attributable to equity holders
of the Company
Current liabilities Share capital 4 27,471 27,471 27,471 27,471
Trél‘i‘;ﬁil‘i’t?g’:b'es and other current 17 6,447 7,765 776 1,482 Less: Treasury shares 4 (2,361) (2,112) (2,361) (2,112)
Lease liabilities 29 575 088 129 139 Share premium 4721 4721 4721 4721
Loans and borrowings 18 15,643 9,306 - - Revenue reserves 5 120,424 152,291 53,332 68,230
Income tax payable 2415 2,567 - - Remeasurement gains 250 52 105 49
25,080 20,626 905 1,621
Foreign currency translation reserves 5 (735) 2,397 - -
Net current assets 83,055 142,743 50,837 70,455 Other reserves 5 19 394 561 561
149,789 185,214 83,829 98,920
Non-current liabilities Non-controlling interests 9 2,526 2,693 - -
Lease liabilities 29 3,335 5,791 187 337 Total equity 152,315 187,907 83,829 98,920
Deferred tax liabilities 25 391 147 13 -
Pension benefit obligation 21 811 1,075 167 240
Total equity and liabilities 182,049 215,574 85,101 101,118
Other non-current liabilities 117 28 - -
4,654 7,041 367 577
Total liabilities 29,734 27,667 1,272 2,198
Net assets 152,315 187,907 83,829 98,920

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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. MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED
Statements Of Com pl'e henS|Ve Income (Incorporated in Bermuda)
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)
(Incorporated in Bermuda)
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

(Amounts in United States dollars)
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

(Amounts in United States dollars)

Group Company Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $°000 $000 $000 $000
Revenue 19 56,243 144,155 10,816 69,000 Net (loss)/profit for the year (29,263) 16,510 (11,627) 16,730
Costs of sales and services 24 (59,580) (102,121) (7,069) (41,745) Other comprehensive income:
Gross (loss)/profit (3,337) 42,034 3747 27,255 /te;ns that will be reclassified to profit or
0SS!
Other items of income Translation adjustments (3,132) (835) - -
Other income - net 20 2,461 1,764 121 1,233 . .
Financial income 22 905 33 815 16 Items that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss:
Other items of expense Remeas'uren?entlgains on retirement 198 194 56 38
Distribution and selling expenses 24 (12,009) (12,177 (7,530) (5,193) benefit obligation, net of tax
Administrative expenses 24 (17,723) (13,845) (8,507) (6.635) Unrealized loss on financial assets at
Financial expenses 23 (951) (891) (248) (46) fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FAFVOCI") (375) — — —
(Loss)/profit before tax 24 (30,654) 16,918 (11,602) 16,730 Total comprehensive (loss)fincome (32,572) 15,869 (11,571) 16,768
Income tax credit/(expense) 25 1,391 (408) (25) - for the year, net of tax
Net (loss)/profit for the year (29,263) 16,510 (11,627) 16,730
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company (31,905) 16,701 (11,571) 16,768
Attributable to: Non-controlling interests (667) (832) - -
Equity holders of the Company (28,596) 17,342 (11,627) 16,730 . .
Non-controlling interests (667) (832) - - Total comprehensive (loss)/income (32,572) 15,869 (11,571) 16,768
for the year, net of tax
Net (loss)/profit for the year (29,263) 16,510 (11,627) 16,730
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable
to the equity holders of the Company 26
(cents per share)
- basic (5.244) 3171
- fully diluted (5.244) 3171
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of Changes in Equity

MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda)
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
(Amounts in United States dollars)

Remeasu
rement
2022 gelains on Foreign
Group retirement currenf:y Non-A
Share Revenue benefit  translation Other Treasury controlling
capital Share reserves obligations reserves reserves shares interests Total
(Note 4) premium (Note 5) (Note21)  (Note 5) (Note 5) (Note 4) (Note 9) equity
$°000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $°000 $°000 $'000 $'000
Opening balance at
1 January 2022 27,471 4,721 152,291 52 2,397 394 (2,112) 2,693 187,907
Net loss for the year - — (28,596) — — — — (667)  (29,263)
Other comprehensive
income
Foreign currency
translation
reserves - - - - (3,132) - - - (3,132)
Unrealized losses on
FAFVOCI - - - - - (375) - - (375)
Remeasurement
gains on retirement
benefit obligation,
net of tax - - - 198 - - - - 198
Other comprehensive
income/(loss) for
the year - - - 198 (3,132) (375) - - (3,309)
Total comprehensive
(loss)/income for
the year, net of tax - - (28,596) 198 (3,132) (375) - (667) (32,572)
Purchase of treasury
shares (Note 4) - - - = = - (249) = (249)
Minority investment - - - - - - - 500 500
Cash dividends
(Note 27) - - (3,271) - - - - - (3,271)
Closing balance at
31 December 2022 27,471 4,721 120,424 250 (735) 19 (2,361) 2,526 152,315

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda)
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
(Amounts in United States dollars)

2021
Group

Opening balance at
1 January 2021

Net profit for the year

Other comprehensive
income

Foreign currency
translation reserves

Remeasurement gain
on retirement
benefit obligation,
net of tax

Other comprehensive
income/(loss) for
the year

Total comprehensive
income/(loss) for
the year, net of tax

Purchase of treasury
shares (Note 4)

Minority investment

Cash dividends
(Note 27)

Closing balance at
31 December 2021

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Remeasu
rement
gains
(losses)
on Foreign
retirement  currency Non-
Share Revenue benefit translation Other Treasury controlling
capital Share reserves obligations reserves reserves shares interests Total
(Note 4) premium (Note5) (Note21)  (Note5) (Note 5) (Note 4) (Note 9) equity
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
27,471 4,721 157,789 (142) 3,232 394 — 1,025 194,490
- - 17,342 - - - - (832) 16,510
- - - - (835) - - - (835)
- - - 194 - - - - 194
- - - 194 (835) - - - (641)
- - 17,342 194 (835) - - (832) 15,869
_ _ - - - - (2,112) - (2,112)
— — — — — — — 2,500 2,500
- - (22,840) - - - - - (22,840)
27,471 4,721 152,291 52 2,397 394 (2,112) 2,693 187,907
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MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda)
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
(Amounts in United States dollars)

Remeasu-
rement
gains
on
C
ompany retirement
Share Revenues benefit Other Total Treasury
capital Share reserves  obligations reserves Revenue shares Total
(Note 4) premium (Note 5) (Note 21)  (Note 5) reserves (Note 4) Equity
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Opening Balance at
1 January 2021 27,471 4,721 74,340 11 561 74,912 - 107,104
Net income for the year - - 16,730 - 16,730 - 16,730
Other comprehensive income
for the year — — = 38 - 38 - 38
Total comprehensive income
for the year, net of tax - - 16,730 38 16,768 - 16,768
Purchase of treasury shares
(Note 4) - - - - - - (2,112) (2,112)
Cash dividends (Note 27) - - (22,840) - - (22,840) - (22,840)
Balance at
31 December 2021 and
1 January 2022 27,471 4,721 68,230 49 561 68,840 (2,112) 98,920
Net loss for the year - - (11,627) - - (11,627) - (11,627)
Other comprehensive income
for the year — — = 56 - 56 - 56
Total comprehensive
(loss)/income for the year,
net of tax - - (11,627) 56 - (11,571) - (11,571)
Purchase of treasury shares
(Note 4) - - - - — - (249) (249)
Cash dividends (Note 27) — — (3,271) - ~ (3,271) - (3,271)
Closing balance
at 31 December 2022 27,471 4,721 53,332 105 561 53,998 (2,361) 83,829

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda)
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
(Amounts in United States dollars)

Operating activities
(Loss)/profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation:
Property, plant and equipment
Assets held for leasing
Right-of-use assets
Investment property
Write-off of provision for:
Inventory losses
Expected credit losses on receivables
Provision for:
Inventory losses
Expected credit losses on receivables and other current assets
Interest expense on loans and lease liabilities
Unrealized currency translation (gains)/ losses
Net changes in pension benefits obligation
Other finance costs
Interest income
Dividend income from quoted equity investments
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital
(Increase)/decrease in:

Fixed deposits

Inventories

Trade receivables

Other current assets
Decrease in:

Trade payables and other current liabilities

Deferred lease income

Cash flows from operations

Income taxes paid

Other finance cost paid

Interest received from loans and receivables

Net cash flows (used in)/generated from operating activities

Note

6

8 and 24
29
7

13
14

13

24
23

23
22

20

2027 Annual Report

2022 2021
$000 $000
(30,654) 16,918
3177 3,567
1,988 2,136
1,128 819
11 111
(158) (1,841)
(23) -
11,748 3,000
3,795 19
819 853
(261) 773
(66) 48
132 38
(642) (33)
(263) -
(165) (58)
(9,334) 26,350
(7.884) (4,097)
886 2,481
7,895 6,506
6,778 2,644
(1,691) (3,083)
(5 9)
(3,355) 30,792
(590) (650)
(132) (38)
24 -
(4,053) 30,104

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda)
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (continued)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
(Amounts in United States dollars)

Investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of:
Property, plant and equipment
Assets held for leasing
(Increase)/decrease in other non-current assets
Purchases of:
Property, plant and equipment
Assets held for leasing
Interest received from fixed deposit and investment in unquoted bond
Dividend received from quoted equity investments

Net cash flows used in investing activities

Financing activities

Repayment of term loans

Interest paid on loans and borrowings

Net proceeds from/(payment of) loans and borrowings
Cash dividends paid

Purchase of treasury shares

Minority investment

Principal payments of lease liabilities

Interest payments of lease liabilities

Net cash flows used in financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Effects of currency translation on cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Note

22
22

23

29
29

+ hﬁn-_rﬁﬁ Medtecs International Corporation Limited

2022 2021
$'000 $'000
180 72

22 50
(5,205) 830
(18,105) (14,094)
(1,674) (2,280)
618 33
263 -
(23,901) (15,389)
- (1,478)
(423) (408)
6,337 (22,297)
(3,271) (22,840)
(249) (2,112)
500 2,500
(5,459) (394)
(396) (455)
(2,961) (47,484)
(30,915) (32,769)

49,015 82,161
22 (377)
18,122 49,015

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda)
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

(Amounts in United States dollars unless otherwise stated)
1.  CORPORATE INFORMATION

Medtecs International Corporation Limited (the “Company” or the “Parent”) is a limited liability company,
which is domiciled in the Philippines, incorporated in Bermuda and is listed on the Catalist board of the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (SGX-ST).

The Company’s registered office is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda. In 2022, the Company has changed its principal place of business to 22/F The World Center
Building, #330 Sen. Gil Puyat Avenue Bel-air, Makati City, Philippines.

The principal activities of the Company are manufacturing and selling of medical supplies and equipment
and woven and knitted medical textile products and nitrile gloves. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in Note 9 to the financial statements.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
21 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) and
the statement of financial position, statements of comprehensive income and statements of changes in
equity of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards
(International) (SFRS(1)s).

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the
accounting policies below.

The financial statements are presented in United States dollars (US$) and all values in the tables are
rounded to the nearest thousand ($’000) unless otherwise indicated.

2.2 Adoption of new and amended standards and interpretations

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except that in the
current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and amended standards which are relevant to
the Group and are effective for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. The
adoption of these standards did not have any material effect on the financial performance or position of
the Group.

SFRS(]) effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022

The following standards and interpretations are effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1
January 2022:

e Amendments to SFRS(I) 3 Business Combinations: Reference to the Conceptual Framework

e Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use

* Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets: Onerous
Contracts-Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

e Annual Improvements to SFRS(l)s 2018-2020

92



+ Mﬁ,ﬁﬁ Medtecs International Corporation Limited

MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda)
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in United States dollars unless otherwise stated)

2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective

The Group has not adopted the following standards and interpretation that have been issued but not yet effective:

Effective for annual
periods beginning on or
Description after
Amendments to SFRS(I) and SFRS(l) Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of

. . 1 January 2023
Accounting Policies
Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction
Amendments to SFRS(1) 1-1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

1 January 2023

1 January 2024

Amendments to SFRS(I) 16 Leases: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024
Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024
Amendments to SFRS(I) 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and SFRS(l) 1-28

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Sale or Contribution of Assets Date to be determined

between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The directors expect that the adoption of the standards above will have no material impact on the financial statements
in the year of initial application.

2.4 Subsidiaries and basis of consolidation

a) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is exposed or has
rights to the variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
the power over the investee.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment
losses. The Company recognizes income from investment only to the extent that the Company receives distribution
from accumulated profits of the subsidiary arising after the date of acquisition. Distributions received in excess of such
profits are regarded as a recovery of investment and are recognized.

b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at
the end of the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are

applied to like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions and dividends are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda)
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in United States dollars unless otherwise stated)

2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Subsidiaries and basis of consolidation (continued)

b) Basis of consolidation (continued)

Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

i. derecognises the asset (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at the
date when control is lost;
ii. derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;
iii. derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;

iv. recognises the fair value of the consideration received;
V. recognises the fair value of any investment retained;
Vi. recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss;
Vii. re-classifies the Group’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to profit

or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.
c) Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired set of activities and assets include an input
and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The acquired process
is considered substantive if it is critical to the ability to continue producing outputs, and the inputs acquired include an
organised workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform that process or it significantly
contributes to the ability to continue producing outputs and is considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced
without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue producing outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of
SFRS(l) 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss in accordance with SFRS(I) 9. Other contingent consideration that is not within the scope of SFRS(I)
9 is measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda)
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in United States dollars unless otherwise stated)

2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Subsidiaries and basis of consolidation (continued)

c) Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

The Group elects for each individual business combination, whether non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any),
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liquidation, is recognised on the acquisition date at fair value, or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Other components of non-controlling interests are measured at their
acquisition date fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by another SFRS(I).

Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, the amount of
non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill.

The accounting policy for goodwill is set out in Note 2.10. In instances where the latter amount exceeds the former,
the excess is recognised as gain on bargain purchase in profit or loss on the acquisition date.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to the Group’s cash generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquire are assigned to those units.

The cash-generating units to which goodwill have been allocated is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is
an indication that the cash generating unit may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the
recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates.

2.5 Transactions with non-controlling interest

Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to owners of the
Company.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

2.6  Functional and foreign currency
a) Functional and presentation currency
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are expressed in US$, which is also the Company’s functional and

presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using the functional currency.
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MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda)
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in United States dollars unless otherwise stated)

2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.6  Functional and foreign currency (continued)
a) Functional and presentation currency (continued)

The management has determined the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates
to be the US$. Sales prices and major costs of providing goods and services including major operating expenses are
primarily influenced by the fluctuation of the US$.

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the individual companies
within the Group and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating
those prevailing at transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the closing rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate
at the date when the fair value was determined.

b) Foreign currency translations and balances

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in USD, which is also the parent company’s functional
currency and recorded on initial recognition in the functional currency at exchange rates approximating those ruling
at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate
of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the end of the
reporting period are recognised in profit or loss.

2.7 Related parties
Arelated party is defined as follows:

(a) Aperson or close member of that person’s family is related to the Group and Company if that person:
i Has control or joint control over the Company;
ii. Has significant influence over the Company; or
iii. Is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or Company or of a parent of the Company.

(b) An entity is related to the Group and the Company if any of the following condition applies:
i. The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

ii. One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a member).

iii. Both entities are joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

iv. One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

V. The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Company or an
entity related to the Company. If the Company is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Company.

Vi. The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

Vii. A person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
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2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Related parties (continued)

(c) Anentity is related to the Group and the Company if any of the following condition applies:
i. The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

ii. One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a member).

iii. Both entities are joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

viii. One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

ix. The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Company or an
entity related to the Company. If the Company is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Company.

X. The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

Xi. A person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

2.8 Property, plant and equipment
a) Recognition and measurement
All items of property, plant and equipment, including construction in progress, are initially recorded at cost.

The initial cost of property, plant and equipment consists of its purchase price, including import duties, taxes and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditures
incurred after the assets have been put into operation, such as the cost of maintenance and repairs, are normally
charged against income as incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have
resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits to be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and
equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as an additional
cost of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment, except construction in progress, are measured at cost, less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Construction in progress is not depreciated until
such time that the relevant assets are ready for use.

b) Depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives.

Leasehold buildings and improvements are depreciated over the term of the lease or the life of the asset, whichever
is shorter. The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Years
Buildings and improvements 5-30
Machinery, equipment and others 10-15
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-10
Leasehold improvements 3-10
Transportation equipment 5-10
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.8 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
b) Depreciation (continued)

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable.

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted
prospectively, if appropriate, to ensure that the values, period and method of depreciation are consistent with previous
estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property,
plant and equipment.

c) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure, excluding the cost of day-to-day servicing, relating to property, plant and equipment that has
already been recognised is added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to the Group and the cost can be reliably measured.

Such expenditure includes the cost of replacing part of such property, plant and equipment when the cost is incurred,
if the recognition criteria are met. Other subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense in the profit and loss
accounts during the year in which it is incurred.

d) Disposal

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item is included in the profit and loss accounts in
the year the asset is derecognised.

2.9 Investment properties

Investment properties are properties that are either owned by the Group or leased under a finance lease in order to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation, or both, rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or service, or
for administrative purposes, or in the ordinary course of business. Investment properties comprise completed
investment properties and properties that are being constructed or developed for future use as investment properties.
Properties held under operating leases are classified as investment properties when the definition of investment
properties is met and they are accounted for as finance lease.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. The carrying amount includes the
cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are
met.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and

accumulated impairment loss. Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 10-
48 years or term of the lease, whichever is shorter.
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2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Investment properties (continued)

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment properties
are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses
on the retirement or disposal of an investment property calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the item is recognised in profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal.

Transfers are made to (or from) investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment
property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of
change in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such property in
accordance with the policy stated under property, plant and equipment up to the date of change in use.

2.10 Intangible assets
Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is
measured at cost, less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more
frequently, if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

The cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually and whenever there
is an indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing
the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates.

Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised in the profit and loss accounts. Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not reversed in subsequent
periods.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured
based on the relative fair values of the operations disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations on or after 1 January 2005 are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operations and are recorded in the functional currency of the foreign
operations and translated in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.6.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments which arose on acquisitions of foreign operations before 1 January 2005 are

deemed to be assets and liabilities of the Company and are recorded in US$ at rates prevailing at the date of
acquisition.
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2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of
the asset's recoverable amount.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the profit and loss accounts in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset, except for assets that are previously revalued where the revaluation
was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case, the impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive
income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.

For asset excluding goodwill, assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the
Group estimates the asset’s or cash-generating unit's recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since
the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its
recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in the profit and loss accounts unless
the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

212 Financial instruments
a) Financial assets
i) Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognised when, and only when the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash generating unit's fair value less costs to sell and its
value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or group of assets.

Where the carrying amount of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows expected to be generated by the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money paid and the risks specific to the asset. In
determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such
transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by
valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators.

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations which are prepared
separately for each of the Group’s cash-generating units to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets
and forecast calculations are covering generally a period of five years. For longer periods, a long-term growth rate is
calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year.
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2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
212 Financial instruments (continued)

a) Financial assets (continued)

) Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Trade receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third party, if the
trade receivables do not contain a significant financing component at initial recognition.

ii) Subsequent measurement
Investments in debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset. The three measurement categories for classification of debt
instruments are amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and fair value through profit
or loss (“FVPL”). The Group only has debt instruments at amortised cost.

Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the assets
are derecognised or impaired, and through amortisation process.

This accounting policy applies primarily to the Group’s and Company’s investment in unquoted bond, cash and cash
equivalents, fixed deposits, trade and other receivables, advances to employees, and refundable deposits. The
accounting policy also applies to the Company’s due from subsidiaries.

Investments in equity instruments

Oninitial recognition of an investment in equity instrument that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI which will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss.
Dividends from such investments are to be recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established. For investments in equity instruments which the Group has not elected to present subsequent changes
in fair value in OCI, changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss.

iii)) Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired. On
derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the

consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income for
debt instruments is recognised in profit or loss.
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2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
212 Financial instruments (continued)

b) Financial liabilities

i) Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial liabilities not at fair value through
profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

ii) Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation process.

i)  Derecogpnition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. On
derecognition, the difference between the carrying amounts and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

2.13 Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss and
financial guarantee contracts. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the
original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other
credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within
the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For financial assets at fair value through OCI, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. At every reporting
date, the Group evaluates whether the debt instrument is considered to have low credit risk using all reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group reassesses
the internal credit rating of the debt instrument. In addition, the Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when the contractual payments are more than 1 month past due.

102



+ ﬁﬁﬁ Medtecs International Corporation Limited

MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda)
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in United States dollars unless otherwise stated)

2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.13 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 4 months past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account
any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation
of recovering the contractual cash flows.

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents and fixed deposits

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term, highly-liquid investments that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, with maturities of up to three months from date of acquisition, and
that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in values. These also include bank overdrafts that form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

Fixed deposits consist of money market placements with maturity dates of more than 90 days and up to one year and
earn at the respective short-term investment rates. On the other hand, other fixed deposits also refer to loan
arrangements where specific amount of fund is placed on deposit under the name of the account holder. Fixed
deposits cannot be withdrawn for a specified period of time and usually earn a fixed interest according to the terms
and conditions that govern the loan which is usually current in nature.

2.15 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and conditions are accounted for as follows:

e Raw materials: purchase costs on a weighted average costing method.

e Finished goods and work-in-progress: costs of direct materials on a weighted average costing method and
labour and a proportion of manufacturing overheads based on normal operating capacity but excluding
borrowing costs.

Where necessary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolete and slow-moving items to adjust the carrying value
of inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

216 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and
the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions are reviewed at the end of the reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no
longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, the
provision is reversed. If the effect of time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-
tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risk specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in
provision due to passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

103 Sabsguardeng every 1omoirow

2022 Annual Report

MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda)
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in United States dollars unless otherwise stated)

2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in the profit and loss accounts as incurred, except to the extent that they are
capitalised. Borrowing costs are capitalised if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and the borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs
are capitalised until the assets are ready for their intended use or sale. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

2.18 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Deferred transaction costs represent
costs incurred to obtain project financing. Deferred transaction costs are amortized, using the effective interest rate
method, over the lives of the related long-term debt.

Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value is recognised in the profit and loss accounts over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest rate method. Borrowings which are due to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting
period are presented as current borrowings even though the original term was for a period longer than 12 months and
an agreement to refinance, or to reschedule payments, on a long-term basis is completed after the end of the reporting
period and before the financial statements are authorised for issue. Other borrowings due to be settled more than
12 months after the end of the reporting period are presented as "Term loans” under non-current liabilities in the
balance sheets.

2.19 Employee benefits
a) Defined benefits pension plans

The Group operates defined benefits pension plans. The pension benefits in the Philippines are unfunded and non-
contributory covering substantially all the regular employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the Philippines. Pension
benefit expense is actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method. This method reflects service rendered
by employees to the date of valuation and incorporates assumptions concerning employees’ projected
salaries. Pension benefit expense includes current service cost and interest cost. Remeasurement gains and losses
are recognised under other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur.

The past service cost is recognised as an expense when the plan amendment occurs regardless of whether they are
vested.

The defined benefit liability is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit obligation reduced by past
service cost not yet recognised.

b) Defined contribution plans
The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which it has
operations. In particular, the subsidiaries in the Group operating in Singapore and Taiwan make contributions to the

Central Provident Fund scheme, a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to national pension schemes
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service is performed.
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2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.19 Employee benefits (continued)
c) Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue to employees. An estimated
liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

d) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date or whenever an
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits
when it is demonstrably committed to either terminate the employment of current employees according to a detailed
plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage
voluntary redundancy.

In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the measurement of termination benefits is based
on the number of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after end of the
reporting period are discounted to present value.

220 Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

(a) As lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities representing the obligations to make lease
payments and ROU assets representing the right to use the underlying leased assets.

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises ROU assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is
available for use). ROU assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of ROU assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. ROU assets are amortised on a straight line basis over the shorter of the lease term and
the estimated useful lives of the assets which ranges from 2 to 50 years.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise

of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset. The right-of-use assets
are also subject to impairment. The accounting policy for impairment is disclosed in Note 2.11.
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2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.20 Leases (continued)

(a) As lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of
a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for
the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
achange in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g. changes to future payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase
the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery (i.e. those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It
also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to
be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

(b) As lessor

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising from operating leases on the Group’s investment properties
is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the
same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Deposits payables

Deposits payables are measured at amortised cost. Deposits payables refer to security deposits received from various
tenants upon inception of the respective lease contracts on the Group’s investment properties. At the termination of
the lease contracts, the security deposits received by the Group are returned to tenants, reduced by unpaid rental
fees, penalties and/or deductions from repairs of damaged leased properties, if any. The related lease contracts
usually have a term of more than twelve months.
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2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.21 Assets held for leasing

Assets held for leasing are carried at cost and consist mainly of medical clothes and quilts. These are amortised on a
straight-line basis over five years.

Assets held for leasing are derecognised either when they have been disposed of or when the assets are permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from the assets’ disposal. Any gains or losses on the
retirement or disposal of assets held for leasing are recognised in the profit and loss accounts in the year of retirement
or disposal.

2.22 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service
to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A performance obligation may be
satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount allocated to the satisfied
performance obligation.

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:
a) Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the goods are delivered to the customer and all criteria for acceptance have been
satisfied. The amount of revenue recognised is based on the estimated transaction price, which comprises the
contractual price, net of the estimated volume discounts and adjusted for expected returns. Based on the Group’s
experience with similar types of contracts, variable consideration is typically constrained and is included in the
transaction only to the extent that it is a highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

The Group recognises the expected volume discounts payable to customer where consideration have been received
from customers and refunds due to expected returns from customers as refund liabilities. Separately, the Group
recognises a related asset for the right to recover the returned goods, based on the former carrying amount of the
good less expected costs to recover the goods, and adjusts them against cost of sales correspondingly.

At the end of each reporting date, the Group updates its assessment of the estimated transaction price, including its
assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained. The corresponding amounts are adjusted
against revenue in the period in which the transaction price changes. The Group also updates its measurement of any
asset for the right to recover returned goods for changes in its expectations about returned goods.

The Group has elected to apply the practical expedient to recognise the incremental costs of obtaining a contract as

an expense when incurred where the amortisation period of the asset that would otherwise be recognised is one year
or less.
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2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition (continued)

b) Rendering of services

Hospital services and management fees are recognised as earned when the service is rendered.

The obligation to provide the hospital services are obligation satisfied over time as the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group. The Group measures the satisfaction of the performance
obligation based on the value transferred to the customer. The Group will apply the right to invoice practical expedient
that allows the Group to recognize revenue as invoiced which is the amount that corresponds directly with the value
to the customer of the entity’s performance to date.

c) Rental income

Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms. The aggregate costs of incentives provided to lessees are recognised as a reduction of rental income

over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

d) Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method.

2.23 Taxes
a)  Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those
that are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, in the countries where the Group operates
and generates taxable income.

Current income taxes are recognised in the profit and loss accounts except to the extent that the tax relates to items
recognised outside the profit and loss accounts, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

b) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.23 Taxes (continued)

b) Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

. Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences carry-forward benefits of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward benefits of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised except:

. Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each end of the reporting period and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset
is realised or when the liability is settled, based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items
are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity

and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

109 SafSguardeng every 1omoirow

2022 Annual Report

MEDTECS INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda)
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in United States dollars unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Taxes (continued)

c) Sales tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax, except:

. Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority,
in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense
item as applicable; and

. Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables
or payables in the balance sheet.

2.24 Share capital, share premium and share issue expenses

Share capital is stated at par value of the share. Proceeds received in excess of par value, if any, is recognized as
share premium in equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.

2.25 Treasury shares

Own equity instruments that are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity
instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the consideration, if reissued, is recognized in the share
premium.

2.26 Segment reporting

For management purposes, the Group is organised on a world-wide basis into three major geographical segments.
The divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment information.

Segment revenues, expenses and results include transfers between geographical segments and between business
segments. Such transfers are accounted for on an arm’s-length basis.

2.27 Dividends
Cash dividends will be recorded as a liability when the distribution is authorised, and the distribution is no longer at

the discretion of the Company. The distribution is authorised when it is approved by the shareholders. A corresponding
amount is recognised directly in equity.
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2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.28 Contingencies
A contingent liability is:

(a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group; or

(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

i.  itis not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation; or
i.  the amount of obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

2.29 Events after the reporting period

Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s financial position at the end of the reporting
period (adjusting events) are reflected in the financial statements. Post year-end events that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to financial statements when material.

2.30 Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

* In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
* Inthe absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within

the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:
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2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.30 Fair value measurement (continued)

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

The Group’s management determines the policies and procedures for recurring fair value measurement, such as
investment properties.

External valuers are involved for valuation of investment properties. Involvement of external valuers is decided upon
annually by management. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. The management decides, after discussions with the Group’s external valuers,
which valuation techniques and inputs to use for each case.

At each reporting date, management analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are required
to be remeasured or re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting policies. For this analysis, management verifies the
major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information the valuation computation to contracts and
other relevant documents.

Management also compares the change in the fair value of each asset and liability with relevant external sources to
determine whether the change is reasonable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of
the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

2.31 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing consolidated net income for the year attributable to the equity
holders of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding during the year,
after giving retroactive effect for any stock dividends declared and stock rights exercised during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the consolidated net income for the year attributable to
the equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year plus
the weighted average number of common shares that would be issued for outstanding common stock equivalents.
The Company does not have dilutive potential common shares.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities at the end of each reporting period. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in
the future periods.

Management has made the following judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies that have
significant effects on the amounts recognized in the financial statements.

a) Judgments made in applying accounting policies
Determination of lease term of contracts with extension options

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by
an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to
terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension options. The Group applies judgment in evaluating
whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to extend the lease. That is, it considers all
relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the extension. After the commencement date, the
Group reassesses the lease term whether there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its
control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to extend (e.g. construction of significant
leasehold improvements or significant customisation to the leased asset).

The Group included the extension options in the lease term for the leases of certain land as it will entail additional
cost for the Group to look for other locations for their operations. However, the extension option for lease of a remaining
land is not included as part of the lease term because it is not reasonably certain for the Group to exercise the option
as the extension requires a mutual agreement between the lessee and the lessor.

As at 31 December 2022, potential future (undiscounted) cash outflows of approximately $9,000,000 (2021:
$9,800,000), which will mature within 26 to 51 years, have not been included in lease liabilities because it is not
reasonably certain that the leases will be extended.

b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing material adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were
prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market
changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions
when they occur.

i) Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, goodwill, property, plant and equipment, investment property and
assets held for leasing
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

i) Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, goodwill, property, plant and equipment, investment property and
assets held for leasing

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. For investments in subsidiaries,
property, plant and equipment, investment property and assets held for leasing, the Group and Company assess, at
each reporting date, whether there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group and Company estimate the asset'’s recoverable amount.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less cost of disposal
and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets. When the carrying amount of
an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written
down to its recoverable amount.

As at 31 December 2022, there is no impairment indicator that the investment property and assets leasing held by
the Group may be impaired.

In estimating the value in use requires the Group and Company to make estimates of the expected future cash flows
from the cash-generating unit incorporating the forecasted revenue growth rate and terminal growth rate and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. In determining fair value
less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an
appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples or other available fair
value indicators. The breakdown of carrying amounts of the Group and Company’s assets as at 31 December are
presented as follow:

2022 2021

$'000 $'000
Group
Goodwill 709 709
Property, plant and equipment 45,846 32,110
Company
Property, plant and equipment 194 184
Investments in subsidiaries 28,352 28,353

Animpairment of $1,000 was made against investments in subsidiaries in 2022. No impairment was charge in goodwill,
property, plant and equipment, investment property and assets held for leasing. Further details of the impairment of
investments in subsidiaries, goodwill, property, plant and equipment, investment property and assets held for leasing
are discussed in Notes 6 to 10.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
ii) Income taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations and the amount and timing of future
taxable income. Given the long-term nature and complexity of existing contractual agreements, differences arising
between the actual results and the assumptions made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate
future adjustments to tax provisions already recorded.

The Group establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of audits by the tax
authorities of the respective countries in which it operates. The amount of such provisions is based on various factors,
such as experience of previous tax audits and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the
relevant tax authority. Such differences of interpretation may arise on a wide variety of issues depending on the
conditions prevailing in the respective company’s domicile.

The carrying amount of the Group’s income tax payable as at 31 December 2022 was $2,415,000 (2021: $2,567,000).
The carrying amount of the Company’s income tax payable as at 31 December 2022 was nil (2021: nil).

iii)) Deferred taxes

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable
profits, together with future tax planning strategies.

The Group has $1,400,000 (2021: $1,900,000) of tax losses carried forward. These losses relate to Medtecs Materials
Technology Corporation (MMTC), its subsidiary located in Philippines that have history of losses, and may not be
used to offset taxable income elsewhere in the subsidiaries. MMTC neither has any taxable temporary difference nor

any tax planning opportunities available that could partly support the recognition of these losses as deferred tax assets.

The carrying amount of the Group’s recognized deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities as at 31 December 2022
were $2,106,000 (2021: $33,000) and $391,000 (2021: $147,000), respectively. The carrying amount of the Company’s
recognized deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities as at 31 December 2022 were nil (2021: $12,000) and $13,000
(2021: nil), respectively. More details are given in Note 25.

iv) Provision for expected credit losses (ECLs) of trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are based on months
past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the

matrix to adjust historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. At every reporting date, historical
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
iv) Provision for expected credit losses (ECLs) of trade receivables (continued)

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions (gross
domestic product growth rates, gross national income growth rates, net primary income rates, consumer price index
and inflation rates) and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances
and of forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs
on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in Note 14.

The carrying amount of trade receivables of the Group as at 31 December 2022 are $30,358,000 (2021: $42,347,000).
The Group recognised provision for ECL amounting to $3,591,000 in 2022 (2021: $19,000). The carrying amount of
the Company’s trade receivables as at 31 December 2022 were $25,870,000 (2021: $25,785,000). The Company
recognized provision for ECL amounting to $2,738,000 (2021: nil).

V) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment, investment property and assets held for leasing

The Group estimates the useful lives of its property, plant and equipment, investment property and assets held for leasing
based on the period over which the assets are expected to be available for use. The Group reviews annually the
estimated useful lives of the property, plant and equipment, assets held for leasing and investment property based on
factors that include asset utilisation, internal technical evaluation, technological changes, environmental and anticipated
use of the assets tempered by related industry benchmark information. It is possible that future results of operations
could be materially affected by changes in these estimates brought about by changes in the factors mentioned.

The carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, investment property and assets held for leasing
as at 31 December 2022 were $45,846,000 (2021: $32,110,000), $2,617,000 (2021: $2,728,000) and $4,116,000
(2021: $4,452,000), respectively. The carrying amount of the Company’s property, plant and equipment as at 31
December 2022 was $194,000 (2021: $184,000). More details are given in Notes 6, 7 and 8.

vi) Allowance for inventory obsolescence

The Group establishes a basis of the allocation of common costs and percentage of completion for each stage of
production of inventories upon taking into consideration of the cost directly related to the production and market
conditions existing during the period.

The Group recognises provision for inventory losses when the net realisable values of inventory items become lower
than cost due to obsolescence or other causes. Obsolescence is based on the physical and internal condition of
inventory items. Obsolescence is also established when inventory items are no longer marketable. Obsolete goods,
when identified, are charged to costs and are written down to its net realisable value. The Group reviews on a monthly
basis the condition of its inventories. The assessment of the condition of the inventory items either increases or
decreases the expenses or total inventory costs.

The carrying amount of the Group’s inventories as at 31 December 2022 were $36,394,000 (2021: $49,660,000).
The information about the allowance for inventory obsolescence is disclosed in Note 13.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

vii)  Estimating the incremental borrowing rate of the leases

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental borrowing
rate to measure lease liabilities. The incremental borrowing rate is the rate of interest that the Group would have to
pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value
to the right-of-use (ROU) assets in a similar economic environment. The incremental borrowing rate therefore reflects
what the Group ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available or when they
need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Group estimates the incremental borrowing
rate using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-
specific estimates (such as the Group’s stand-alone credit rating).

The Group’s lease liabilities amounted to $3,910,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021: $6,779,000) (Note 29).

4. SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES

Group and Company

2022 2021
$000 $000
Authorised
- 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of $0.05 each 50,000 50,000
Issued and paid up
As at 1 January and 31 December
- 549,411,240 ordinary shares of $0.05 each 27,471 27,471

The Company has only one class of shares: ordinary shares of $0.05 each, with each share carrying one vote, without
restriction. The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company
and subsequently approved by the shareholders.

Treasury Shares
Treasury shares are ordinary shares of the Company that are purchased and held by the Company and are presented

as a component within shareholders’ equity.

2022 2021
No. of shares No. of shares
‘000 $'000 ‘000 $°000

At 1 January 3,000 2,112 - -
Acquisition of treasury shares

- 1,500,000 shares at $0.166 each

- 3,000,000 shares at $0.704 each 1,500 249 3,000 2,112
At 31 December 4,500 2,361 3,000 2,112
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5. REVENUE AND OTHER RESERVES
a) Revenue reserves

The revenue reserves include accumulated profits attributable to the Group’s equity holders and reduced by dividends.

Group
2022 2021
$000 $000
Revenue reserves are retained by:
Company 53,332 68,230
Subsidiaries 67,092 84,061
120,424 152,291

b) Foreign currency translation reserves

The foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the Group’s presentation
currency.

Group
2022 2021
$°000 $000
At 1 January 2,397 3,232
Net effect of exchange differences arising
from translation of financial statements
of foreign operations (3,132) (835)
At 31 December (735) 2,397

c) Other reserves

In 2014, the Company shares were issued in consideration of the acquisition of the non-controlling interest of Medtecs
(Taiwan) Corporation (MTC). The excess of the consideration over the fair value of the net assets acquired was
recorded in “Other reserves” under the equity section of the statements of financial position.
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Impairment assessment
Machinery, Furniture,

Buildings and  equipment fixturesand  Leasehold  Transportation Construction The Company has performed impairment assessment on its property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2022
Group improvements and others  equipment improvements  equipment in progress Total as there are impairment indicators that these assets are impaired. The recoverable amounts of the property, plant and
$'000 $'000 $'000 $000 $°000 $'000 $'000 equipment are determined based on the value in use calculations using cash flow projections from financial budgets
approved by management covering a five-year period. The following assumptions were based on based on
Cost: management’s reasonable estimates of the Group’s operations:
As at 1 January 2021 24,304 38,267 3,100 4,418 1,337 - 71,426
Additions 221 2,700 427 236 277 10,233 14,094 2022
Disposals - (513) (5) - (36) - (554)
Reclassification 502 (20) (500) 18 - - - Revenue growth rates 3.0%-8.0%
Exchange differences 212 4 ©) 18 20 _ 287 Terminal growth rates 1.0% - 3.0%
As at 31 December 2021 Pre-tax discount rates 9.6% - 18.2%
and 1 January 2022 25,239 40,480 3,013 4,690 1,598 10,233 85,253 * There were no impairment indicators identified in prior years. Hence, no comparative figures were presented in the table above.
Additions 132 6,549 187 91 332 10,814 18,105
Disposals (51) (3.819) (44) - (29) - (3,943) Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculation
Reclassification 13,207 5,295 30 134 57 (18,723) -
Exchange differences (977) (511) (661) (44) (34) - (2,227) The following describes management’s key assumptions on the cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing
As at 31 December 2022 37,550 47,994 2,525 4,871 1,924 2,324 97,188 of property, plant and equipment:
Accumulated a) Budgeted gross margins

depreciation:
Gross margins are based on a mix of historical margins and expected rates improvements based on

As at 1 January 2021 12,791 30,796 1,669 4,010 661 - 49,927 management's growth strategies. These are increased over the budget period for anticipated efficiency
Depreciation charge for improvements.
the year 1,279 1,770 284 38 196 - 3,567
Disposals (25) (478) (5) - (32) - (540) b) Revenue growth rates
Exchange differences (41) (39) 120 145 4 - 189
As at 31 December 2021 The forecasted revenue growth rates are based on management’s estimate of the long-term average growth
and 1 January 2022 14,004 32,049 2,068 4,193 829 - 53,143 relevant to the assets.
Depreciation charge for
the year 836 1,593 401 148 199 - 3,177 c) Terminal growth rates
Disposals (51) (3,819) (44) - (14) - (3,928)
Reclassifications 299 (299) - - - - - The forecasted terminal growth rates are based on published industry research and do not exceed the long
Exchange differences (338) (300) (365) (25) (22) - (1,050) term average growth rate for the industries relevant to the assets.
As at 31 December 2022 14,750 29,224 2,060 4,316 992 - 51,342 .
d) Pre-tax discount rates
Net carrying amount: Discount rates reflect management’s estimate of the risks specific to these assets. This is the benchmark
As at 31 December 2021 11,235 8,431 945 497 769 10,233 32,110 used by management to assess operating performance and to evaluate future investment proposals. In

determining appropriate discount rates for these assets, reference has been given to the specific
circumstances of the assets and derived from their weighted average cost of capital (WACC). The WACC
takes into account both debt and equity. The cost of equity is derived from the expected return on investment
by the Group’s investors. The cost of debt is based on the interest-bearing borrowings the Group is obliged
to service. Risk specific to these assets is incorporated by applying individual beta factors. The beta factors
are evaluated annually based on publicly available market data.

As at 31 December 2022 22,800 18,770 465 555 932 2,324 45,846
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Impairment assessment (continued)
Assets pledged as security
Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
As of 31 December 2022, there were property, plant and equipment with carrying amount of $4,900,000 (2021:
If the revenue growth rates and terminal growth rates have been decreased to the following rates or pre-tax discount $5,500,000) that were mortgaged to secure various loans as disclosed in Note 18.

rates have been increased to the following rates, the estimated recoverable amount would be almost equal to the

carrying amount.

Disposals of property, plant and equipment

2022 In 2022, the Group sold property, plant and equipment with a total net carrying amount of $15,000 for a cash
consideration of $180,000. The gain on disposals of $165,000 were recognized as part of the other income in the
Revenue growth rates 0% -7.0% statement of profit or loss (Note 20).
Terminal growth rates 0% -0.7%

Pre-tax discount rates

10.4% - 19.0%

7. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Group
Machinery, 2022 2021
Company Buildings and  furniture, fixtures Leasehold Transportation ~ Construction $'000 $°000
improvements  and equipment  improvements equipment in progress Total
$'000 $°000 $'000 $'000 $°000 $°000 Cost:
Cost: As at 1 January and 31 December 5,465 5,465
As at 1 January 2021 2,457 3,484 10 50 - 6,001
Additions 1 54 - - 100 155
As at 31 December 2021 2,458 3,538 10 50 100 6,156 Accumulated depreciation:
and 1 January 2022 As at 1 January 2,737 2,626
Additions - 28 14 25 34 101 Depreciation charge for the year 11 111
Reclassifications - - 134 - (134) - As at 31 December 2,848 2,737
As at 31 December 2022 2,458 3,566 158 75 - 6,257 Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2,617 2,728
Accumulated Profit and loss account:
depreciation: Rental income (Note 29) 613 613
As at 1 January 2021 Depreciation charge of:
. 2450 3444 7 50 - 5951 Investment property (Note 24) (111) (111)
Depreciation charge for 4 15 2 B 21 Right-of-use asset (12) (12)
the year - Repairs and maintenance 9) 9)
As at 31 December 2021 Taxes and licenses (11) (13)
and 1 January 2022 2,454 3,459 9 50 - 5,972 Insurance (3) (4)
Depreciation charge for
the year 4 40 43 4 - 91 467 464
As at 31 December 2022 2,458 3,499 52 54 - 6,063
Net carrying amount: The Group’s investment property includes building and building improvements located in No. 7 corners of Argonaut
As at 31 December 2021 4 79 1 - 100 184 Highway, Efficiency Avenue and Duty street, within Subic Bay Gateway Park, Subic Bay Freeport Zone, Olongapo
City, Zambales, Philippines that are held to earn rentals. The Group have no restrictions on the realisability of its
As at 31 December 2022 - 67 106 21 - 194 investment properties and no contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment property or for
repairs, maintenance or enhancements.
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7.  INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

Valuation of investment property

Investment property is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses as at 31
December 2022 and 2021. A fair valuation of the investment properties was performed by an independent appraiser
with recognized and relevant professional qualification. Details of valuation techniques and inputs used are disclosed
in Note 33 to the financial statements.

Aggregate fair value of the investment property was determined using the income approach. Income approach is a
method in which the appraiser derives an indication of value for income producing property by converting anticipated
future benefits into current property value. During the current financial year, the discount rate of 12.3% (2021: 9.9%)
used under the income approach for valuing anticipated future benefits into current property value is computed under
the “Built-Up” method. As of 31 December 2022, fair market value of the investment property, which is based on its
highest and best use, amounted to $3,774,000 (2021: $4,285,000). The fair value is categorized under Level 3
(valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or
indirectly observable) fair value hierarchy.

8. ASSETS HELD FOR LEASING

Group

2022 2021

$'000 $°000
Cost:
As at 1 January 9,652 7,828
Additions 1,674 2,280
Written off - 17)
Disposals (793) (439)
As at 31 December 10,533 9,652
Accumulated depreciation:
As at 1 January 5,200 3,470
Amortisation charge for the year 1,988 2,136
Written off - 17)
Disposals (771) (389)
As at 31 December 6,417 5,200
Net carrying amount as at 31 December 4,116 4,452
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9. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Investments in subsidiaries comprise:

Unquoted equity shares, at cost

Less: Impairment loss

(a)  The Group has the following subsidiaries as at 31 December:

Name

Principal activities

Country of
incorporation and
place of business

2022 Annual Report

Company
2022 2021
$000 $°000
28,369 28,369
17) (16)
28,352 28,353

Percentage of equity
held by the Company

Cost of investment by
the Company

Held by the Company
Universal Weavers

Corporation (UWC) (@

Contex Corporation
(coy@

Medtecs (Taiwan)
Corporation (MTC) ®)

Medtex Corporation @

Medtecs (Cambodia)
Corporation Limited
(MCCL)©

Medtecs (Asia Pacific)
Pte. Ltd. (MAP) ()

Medtecs Materials
Technology Corporation
(MMTC) @

Medtecs MSEZ Corp.,
Ltd. (MMSEZ) ©
Medtecs USA
Corporation

Manufacturing and trading of woven
and knitted fabrics

Trading of hospital textiles and
garments, pillow cases, bed sheets,
gowns and apparel, and subleasing
activities

Manufacturing, leasing, marketing
and distribution of medical
consumables and provision of
hospital laundry services

Manufacturing and sale of elastic
bandages, garters and other
garment products

Manufacturing of medical
consumables and provision of
procurement services

Sale of woven and knitted fabrics
and other made-up articles of textile
products

Manufacturing, leasing and trading
of woven and knitted fabrics, other
made-up articles of textile, medical
and healthcare related products,
and provision of hospital laundry
services

Manufacturing of woven and non-
woven fabric

Manufacturing and supplying of
personal protective equipment and
healthcare products

Philippines

Philippines

Republic of
China

Philippines

Cambodia

Singapore

Philippines

Cambodia

United States of
America (USA)

2022 2021 2022 2021
% % $'000 $°000
100.0 100.0 5,863 0) 5,863 ()

98.8 @) 98.8 @)

100.0 ™ 100.0 ™

100.0 100.0
100.0 100.0
100.0 100.0
100.0 100.0
100.0 ® 100.0 ®

100.0m  100.0 ™

1,854 1,854

7,569 0) 7,569 0)

474 0) 474 0)

2,038 0) 2,038 0)

12410 12410

2,021 2,021

3,370 3,370

100 100
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9.  INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 9. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Country of (@) Audited by Sycip, Gorres, Velayo & Co. (Member of Ernst & Young Global)
incorporation and  Percentage of equity Cost of investment by the (©) Audited by Ernst & Young, Taiwan
Name Principal activities place of business  held by the Company Company () Audited by Ernst & Young (Cambodia) Ltd
2022 2021 2022 2021 @ Audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore
% % $'000 $'000 © Audited by other accounting firms
Ll No statutory audit is required in the country of incorporation
Held by the Company (continued @ Certain shares are held by non-controlling interests which are equivalent to 1.2% of the total paid-up capital.
Medtecs (Far East) Sale of woven and knitted Hong Kong 100.0 100.0 -0 1 () Certain shares held by non-controlling interests which are equivalent to 7.6% of the total paid-up capital were acquired by the Company in
Limited fabrics and other made-up Special 2014
articles of textile products Administrative @) Certain shares are held by non-controlling interests which are equivalent to 48.9% of the total paid up capital.
Region 0 Includes equity-settled share options granted to employees of the subsidiaries which were regarded as capital contribution to the subsidiaries.
Cooper Development Investment holding Malaysia 100.0 100.0 3,8220) 3,8220) (C) Includes allowance for impairment of $16,000 as this subsidiary had been previously making losses.
Limited (© 0 In 2020, the Board approved for the acquisition by the Company of all shares of MMSEZ, previously MTC’s wholly owned subsidiary, for a
L total investment cost of $3,370,000.
Held through subsidiaries (m) In 2020, Medtecs USA Corporation has been incorporated with an investment cost of $100,000, representing 100% shareholdings of the
Hangzhou Jincheng Manufacturing and trading of People’s 100.0 100.0 - - subsidiary.
Medical Supplies woven and non-woven Republic of China () MAP has incorporated RMPL on 18 January 2021. On the same announcement date, MAP has entered into a joint venture agreement with a
Manufacture Co., Ltd. medical consumables third-party company to govern their relationship as shareholders over RMPL. As of 31 December 2022, MAP and the third-party company have
(Jinchen) (@ a total subscribed and paid-up capital amounting to $6,000,000 and $3,000,000 (2021: $6,000,000 and $2,500,000), respectively, for the
$9,000,000 (2021: $8,500,000) total issued capital of RMPL. This represents certain shares are held by non-controlling interests which are
Zibo Lianheng Textiles ~ Manufacturing and trading of People’s 51.10) 51.10) - - equivalent to 33.3% (2021: 29.4%) of the total paid-up capital.
Co., Ltd. (Lianheng) woven fabrics Republic of China (0) On 16 March 2021, RMPL had incorporated RMKH Glove as its wholly owned subsidiary with an issued and paid-up capital of $2,000,000.
®) On 1 December 2021, RMKH Glove incorporated RMKH Cambodia as its wholly owned subsidiary with an issued and paid-up capital of
Zibo Liancheng Textiles ~ Manufacturing and trading of People’s 100.0 100.0 - - $2:500,000. _ ) ) ) ) » )
& Garments Co. Ltd. ® woven fabrics Republic of China (@ On 14 October 2021, Jinchen had incorporated Hangzhou Jincheng Medical Technology Co., Ltd. as its wholly owned subsidiary, with total
paid-up capital of RMB500,000.
(] Fully impaired as this subsidiary had not been operating already.
Resilient Medical Pte. Manufacturing and Singapore 66.7(M 70.6(M - -
L. (RMPL) © SquIy'_ng of p_ersonal (b) Interests in subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests:
protective equipment and
healihcare products Proportion of ownership Accumulated material
interest held by material non-controlling interest at end
RMKH Glove Pte. Ltd. Manufacturing and Singapore 66.70) 70.60) - - non-controlling interests of reporting period
(RMKH Glove) @) supplying of personal 2022 2021 2022 2021
protective equipment and % % $000 $'000
healthcare products
Lianheng 48.9% 48.9% 367 367
RMKH Glove Manufacturing and sale of Cambodia 66.7¢) 70.60) - - RMPL and subsidiaries 33.3% 29.4% 2,214 2,401
(Cambodia) Co., Ltd. gloves
(RMKH Cambodia) )
Hangzhou Jincheng Sale of hygiene products, People’s 100.0@ 100.0@ - -
Medical Technology Co., medical equipment and Republic of China
Ltd. (Jinchen disposable medical supplies
Technology) ©
28,352 28,353
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9. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(c) Summarised financial information of subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

The following summarised financial information for the subsidiaries with non-controlling interests are prepared in
accordance with SFRS(l)s, modified for fair value adjustments on acquisition and differences in the Group’s

accounting policies.

Summarized statements of financial position

Lianheng RMPL and subsidiaries
2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Non-current assets - - 22,218 12,496
Current assets 750 750 3,335 10,048
Non-current liabilities - - (4,211) (2,642)
Current liabilities - - (14,692) (11,736)
Net assets 750 750 6,650 8,166
Net assets attributable to NCI 367 367 2,214 2,401 |
Summarized statements of comprehensive income
Lianheng RMPL and subsidiaries
2022 2021 2022 2021
$000 $000 $000 $000
Revenue - - - -
Loss for the year, representing total _
comprehensive loss (net of tax) (716) (2.016) (335)
Total comprehensive loss allocated
to NCI - (350) (671) (98)
Summarized statements of cash flows
Lianheng RMPL and subsidiaries
2022 2021 2022 2021
$000 $°000 $000 $000
Operating - - (834) 11,680
Investing - - (8,458) (10,133)
Financing — — 50 8,500
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and _ _ (9,242) 10,047

cash equivalents
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9. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(d) Impairment assessment

The Company has performed impairment assessment on its investments in subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022 as
there are impairment indicators that these investments are impaired. The recoverable amounts of the investments are
determined based on the value in use calculations using cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period. The following assumptions were based on based on management’s
reasonable estimates of the Group’s operations in respective countries:

Philippines Cambodia China
Key assumptions
Revenue growth rates 3.0% 5.0% 8.0%
Terminal growth rates 3.0% 5.0% 2.3%
Pre-tax discount rates 11.4%-14.4% 12.2%-18.2% 11.1%

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculation

The following describes management'’s key assumptions on the cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing
of investment in subsidiaries:

a) Budgeted gross margins

Gross margins are based on a mix of historical margins and expected rates improvements based on
management's growth strategies. These are increased over the budget period for anticipated efficiency
improvements.

b) Revenue growth rates

The forecasted revenue growth rates are based on management's estimate of the long-term average growth
relevant to the investments in subsidiaries.

c) Terminal growth rates

The forecasted terminal growth rates are based on published industry research and do not exceed the long
term average growth rate for the industries relevant to the investment in subsidiaries.

d) Pre-tax discount rates

Discount rates reflect management’s estimate of the risks specific to each investment in subsidiaries. This
is the benchmark used by management to assess operating performance and to evaluate future investment
proposals. In determining appropriate discount rates for each investment in subsidiaries, reference has been
given to the specific circumstances of the investment in subsidiaries and derived from their weighted average
cost of capital (WACC). The WACC takes into account both debt and equity. The cost of equity is derived
from the expected return on investment by the Group’s investors. The cost of debt is based on the interest-
bearing borrowings the Group is obliged to service. Risk specific to the investment in subsidiaries is
incorporated by applying individual beta factors. The beta factors are evaluated annually based on publicly
available market data.
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9. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(d) Impairment assessment (continued)

Sensitivity to changes in assumption

If the revenue growth rates and terminal growth rates have been decreased to the following rates or pre-tax discount

rates have been increased to the following rates, the estimated recoverable amount would be almost equal to the
carrying amount.

Philippines Cambodia China
Revenue growth rates 0% 0% -1% 5.3%
Terminal growth rates 0% 0% - 0.9% 0%
Pre-tax discount rates 11.4% - 14.4% 12.9% - 19.0% 11.5%
10. GOODWILL
Group

2022 2021

$'000 $000
As at 1 January and 31 December 709 709

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to the CGU, for impairment testing as follows:

2022 2021

$'000 $'000
Manufacturing 198 198
Hospital services 511 511
709 709

Impairment assessment

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on the value in use calculations using cash flow
projections from financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. For the purpose of
estimating the recoverable amounts of the CGUs, management had used the following key assumptions for the cash
flow projections given its existing business model and expansion of its distribution channel in China and Taiwan:
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10. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment assessment (continued)

Revenue Terminal Pre-tax
growth rates growth rates discount rates
% % %

2022
Manufacturing 7.0-10.0 1.0 9.6
Hospital services 7.0-10.0 1.0 9.6
2021
Manufacturing 8.0 8.0 12.2
Hospital services 8.0 8.0 8.3

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculation

The following describes management'’s key assumptions on the cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing
of goodwill:

a) Budgeted gross margins

Gross margins are based on a mix of historical margins and expected rates improvements based on management's
growth strategies. These are increased over the budget period for anticipated efficiency improvements.

b) Revenue growth rates

The forecasted revenue growth rates are based on management's estimate of the long-term average growth
relevant to the cash-generating unit.

c) Terminal growth rates

The forecasted terminal growth rates are based on published industry research and do not exceed the long
term average growth rate for the industries relevant to the cash-generating unit.

d) Market share assumptions

Market share assumptions are important because management assesses how the cash-generating unit's
position relative to its competitors might change over the budget period.

e) Pre-tax discount rates

Discount rates reflect management's estimate of the risks specific to each cash-generating unit. This is the
benchmark used by management to assess operating performance and to evaluate future investment
proposals. In determining appropriate discount rates for each cash-generating unit, reference has been given
to the specific circumstances of the cash-generating units and derived from their weighted average cost of
capital. The WACC takes into account both debt and equity. The cost of equity is derived from the expected
return on investment by the Group’s investors. The cost of debt is based on the interest-bearing borrowings
the Group is obliged to service. Risk specific to the cash-generating unit is incorporated by applying individual
beta factors. The beta factors are evaluated annually based on publicly available market data.
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10. GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment assessment (continued)
Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
Manufacturing

If the revenue growth rates and terminal growth rates have been decreased to the following rates or pre-tax discount rates
have been increased to the following rates, the estimated recoverable amount would be almost equal to the carrying amount.

2022 2021
Revenue growth rates 7.0% -9.0% 5.6%
Terminal growth rates 0.7% 1.7%
Pre-tax discount rates 10.8% 13.2%

Hospital services

If the revenue growth rates and terminal growth rates have been decreased to the following rates or pre-tax discount rates
have been increased to the following rates, the estimated recoverable amount would be almost equal to the carrying amount.

2022 2021
Revenue growth rates 6.6% — 8.6% 4.2%
Terminal growth rates 0% 3.5%
Pre-tax discount rates 12.2% 9.2%
11. DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES

Company

2022 2021

$'000 $°000
Due from subsidiaries (trade) 2,795 8,917
Due from subsidiaries (nontrade) 14,130 11,601

16,925 20,518

Amounts due from subsidiaries (trade) are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are payable upon demand.

Amounts due from subsidiaries (nontrade) pertain to advances made by the Company to RMPL for funding its
construction activities, which are unsecured, interest bearing at 7% per annum and are also payable upon demand.
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12.  OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
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Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Quoted equity investments 3,361 1,843 - -
Investment in unquoted bond 3,000 - - -
Deposits 1,121 610 92 93
Guarantee deposit 557 712 - -
Others 578 622 20 20
8,617 3,787 112 113

Quoted equity investments

The Group has considered the nature, characteristics and risks of investment as well as the level of the fair value
hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorized.

The Group measured its quoted equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income under Level 1

of the valuation hierarchy and its valuation techniques is based on quoted market prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities.

Investment in unquoted bond
During the financial year, the Group has invested in unquoted government bonds from Cambodian government
amounting to $3,000,000 with a term of 3 years and interest rate of 5.5%. The Group measured its investment in

unquoted bond at amortised cost and for which the fair value is disclosed based on unobservable inputs for the quoted
market prices, valuations or quotes under Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy. Details are presented under Note 33.

Deposits

Deposits pertain to refundable deposits from lease agreement and utility consumption agreements, which will be
refunded to the Group at the end of term of the contract.

Guarantee deposit

Guarantee deposit pertains to deposits given to hospital clients in Taiwan as guarantee to perform services during the
term of the service contracts, which will be refunded to the Group at the end of the term of the contract.

Others include golf club membership and other long-term investments.
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13. INVENTORIES

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At cost:
Goods-in-transit 2,510 1,129 2,190 -
Raw materials 27,925 26,578 - 12
Work-in-progress 2,198 5,434 - 12
Supplies and spare parts 972 2,679 - 1
Finished goods 18,536 18,001 3,027 2,365
52,141 53,821 5,217 2,390
At net realisable value:
Goods-in-transit 2,424 1,129 1,445 -
Raw materials 21,545 25,150 - 12
Work-in-progress 777 5,512 - 12
Supplies and spare parts 961 2,613 - 1
Finished goods 10,687 15,256 1,859 2,365
36,394 49,660 3,304 2,390
At lower of cost or net realisable value 36,394 49,660 3,304 2,390

The Group’s inventories charged to operations in 2022 were $32,316,000 (2021: $64,269,000) (Note 24). Inventories
are stated at net realisable value (“NRV”) after allowance for inventory obsolescence. Movements in the allowance

for inventory losses during the year are as follows:

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
As at 1 January 4,161 3,002 - -
Charge for the year 11,748 3,000 1,913 _
Written off (158) (1,841) - -
Exchange differences 4) - - -
As at 31 December 15,747 4,161 1,913 -

In 2022, the Group and the Company recognized a provision for inventory obsolescence amounting to $11,748,000
and $1,913,000, respectively, arising from the inventory write-down of cost to its NRV, following the steep decline in
average selling prices of PPE and face masks in the global market at the end of the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition,

the Group also recognized provision amounting to $101,000 (2021: nil) for slow and non-moving inventories.
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Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Trade receivables

Manufacturing 31,473 38,896 28,608 25,785
Hospital services 2,253 2,232 - -
Distribution and Others 426 1,454 - -
34,152 42,582 28,608 25,785

Less: Allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) (3,794) (235) (2,738) -

Total trade receivables 30,358 42,347 25,870 25,785

Add: Cash and cash equivalents and
fixed deposits (Note 16) 35,281 58,290 3,366 15,711
Other current assets (Note 15) 6,102 13,072 2,277 7,672
Due from subsidiaries (Note 11) - - 16,925 20,518
Other non-current assets 8,617 3,787 112 113

(Note 12)

Less: Prepayments (Note 15) (846) (1,420) (568) (762)
Tax receivables (Note 15) (944) (970) - -
Advances to supplier — net

(Note 15) (2,664) (6,145) (773) (2,881)
Quoted equity investments

(Note 12) (3,361) (1,843) - -
Deposits and guarantee deposit

(Note 12) (1,678) (1,322) (92) (93)
Others (Note 12) (578) (622) (20) (20)

Total financial assets carried at
amortised cost 70,287 105,174 47,097 66,043

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 1 to 4 months’ term. They are recognised at their

original invoice amounts, which represent fair values on initial recognition.

Trade receivables denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December are as follows:

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $000 $'000 $000
Philippine peso 339 576 - -
Renminbi 51 263 - -
New Taiwan dollar 2,333 1,930 - -
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14. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 15. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS (continued)
Expected credit losses (“ECLS”) Sundry receivables include rent receivables and claims from third parties.
The movement in allowance for ECLs of trade receivables computed based on lifetime ECL are as follows: Other deposits include a construction bond and refundable deposit expected to be collected within 12 months.
Group Company Other current assets denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December are as follows:
2022 2021 2022 2021
$000 $:000 $000 $000 Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
As at 1 January 235 220 - -
Chlarge for the year 3,591 19 2,738 - Renminbi 1,248 274 _ _
Written off (23) - - - Philippine peso 303 599 38 333
Exchange differences (9) 4 - - New Taiwan dollar 709 1,734 - -
Singapore dollar 9 314 - -
As at 31 December 3,794 235 2,738 -
In 2022, the Group and the Company recognized a provision for ECL amounting to $3,591,000 and $2,738,000, 16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND FIXED DEPOSITS
respectively, arising from specific provisions on aged receivables and general provisions from management’s
assessment on collectability to its customers based on historical default rates. Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$000 $°000 $°000 $°000
15. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Cash in hand 2,815 43 2,771 1
Group Company Cash at bank 9,262 48,972 595 15,710
2022 2021 2022 2021 Fixed deposits 23,204 9,275 - -
$000 $000 $000 $000 35,281 58,290 3,366 15,711
Less: Fixed d its with maturity of
Advances to suppliers 2918 6,195 1,027 2,931 68s: Fixed ceposits with malurity ©
more than 3 months but less
Prepayments 846 1,420 568 762 )
than 1 year (inc. pledged fixed
Advances to employees 165 62 28 23 deposits) (17,159) (9,275) _ _
Tax receivables 944 970 - - P ' '
Other deposits 107 414 107 8 18,122 49,015 3,366 15,711
Sundry receivables 1,376 4,061 801 3,998
Less: Allowance for ECL (254) (50) (254) (50)
Bank balances of the Group and of the Company earns interest at floating rates based on bank deposit rates.
6,102 13,072 2,277 7,672 Fixed deposits of the Group amounting to $833,000 (2021: $777,000) are pledged in connection with credit facilities
granted by banks and short-term maturing loans. In addition, the withdrawal of such fixed deposits is subject to the
banks’ approval in connection with overdraft facilities, which the Group has total unused credit facilities amounting to
Advances to suppliers are payments to suppliers for future deliveries of inventories that are to be liquidated within a $53,000,000 as of 31 December 2022 (2021: $54,000,000). The fixed deposits are denominated in US$ and PHP
year. In 2022, the Group has written off $1,500,000 of advances to suppliers due to management'’s assessment that and earn annual interest ranging from 1.75% to 5.25% (2021: 0.08% to 3.6%).

the aged advances will no longer be collectible (2021: nil).
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16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND FIXED DEPOSITS (continued)

The cash and bank balances denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December are as follows:

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

$'000 $000 $'000 $000
Philippine peso 4,866 3,485 43 44
New Taiwan dollar 3,451 3,351 2,770 -
Singapore dollar 683 15,444 134 7,124
Renminbi 685 692 - -
Euros 7 52 1 52

Interest income earned by the Group and Company from fixed deposits amounted to $453,000 (2021: $33,000) and
$26,000 (2021: $4,000), respectively.

17. TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $000 $'000 $000
Trade payables 1,815 4,572 199 600
Other current liabilities:
Other creditors 2,660 1,427 553 857
Accrued operating expenses 1,972 1,766 24 25
Total trade and other current liabilities 6,447 7,765 776 1,482
Add: Lease liabilities (Note 29) 3,910 6,779 316 476
Loans and borrowings (Note 18) 15,643 9,306 - -
Less: Tax payables to government (191) (1,156) (19) (163)
institutions
Total financial liabilities carried at
amortised cost 25,809 22,694 1,073 1,795

Trade payables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are payable within one year.

Amounts due to other creditors include payable to government institutions and advances from customers.
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17. TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES (continued)

Trade payables and other current liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December are as follows:

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $000 $000 $000
New Taiwan dollar 1,178 2,341 - -
Renminbi 1,515 1,034 - -
Philippine peso 1,065 1,372 78 357
18. LOANS AND BORROWINGS
Group
Weighted
average effective
interest rate 2022 2021
(per annum) Maturity $'000 $'000
New Taiwan Dollar (NTD) loans
- Unsecured 2.04% 2023 978 3,889
- Secured 1.80% 2023 14,665 5,417

Total current interest-bearing loans and borrowings 15,643 9,306

Property, plant and equipment and fixed deposits with carrying amounts of $4,900,000 and $833,000, respectively
(2021: $5,500,000 and $777,000, respectively) (Notes 6 and 16) are used to secure the loans and borrowings of the
Group amounting to $14,665,000 (2021: $5,417,000).

The loans and borrowings pertain to withdrawn amount from the revolving credit line of the Group, which are short-
term in nature, have payment terms from 2 to 6 months and can be renewed upon maturity. In March 2023, the Group

has renewed its bank loans amounting to $15,000,000 upon maturity.

A reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is as follows:

Non-cash changes
31 December 2021/

1 January 2022 Net cash flows Others 31 December 2022
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Loans and borrowings 9,306 6,337 - 15,643
Lease liabilities 6,779 (5,855) 2,986 3,910
Accrued interest 19 (423) 404 -
Total 16,104 59 3,390 19,553
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Amounts in United States dollars unless otherwise stated) 19. REVENUE
18. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued) Disaggregation of revenue
Group Manufacturing Hospital Services Distribution and Others Total
A reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is as follows: (continued) 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
$°000 $'000 $000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
_Non-cash changes Primary
31 December 2020/ geographical
1 January 2021 Net cash flows Others 31 December 2021 markets
$'000 $'000 $'000 $000 North America 9,610 37,642 - - - - 9,610 37,642
Asia Pacific 11,513 50,233 14,312 14,971 6,251 11,247 32,076 76,451
Term loans 1,250 (1,250) - - Europe 14,343 30,062 - - - - 14,343 30,062
- noncurrent 228 (228) - - Australia 214 - - — — — 214 -
Loans and borrowings 31,603 (22,297) _ 9,306 35,680 117,937 14,312 14,971 6,251 11,247 56,243 144,155
Lease liabilities 3,544 (849) 4,084 6,779
Accrued interest 24 (408) 403 19 Revenue from
contracts
Total 36,649 (25,032) 4,487 16,104 Revenue from
manufacturing 35,680 117,937 - - - - 35,680 117,937
Revenue from
The ‘others’ column relates to reclassification of non-current portion of loans and borrowings and lease liabilities due hospital services _ _ 14.312 14.971 _ _ 14312 14.971
to passage of time. Revenue from ' ' ' '
distribution and
others - - - - 6,251 11,247 6,251 11,247
35,680 117,937 14,312 14,971 6,251 11,247 56,243 144,155
Timing of
transfer of
goods or
services
At a point in time 35,680 117,937 - - 5,638 10,634 41,318 128,571
Over time - - 14,312 14,971 613 613 14,925 15,584

35,680 117,937 14,312 14,971 6,251 11,247 56,243 144,155

Contex Corporation earned rental revenue for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 amounting to $612,501
(2021: $612,501) included under Distribution and others segment (Note 29).

Revenues from major customer of the Group’s Manufacturing segment represent approximately 36% for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: $30%) of the Group’s total revenues.
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19. REVENUE (continued) 21. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Set out below is the disaggregation of the Company’s revenue from contracts with customers: Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$°000 $000 $000 $000
2022 2021
Company $000 $000 Personnel expenses
. . Wages, salaries and bonus 25,437 31,313 4,189 3,509
Primary geographical markets - !
North America 7329 17714 Defined benefit plans and
Asia Pacific 3273 51,286 other social expenses 1,368 1,388 48 53
Australia 214 — 26,805 32,701 4,237 3,562
10,816 69,000 ' ’ ' ’
Revenue from contracts . . . , L
Revenue from manufacturing 10,816 69,000 Personnel expenses include amounts disclosed as directors’ remuneration in Note 28(b).
Timing of transfer of goods or Group Company
services 2022 2021 2022 2021
At a point in time 10,816 69,000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Personnel expenses

20. OTHER INCOME - NET Cost of sales 17,282 24,851 29 67
Administrative expenses 7,188 6,305 3,292 3,072
Group Company Distribution and selling expenses 2,335 1,545 916 423
2022 2021 2022 2021 26,805 32,701 4,237 3,562
$000 $000 $000 $000
Foreign exchange gain/(loss) 830 25 (159) 42 The other employee benefits include the expenses related to the defined contribution plan of MTC. The Labor Pension
Rent income 213 46 601 _ Act (the "Act") in Taiwan, which provides for a new defined contribution plan, took effect on 1 July 2005. Employees
Gain/(loss) on disposals 165 58 (430) 461 already covered by the Labor Standard Law (the “Law”) can choose to remain to be subject to the pension mechanism
Scrap sales 630 698 _ _ under the Law or to be subject to the Act. Under the Act, the rate of the employer monthly contribution to the pension
Gain from insurance claims 78 _ 78 _ fund should be at least 6% of the employee’s monthly wages.
Other income from reversal of )
long-outstanding liabilities 42 704 3 704 Pension plan
Others 503 233 28 26 . . . . o X
This relates to the amount of pension benefit expense provided for the subsidiaries and the branch in the Group
2461 1,764 121 1,233 operating in the Philippines covering substantially all its regular employees. Retirement benefits under the plan are

based on a percentage of latest monthly salary and years of credited service. The directors review the pension benefits
expense with sufficient regularity such that the amount recorded does not differ materially from the amount to be
Others include facilitation grant, administration fee and canteen rental and various miscellaneous and operating recorded in compliance with SFRS(I) 1-19 at the end of the year.

income generated, among others.

Under the existing regulatory framework, Republic Act 7641 of the Philippines, Retirement Pay Law, a provision for
retirement pay is required to qualified private sector employees in the absence of any retirement plan in the entity,
provided however, that the employee’s retirement benefits under any collective bargaining and other agreements shall
not be less than those provided under the law. The law does not require minimum funding of the plan.

The latest independent actuarial valuation of the plan was as of 31 December 2022 prepared by an independent
actuary, and is determined using the projected unit credit actuarial cost method in accordance with SFRS(I) 1-19.
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21. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Pension plan (continued)

The components of the pension benefit expense recognised in the profit and loss accounts are as follows:

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Current service cost 74 95 18 23
Interest cost 49 41 1" 10
Net benefit expense 123 136 29 33

The amount recognised in the balance sheet arising from the Group’s and the Company’s unfunded obligation in
respect of its defined benefit plan in 2022 were $811,000 (2021: $1,075,000) and $167,000 (2021: $240,000),
respectively. The management of the Group is still contemplating on a scheme to fund the pension plan.

Changes in the present value of the unfunded defined benefit obligations are as follows:

Unfunded pension plan

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
As at 1 January 1,075 1,221 240 276
Current service cost 74 95 18 23
Interest cost 49 41 1 10
Benefits paid (35) (28) (29) (15)
Translation adjustment (89) (60) 17) (16)
Net remeasurement gain (263) (194) (56) (38)
As at 31 December 811 1,075 167 240

The principal actuarial assumptions as at 31 December used to determine pension benefits are as follows:

Discount rate

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
7.02% - 7.10% 4.91% - 4.98% 7.10% 4.98%
5.0% 5.0% 5.0%

Salary increase rate 5.0%
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21. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
Pension plan (continued)

The history of experience adjustments are as follows:

Group
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
$'000 $'000 $°000 $000 $000
Unfunded defined benefit obligation 811 1,075 1,221 927 585
Change in assumption adjustments on
plan liabilities (233) (221) 267 133 (150)
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities (30) 27 (119) 110 (26)
Company
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Unfunded defined benefit obligation 167 240 276 225 133
Change in assumption adjustments on
plan liabilities (55) (45) 42 53 (33)
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities - 7 (29) 17 (30)

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumption as at 31 December 2022 is as shown below:

Impact on defined benefit obligation

Group Company
(Decrease)/increase (Decrease)/increase
Assumptions Sensitivity Level $'000 $'000
Discount rates +0.5% (45) (11)
-0.5% 41 1
Future salary increases +2% 209 49
-2% (161) (38)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on defined
benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period.
The sensitivity analyses are based on a change in a key assumption, keeping all other assumptions constant. The
sensitivity analyses may not be representative of an actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely
that changes in assumptions would occur in isolation from one another.
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21. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Pension plan (continued)

The following payments are expected contributions to the defined benefit plan obligation in future years as at 31

December 2022:

Within the next 12 months (next annual reporting period)

More than 1 year to 5 years
More than 5 years to 10 years
More than 10 years to 15 years
More than 15 years to 20 years
More than 20 years

The average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting period is 18.5 years (2021: 19.0 years).

22.  FINANCIAL INCOME

Group Company
$'000 $'000
37 -
101 29
631 64
1,604 368
1,636 510
3,674 1,337
7,683 2,308

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Interest income from:
- Fixed deposits 453 33 26 4
- Investment in unquoted bond 165 - - -
- Loan and receivables 24 - 24 -
- Subsidiaries - - 765 112
Dividend income from quoted equity

investments 263 - - -

Total financial income 905 33 815 116
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23. FINANCIAL EXPENSES

Interest expense on:

- Loans from third parties

- Lease liabilities (Note 29)
Other finance costs

Total financial expenses

2022 Annual Report

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$000 $000 $000 $°000
423 398 208 10
396 455 36 33
132 38 4 3
951 891 248 46

Other finance costs include bank charges for loans, transfers of funds, payments and collections, and other related

costs.

24. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The following items have been included in arriving at (loss)/profit before tax:

Cost of sales and services

Cost of goods sold

Provision for inventory obsolescence
(Note 13)

Personnel expenses (Note 21)

- wages, salaries and bonus

- defined benefit plans

- other social expenses

Depreciation

- property, plant and equipment (Note 6)

- investment property (Note 7)

- assets held for leasing (Note 8)

- right-of-use assets (Note 29)

Operating lease expenses (Note 29)

Distribution and selling expenses
Personnel expenses (Note 21)

- wages, salaries and bonus

- defined benefit plans

- other social expenses

Freight-out expenses

Advertising expenses

Commission expenses

Professional fees

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

$000 $°000 $000 $°000
20,568 61,269 5,111 41,665
11,748 3,000 1,913 -
16,188 23,729 14 39
94 117 13 25
1,000 1,005 2 3
1,868 2,239 - 1
111 111 - _
1,988 2,136 - _
125 78 2 2
219 401 - _
2,206 1,435 907 417
7 4 4 1
122 106 5 5
5,916 6,457 4,181 2,738
2,123 1,444 2,123 1,444
192 644 191 572
124 558 - _
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25. INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)

24, (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

a) Major components of income tax (credit)/expense
Group Company The major components of income tax (credit)/expense for the years ended 31 December are:
2022 2021 2022 2021 Group Company
$000 $'000 $°000 $°000 2022 2021 2022 2021
Administrative expenses $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Personnel expenses (Note 21)
- wages, salaries and bonus 7,043 6,149 3,268 3,053 Current tax expense 499 442 - -
- defined benefit plans and other social Deferred tax expense:
expenses 145 156 24 19 Origination and reversal of temporary
Provision for ECL (Notes 14 and 15) 3,795 19 2,942 - differences (1,890) (34) 25 -
Depreciation
- property, plant and equipment (Note 6) 1,309 1,328 91 21 Income tax (credit)/expense
- right-of-use assets (Note 29) 1,003 ™ 177 68 recognized in the profit and loss (1,391) 408 25 -
Operating lease expenses (Note 29) 195 139 21 44
Auditor remuneration:
Audit services b) Relationship between tax expense and accounting (loss)/profit
- auditor ofAthe Company 235 175 148 66 The reconciliation between the tax (credit)/expense and the product of accounting (loss)/profit multiplied by the
- other auditor of the Company 204 53 55 - applicable corporate tax rates for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:
Non-audit services
- auditor of the Company - 42 - 10 Group Company
- other auditor of the Company 38 - 32 - 2022 2021 2022 2021
Documentation and handling costs 154 122 105 76 $000 $000 $000 $°000
Professional fees:
- corporate secretaries 212 93 205 86 (Loss)/profit before tax (30,654) 16,918 (11,602) 16,730
- construction consultant 118 52 - -
- other consultant and retainer fees 496 507 370 351
Tax on relevant profits/(losses) at the
Parent Company’s statutory rate - - - -
Adjustments:
Effect of higher tax rates in Cambodia (1,918) 180 - -
Effect of higher tax rates in Philippines (299) (165) (198) (33)
Effect of higher tax rates in Taiwan 218 159 - -
Effect of higher tax rates in China 5 - -
Non-deductible expenses (48) 36 26 29
Movement of unrecognized deferred
tax assets 346 147 186 -
Translation adjustment 276 52 " -
Unutilized tax losses 23 - - -
Other income subjected to final tax (5) - - -
Others 1 (1) - 4
Income tax (credit)/expense
recognised in profit and loss (1,391) 408 25 -
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25. INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) (continued)
c) Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets for the Group and the Company as at 31 December relate to the following:

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Accruals - 12 - 12
Translation adjustments (5) 13 - (2)

Excess of lease liability over

right-of-use assets 1 8 - 2
Unutilized tax losses 2,100 — — —
2,106 33 - 12

No deferred tax assets were recognised for the temporary differences arising from MMTC’s tax losses amounting to
$1,400,000 (2021: $1,900,000), which can be applied to future taxable income from 2023 to 2025, as it is not probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax assets can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities

The Group’s and the Company’s deferred tax liabilities, which arise mostly from exchange differences, amounted to
$326,000 (2021: $147,000) and $13,000 (2021: nil), respectively. In 2022, the Group has recognized a deferred tax
liability amounting to $65,000 (2021: nil) for the net remeasurement gain of pension liability.

The temporary differences associated with investments in the Group’s subsidiaries, for which as at 31 December 2022
and 2021, a deferred tax liability has not been recognised in the periods presented. The Group has determined that
the undistributed profits of its subsidiaries will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

There are no income tax consequences attached to the payment of dividends in either 2022 or 2021 by the Group to
its shareholders.

d) Other matters

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in Bermuda and as such, the income and capital gains of the
Company are not subjected to tax in Bermuda.

Certain subsidiaries and the branch of the Group operating in the Philippines are registered as economic zone
enterprises enjoying incentives such as a 5% special tax rate on gross margin earned after the tax holiday in lieu of
all Philippine national and local taxes, and tax and duty-free importation of raw materials, capital equipment, household
and personal items for use solely within the economic zone area. In 2010, the economic zone was converted into a
freeport zone by virtue of the Republic Act (RA) No. 9728. Under the new law, existing enterprises within the ecozone
are eligible to register as freeport enterprises with option to avail of existing incentives under RA No. 7916. The
subsidiaries and the branch registered with the freeport zone and availed of the existing incentives.

In Cambodia, the tax on profit (“ToP”) is the higher of 20% of taxable income or a minimum tax of 1% of total revenue.
There are no income tax consequences attaching to payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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26. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following tables reflect the profit and loss accounts and share data used in the computation of basic and diluted
(loss)/earnings per share for the years ended 31 December:

Group
2022 2021
$000 $'000
Net (loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company
used in the computation of basic and diluted EPS (28,596) 17,342
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used to compute earnings
per share (‘000) 545,286 546,911
(Loss)/earnings per share (cents) (5.244) 3.171

Earnings per share (EPS) computation

The basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares (excluding treasury shares) outstanding
during the year.

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent (after adjusting for
interest on the convertible preference shares) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during
the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive
potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

In 2022 and 2021, there was no adjustment since the effects of the share options are anti-dilutive for the financial
period presented. There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares since
the reporting date and before the completion of these financial statements.

27. DIVIDENDS

On 27 May 2022, the Board of Directors issued a notice on the declaration of cash dividends amounting to $0.0060

per ordinary share (tax not applicable) to shareholders of record as of 16 June 2022. The cash dividends were paid
on 13 July 2022 amounting to $3,271,000 (2021: $22,840,000).
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28. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
a) Transactions with related parties
In addition to the related parties information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following are the

significant transactions between the Group and related parties that took place at terms agreed between the parties
during the financial year:

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Income:
Sales to related parties - - 2,962 25,116
Costs and expenses:
Purchases from related parties - - 4,610 39,886
Operating expenses from related parties 926 - - -

Other than the above, the Group has no other related party transactions except for the lease agreement with a director
related company as mentioned in Note 29.

b) Compensation of key management personnel

Key management personnel compensation (including executive director’s remuneration) comprised:

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Director’s fee* 208 215 205 21
Wages, salaries and bonus 2,858 2,497 2,858 2,497

Defined benefit plans and other social

expenses 18 25 18 25
3,084 2,737 3,081 2,733

Comprise directors’ remunerations for

executive directors of:
- the Company 2,539 2,232 2,539 2,232
- the subsidiaries - - - -

2,539 2,232 2,539 2,232

*Include directors’ fee for directors of subsidiaries amounting to $3,000 (2021: $4,000)

The remuneration of key management personnel are determined by the Remuneration Committee having regard to
the performance of individuals and market trends.

There are no termination benefits or other long-term employee benefits granted to key management personnel in
2022 and 2021.
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29. LEASES

Group as lessor

The Group leases its linens under its hospital services. The lease term for each hospital service contract is between
one to five years renewable by agreement of the parties. The rate per hospital is based on their consumption and the
future minimum lease is not practically determinable.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group entered into operating lease agreement in respect of a building and its
improvements. Operating lease income recognised in the profit and loss accounts of the Group for the financial year
ended 31 December 2022 is $612,501 (2021: $612,501). Security deposit to be refunded and/or to be applied to
unpaid rent of the lessee upon termination of the lease as at 31 December 2022 amounted to $63,552 (2021: $59,132).
The excess of the principal amount of the security deposit over its fair value, at the inception date of the operating
lease, is presented as ‘Deferred lease income’. Current and non-current portion of the deferred lease income as at
31 December are as follows:

Group
2022 2021
$°000 $'000
Deferred lease income - current 5 5
Deferred lease income - non-current 23 28
28 33

Future minimum rental receivable under the operating lease at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Group
2022 2021
$'000 $000
Not later than one year 627 615
Later than one year but not later than five years 3,155 3,266
Later than five years - 517
3,782 4,398

Group as lessee

The Group and the Company have entered into lease agreements in respect of land and building, with lease terms
ranging from 2 to 50 years. The lease terms do not contain restrictions on the Group’s activities concerning dividends,
additional debts or further leasing.

The Group also has certain leases with lease terms of 12 months or less and with low value. The Group applies the
‘short-term lease’ and ‘lease of low-value assets’ recognition exemptions for these leases.

In 2022, the Company also entered into a land lease agreement with Manhattan International Corp. (MIC) for 50 years
of which one of the directors of MIC is a director of the Company (Note 28). The Group recognized amortisation
expense of $143,000 (2021: $132,000) and interest expense accretion of $106,000 (2021: $154,000) related to the
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, respectively. As at 31 December 2022, the related right-of-use assets and
lease liability amounted to $4,400,000 (2021: $2,700,000) and nil (2021: $2,600,000), respectively.
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29. LEASES (continued)

Group as lessee (continued)

In 2022, the Company also entered into a land lease agreement with Manhattan International Corp. (MIC) for 50 years
of which one of the directors of MIC is a director of the Company (Note 28). The Group recognized amortisation
expense of $143,000 (2021: $132,000) and interest expense accretion of $106,000 (2021: $154,000) related to the
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, respectively. As at 31 December 2022, the related right-of-use assets and

+ Mﬁ,ﬁﬁ Medtecs International Corporation Limited

lease liability amounted to $4,400,000 (2021: $2,700,000) and nil (2021: $2,600,000), respectively.

a) Right-of-use assets

As at 1 January

Additions

Depreciation

Foreign currency exchange adjustment

As at 31 December

b) Lease liabilities

As at 1 January

Additions

Accretion of interest (Note 23)
Payment of lease liabilities

Foreign currency exchange adjustment

As at 31 December

Current
Non-current

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
8,386 5,573 380 77
2,680 3,636 4,500 373
(1,128) (819) (179) (70)
(35) 4) - -
9,903 8,386 4,701 380
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
6,779 3,544 476 211
2,680 3,636 - 373
396 455 36 33
(5,855) (849) (155) (141)
(90) (] (41) -
3,910 6,779 316 476
575 988 129 139
3,335 5,791 187 337

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 32.
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29. LEASES (continued)

Group as lessee (continued)

c) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$000 $000 $°000 $000
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 24) 1,128 819 179 70
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 23) 396 455 36 33
Operating lease expenses related to short
term and low value leases (Note 24) 414 540 21 44
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 1,938 1,814 236 147

During the financial year, the Group has total cash outflows for leases (including short-term and leases of low value
assets) of $6,269,000 (2021: $1,389,000).

30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Contingent assets

On 12 November 2021, the Company engaged a legal firm to recover an advance to a supplier amounting to $822,000.
On 20 January 2022, the Company commenced an arbitral proceeding against the supplier, as it failed to make any
payment to the Company. On 25 October 2022, the arbitral award was obtained in favor of the Company for a total
consideration amounting to $966,000. The additional arbitral award of $144,000 has not been recognized during the
financial year 31 December 2022, as the receipt of the consideration is not virtually certain and it is dependent on the
aggregate result of the enforcement of the arbitral award against the supplier.

31. GROUP SEGMENTAL REPORTING
Reporting format

The primary segment reporting format is determined to be business segments as the Group’s risks and rates of return
are affected predominantly by differences in the products and services produced. Secondary information is reported
geographically. The operating businesses are organised and managed separately according to the nature of the
products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers different products
and serves different markets.

Business segments
The manufacturing segment produces and sub-contracts a wide range of medical consumables, including patients’
apparels, disposable surgical masks, boot covers and surgical gowns, underpads, adult diapers, crochet blankets,

bed linens and medical bandages. These medical consumables are supplied to large medical multinational
corporation distributors, pharmaceutical companies and hospital groups in the USA and Europe.
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31. GROUP SEGMENTAL REPORTING (continued) 31. GROUP SEGMENTAL REPORTING (continued)
Business segments (continued) (a) Business segments
The hospital services segment provides laundry and leasing services to various hospitals that are outsourcing its non- The following table presents revenue, results and other information, assets, liabilities and other segment information
critical functions. regarding the Group’s business segments for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
The distribution and others segment is involved in the marketing of Medtecs-branded medical consumables to 2022 Hospital ~ Distribution
hospitals, pharmacies and other end users in Asia Pacific and through online channels. The Group also leverages on Manufacturing  services  and others Group
its distribution network to market other branded medical supplies and equipment such as wheel chairs, syringes, $'000 $'000 $'000 $°000
nebulizers and blood pressure monitors.
Revenue
Geographical segments Third parties 35,680 14,312 6,251 56,243
Related parties 26,757 — — 26,757
The Group’s geographical segments are based on the location of the Group’s assets. Sales to external customers Total revenues 62,437 14,312 6,251 83,000
disclosed in geographical segments are based on the geographical location of its customers. Eliminations (26,757) - - (26,757)
35,680 14,312 6,251 56,243
Allocation basis and transfer pricing
Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be Results (30,739) 403 @72) (30,608)
allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets, income tax and deferred tax . .
. . . Financial expenses (951)
assets and liabilities, loans and borrowings and related expenses. Segment revenue, expenses and results include
transfers between business segments. These transfers are eliminated upon consolidation. Financial income 905
Income tax benefit 1,391
Net loss for the year (29,263)
Total assets 162,732 16,295 3,022 182,049
Total liabilities 29,399 274 61 29,734
Other segment information:
Capital expenditure 16,354 1,751 - 18,105
Depreciation and amortization 3,757 2,536 111 6,404
Provision for inventory losses 10,984 - 764 11,748
Provision for ECL on receivables
and other current assets 3,795 - - 3,795
Other non-cash expenses - net 327 - - 327
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31. GROUP SEGMENTAL REPORTING (continued) 31.  GROUP SEGMENTAL REPORTING (continued)
(a) Business segments (continued) (b)  Geographical segments

2021 Hospital  Distribution

The following table presents revenue, capital expenditure and certain assets information regarding the Group’s

Man;fgggunng s;r;gg S an;‘ggg)ers (;rg(;g) geographical segments as at and for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
Revenue 2022 North Asia
Third parties 117,937 14,971 11,247 144,155 America Pacific Europe Australia Group
Related parties 56,641 - - 56,641 $000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $000
Total revenues 174,578 14,971 11,247 200,796
Eliminations (56,641) - - (56,641) Revenue
117,937 14,971 11,247 144,155 Third parties 9,610 32,076 14,343 214 56,243
Related parties — 26,757 — — 26,757
Total revenues 9,610 58,833 14,343 214 83,000
Results 14,683 413 2,680 17,776 Eliminations _ (26,757) _ _ (26,757)
. X 9,610 32,076 14,343 214 56,243
Financial expenses (891)
Financial income 33 Results (5,230) (17,456)  (7,806) (116) (30,608)
Income tax expense (408)
Financial expenses (951)
Net profit for the year 16,510 Financial income 905
Income tax benefit 1,391
Total assets 196,393 15,047 4,134 215,574
N Net loss for the year (29,263)
Total liabilities 27,376 234 57 27,667
. . Total assets 353 180,622 1,074 - 182,049
Other segment information:
Capital expenditure 12,328 1,766 - 14,094
Depreciation and amortization 4,386 2,136 1M1 6,633 ——
Propvision for inventory losses 3,000 - - 3,000 Total liabilities B 29,734 B B 29,734
Provision for ECL on receivables 10 9 - 19
Other non-cash expenses - net 450 - - 450 Other segment information:
Capital expenditures - 18,105 - - 18,105
Depreciation and amortization - 6,404 - - 6,404
Provision for inventory losses - 11,748 - - 11,748
Provision for ECL on receivables and
other current assets - 3,795 - - 3,795
Other non-cash expenses - net — 327 — — 327
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31. GROUP SEGMENTAL REPORTING (continued)

(b)  Geographical segments (continued)

2021

Revenue
Third parties
Related parties
Total revenues
Eliminations

Results

Financial expenses
Financial income

Income tax expense

Net profit for the year

Total assets

Total liabilities

Other segment information:
Capital expenditures
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for inventory losses
Provision for ECL on receivables
Other non-cash expenses - net

North Asia
America Pacific Europe Group
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
37,642 76,451 30,062 144,155
- 56,641 - 56,641
37,642 133,092 30,062 200,796
- (56,641) - (56,641)
37,642 76,451 30,062 144,155
4,642 9,427 3,707 17,776
(891)
33
(408)
16,510
6,391 206,574 2,609 215,574
- 27,667 - 27,667
- 14,094 - 14,094
- 6,633 - 6,633
- 3,000 - 3,000
- 19 - 19
- 450 - 450

32.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments are cash and bank balances, fixed deposits, bank loans and term loans.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
various other financial assets and liabilities such as, trade receivables, trade payables, due from an affiliated company
and corporate shareholder, other current assets and other current liabilities, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are interest rate risks (both fair value and cash flow),

liquidity risk, foreign currency risk and credit risk. The directors review and agree policies and procedures for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.
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32.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
a) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s financial
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in the market interest rates.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from loans and borrowings. The Group’s policy is to obtain
the most favorable interest rates available using a mix of fixed and variable rate debts without increasing its foreign
currency exposure.

Surplus funds are placed with reputable banks.

Information relating to the Group’s interest rate exposure is also disclosed in the notes on the Group’s loans and
borrowings (Note 18).

The following tables set out the carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments that are
exposed to interest rate risk and have maturity of within one year:

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

$'000 $'000 $'000 $000
Fixed rate
Cash equivalents 6,045 - - -
Fixed deposits 17,159 9,275 - -
Floating rate
Cash and bank balances 9,262 48,972 595 15,710
Loans and borrowings (15,643) (9,306) - -

The Group and Company did not have any financial instruments with maturity beyond 1 year.

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk
The impact on the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates based on management’s assessment,
with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax and of the Company’s loss before tax (through

the impact of interest expense on floating rate loans and borrowings) and the Group’s and Company’s equity is
$15,000 in 2022 (2021: $24,000).

There is no other impact on the Group’s and the Company’s equity other than those already affecting income.
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32.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to
shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of

financial assets and liabilities.

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and bank balances deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
The Group’s and the Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through
the use of bank borrowings and debentures. Additional short-term funding is obtained from short-term bank loans.

As at 31 December 2022, 100% (2021: 100%) of the Group’s debt will mature in less than one year.

The table summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities at the

end of the reporting period based on contractual repayment obligations:

2022
Group Total
carrying
value Ondemand <1year 1-5years >5years Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Undiscounted financial
assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 18,122 12,078 6,044 - - 18,122
Fixed deposits 17,159 - 17,159 - - 17,159
Trade receivables - net 30,358 20,942 9,416 - - 30,358
Other current assets(" 1,648 - 1,648 - - 1,648
Other non-current assets® 3,000 - - 3,000 - 3,000
Total undiscounted financial
assets 70,287 33,020 34,267 3,000 - 70,287
Undiscounted financial
liabilities:
Loans and borrowings 15,643 - 15,643 - - 15,643
Trade payables and other
current liabilities® 6,256 6,256 - - - 6,256
Lease liabilities 3,910 - 830 1,817 10,660 13,307
Total undiscounted financial
liabilities 25,809 6,256 16,473 1,817 10,660 35,206
Total net undiscounted
44,478 26,764 17,794 1,183 (10,660) 35,081

financial assets/(liabilities)
(1) Excluding prepayments, tax receivables and advances to suppliers - net.
(2) Pertaining to investment in unquoted bonds.
(3) Excluding tax payables to government institutions.
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32.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b) Liquidity risk (continued)

2022
Company Total
carrying
value Ondemand <1year 1-5years >5years Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Undiscounted financial
assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 3,366 3,366 - - - 3,366
Trade receivables - net 25,870 22,723 3,147 - - 25,870
Other current assets(" 936 - 936 - - 936
Due from subsidiaries 16,925 16,925 - - - 16,925
Total undiscounted financial
assets 47,097 43,014 4,083 - - 47,097
Undiscounted financial
liabilities:
Trade payables and other
current liabilities® 757 757 - - - 757
Lease liabilities 316 - 138 221 611 976
Total undiscounted financial
liabilities 1,073 757 138 227 611 1,733
Total net undiscounted
46,024 42,257 3,945 (227) (611) 45,364

financial assets/(liabilities)
(1) Excluding prepayments and advances to suppliers - net
(2) Excluding tax payables to government institutions.
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32.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b) Liquidity risk (continued)

2021
Group Total
carrying
value Ondemand <1year 1-5years >5years Total
$°000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Undiscounted financial
assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 49,015 49,015 - - - 49,015
Fixed deposits 9,275 - 9,275 - - 9,275
Trade receivables - net 42,347 20,795 21,552 - - 42,347
Other current assets(") 4,537 - 4,537 - - 4,537
Total undiscounted financial
assets 105,174 69,810 35,364 - - 105,174
Undiscounted financial
liabilities:
Loans and borrowings 9,306 - 9,306 - - 9,306
Trade payables and other
current liabilities® 6,609 6,609 - - - 6,609
Lease liabilities 6,779 - 909 2,554 11,702 15,165
Total undiscounted financial
liabilities 22,694 6,609 10,215 2,554 11,702 31,080
Total net undiscounted
82,480 63,201 25,149 (2,554) (11,702) 74,094

financial assets/(liabilities)
(1) Excluding prepayments and advances to suppliers - net.

(2) Excluding tax payables to government institutions.
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32.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

b) Liquidity risk (continued)

2021
Company Total
carrying
value Ondemand <1year 1-5years >5years Total
$°000 $000 $000 $°000 $°000 $000

Undiscounted financial

assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 15,711 15,711 - - - 15,711
Trade receivables - net 25,785 9369 16,416 - - 25785
Other current assets(") 4,029 - 4,029 - - 4,029
Due from subsidiaries 20,518 20,518 - - - 20,518
Total undiscounted financial

assets 66,043 45,598 20,445 - - 66,043
Undiscounted financial

liabilities:
Trade payables and other

current liabilities® 1,319 1,319 - - - 1,319
Lease liabilities 476 - 150 248 819 1,217
Total undiscounted financial

liabilities 1,795 1,319 150 248 819 2,536

Total net undiscounted
financial assets/(liabilities) ~ 64.248 44,279 20,295 (248) (819) 63,507
(1) Excluding prepayments and advances to suppliers - net

(2) Excluding tax payables to government institutions.
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32.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

c) Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from sales or purchases that are denominated in a currency
other than the respective functional currencies of the Group entities, primarily, Philippine Peso (PHP), Renminbi (RMB),
New Taiwan Dollar (NTD) and Singapore Dollar (SGD). The foreign currencies in which these transactions are
denominated are mainly US$. Approximately 42% (2021: 19%) of the Group’s sales are denominated in foreign
currencies whilst almost 40% (2021: 31%) of costs are denominated in the respective functional currencies of the
Group entities. The Group’s trade receivables and trade payable balances at the end of the reporting period have
similar exposures.

The Group and the Company also hold cash and fixed deposits denominated in foreign currencies for working capital
purposes. At the end of the reporting period, such foreign currency balances are mainly in NTD and SGD.

The Group is also exposed to currency translation risk arising from its net investments in foreign operations, including
Taiwan and People’s Republic of China (PRC).

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s and the Company’s profit/(loss) before tax to a
reasonably possible change in the PHP, RMB, NTD, SGD and EUR exchange rates (against US$), with all other
variables held constant. The reasonably possible change was computed based on management assessment.

Group
2022 2021
$'000 $'000
Effect on Effect on
profit/(loss) profit/(loss)
before tax before tax
PHP
Strengthened 9.3% (2021: 6.2%) 267 194
Weakened 9.3% (2021: 6.2%) (221) (171)
RMB
Strengthened 9.5% (2021: 2.6%) (77) (2)
Weakened 9.5% (2021: 2.6%) 63 2
NTD
Strengthened 10.8% (2021: 1.4%) (1,331) 85
Weakened 10.8% (2021: 1.4%) 1,071 (88)
SGD
Strengthened 0.03% (2021: 1.5%) 1) 229
Weakened 0.03% (2021: 1.5%) 1 (222)
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32.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
d) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default on its
obligations.

The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased credit
risk exposure. The Group trades only with recognised and credit-worthy third parties. It is the Group's policy that
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.
For transactions that are not denominated in the functional currency of the relevant operating unit, the Group does
not offer credit terms without the specific approval of the Chief Executive Officer.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and bank balances
and other receivables (including related party balances), the Group's exposure to credit risk arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these financial instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for collateral.

Trade receivables

The Group provides for lifetime expected credit losses for all trade receivables using a provision matrix. The provision
rates are determined based on the Group’s historical observed default rates analysed in accordance to months past
due. The loss allowance provision as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 is determined as follows, the expected credit
losses below also incorporate forward looking information such as forecast of economic conditions. Summarised
below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using provision matrix.

2022
Group
Current >1 month >2 months >3 months >4 months Total
$'000 $'000 $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Gross carrying amount 6,143 598 9,799 1,489 16,123 34,152
Loss allowance provision — — — — (3,794) (3,794)
6,143 598 9,799 1,489 12,329 30,358
2021
Group
Current >1 month >2 months >3 months >4 months Total
$°000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $°000 $°000
Gross carrying amount 20,842 2,333 2,674 274 16,459 42,582
Loss allowance provision — — — — (235) (235)
20,842 2,333 2,674 274 16,224 42,347
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32.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

d) Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk concentration profile

The Group determines concentration of credit risk by monitoring the country and industry sector profile of its trade

receivables on an on-going basis. The credit risk concentration profile of the Group’s trade receivables at end of the
reporting period is as follows:

Group
2022 2021
$000 % of total $000 % of total

By region:
North America 353 1% 6,391 15%
Europe 1,074 4% 2,609 6%
Asia Pacific 28,931 95% 33,347 79%

30,358 100% 42,347 100%
By segment:
Manufacturing 27,707 91% 38,718 91%
Hospital services 2,245 8% 2,175 5%
Distribution and others 406 1% 1,454 4%

30,358 100% 42,347 100%

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk, except for 4% (2021: 4%) of trade debts relating to three
major customers of the Group. Revenues from these three customers constitute about 36% (2021: 30%) of the
Group’s turnover.

At the end of the reporting period, approximately:

« $1,300,000 (2021: $1,500,000) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from three major customers located in
North America and Europe.

* Nil (2021: nil) of the Group’s and Company’s trade and other receivables were due from related parties outside
the Group, while nil (2021: nil) of the Company’s trade and other receivables were balances with related parties
outside the Group.
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32.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

d) Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality

The credit quality of the Group’s financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired are considered to be of high
grade quality and expected to be collectible without incurring any credit losses. High grade financial assets are those
financial assets whose realisability is assured.

Financial assets (including sundry debtors and deposits) that are neither past due nor impaired are due from
creditworthy debtors with good payment record with the Group. Cash and cash equivalents and fixed deposits are
entered into with reputable financial institutions duly approved by the directors.

Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 14.

33. FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

a) Fair value hierarchies

The Group categorises fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that is dependent on the valuation
inputs used as follows:

Level 1 — quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that can be accessed at
the measurement date;

Level 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3 — inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
b) Financial instruments whose carrying amounts approximate fair values

Management has determined that the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, fixed deposits, due from

subsidiaries, trade receivables, other current assets, trade payables and other current liabilities and bank loans

based on their notional amounts, reasonably approximate their fair values because these are mostly short-term
in nature or are repriced frequently.

c) Assets and Liabilities measured at fair value and for which fair values are disclosed

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s assets. The Group has no
liabilities which are measured at fair value nor which fair values are disclosed in the financial statements as at
31 December 2022 and 2021.
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33. FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

c) Assets and Liabilities measured at fair value and for which fair values are disclosed (continued)

Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at 31 December 2022 and 2021:
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34. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To

2022 Fair value measurement using maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years
Date of valuation $'000 $'000 $'000 $°000 ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
Assets measured at fair
value The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by the sum of total capital and net debt.
Listed equity investments The Group’s policy is to keep the gearing ratio below 60.0%. The Group includes within net debt, loans and borrowings,
(Note 12) 31 December 2022 3,361 3,361 — — trade payables and other current liabilities, less cash and bank balances and fixed deposits. Capital includes equity
attributable to the equity holders of the Company.
Assets for which fair
values are disclosed Group
Investment property 2022 2021
(Note 7) 31 December 2022 3,774 - - 3,774 $'000 $'000
Investment in unquoted
bonds (Note 12) 31 December 2022 3,195 - - 3,195 Loans and borrowings 15,643 9,306
Trade payables and other current liabilities 6,447 7,765
2021 Fair value measurement using Less: Cash and cash equivalents and fixed deposits (35,281) (58,290)
' Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 (13,191) (41,291)
Date of valuation $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Assets measured at fair Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company 149,789 185,214
value
Listed equity investments Capital and net debt 136,508 143,923
(Note 12) 31 December 2021 1,843 1,843 - -
Gearing ratio (9.7%) (28.7%)
Assets for which fair
values are disclosed
Investment property
(Note 7) 31 December 2021 4,285 - - 4,285 35. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

There has been no transfer between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfer into or out of Level 3 during the financial
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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Prior year’'s comparative figures were audited by Messrs Sycip Gorres Velayo & Co.

36. AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ISSUE

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 were authorised for issue in accordance with a
resolution by the Board of Directors on 14 June 2023.
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